
Notice of Meeting
Meeting of LA&PS Faculty Council
March 14th, 2024 | 3:00 p.m.-5:00 p.m.
Zoom Meeting Room

council.laps.yorku.ca

AGENDA

Item Topic Time

1 Call to Order and Approval of the Agenda 3:00-3:05

2 Chair’s Remarks 3:05-3:10

3 Approval of Minutes: February 8th, 2024, Faculty Council Meeting 3:10-3:15

4 Business Arising from the Minutes 3:15-3:20

5

Reports of Standing Committees of Council

 Executive Committee Report
o Item for Information: Call for Nominations 2024-2025

 Committee on Curriculum, Curricular Policy & Standards
o Consent agenda
o Item for Action: Major Modification Proposal- Communication & Media Studies

Program, Degree Designation: BA (90 credit)

 Graduate Committee
o Consent agenda

3:20-3:35

6 Dean’s Report to Council: Part I
o Budget and related issues

3:35-3:50

7 Committee of the Whole
o Discussion on Budget and related issues

3:50-4:10

8 BREAK 4:10-4:15

9 Dean’s Report to Council: Part II
o Labour Disruption and Academic Implication

4:15-4:30

10 Committee of the Whole
o Discussions on Labour Disruption and Academic Implication

4:30-4:50

11
Items for Information:

o Senate Synopsis
o JSQA Report to Senate Feb 15, 2024
o Drop Deadline Memo from the Senate (Winter 2024)

4:50-4:55

12 Other Business 4:55-5:00

Note: LA&PS Faculty Council Meetings are held on the second Thursday of each month from 3:00 pm-5:00 pm EST.
Currently, Faculty Council meetings will be held virtually over Zoom.



York University
Faculty of Liberal Arts & Professional Studies

Faculty Council

Minutes of the 123rd Meeting of Council
Feb 8th, 2024, 3:00 pm to 5:00 pm | Zoom Meeting Room

 In attendance:
G. Alboiu, O. Alexandrakis, L. Allen, R. Arata, H. Bartel, D. Baus, S. Bawa,
K. Bergstrom, K. Bernhardt-Walther, M. Bernholtz, D. Bisram, S.
Boatswain, E. Bogdan, S. Brooke, N. Buckley, M. Budworth, P. Burgher, l.
Carozza, K. Case, M. Chaktsiris, L. Chen, N. Coulter, N. Couto, C. Cowdy,
A. Crosby, D. Cuff, H. Davis, A. Davis, R. de Costa, D. Domian, M.
Ebrahimi, C. Ehrlich (Chair), P. Evans, D. Fairman, S. Frederiksen, M. Frial-
Brown, P. Fu, S. Gekas, M. Giudice, A. Glasbeek, M. Goitom, L. Gonder,
E. Haque, M. Harper, W. Ho, S. Ingram, M. Jacobs, M. Johnson, A. Kalmin,
T. Karagyozova, R. Kenedy (Vice chair), E. Kennedy, D. Kikulwe, D.
Koffman, A. Kwan, N. Lagerlöf, M. Lambert-Drache, N. Langin, M. Layton
(Guest), M. Maciel Jorge, A. MacLennan, S. Malik, J. Marcus, E.
McDonough, A. McKenzie, R. McKeown, T. McLagan, JJ. McMurtry
(LA&PS Dean), D. Mutimer, D. Neill, J. Ng, G. Onorati, R. Ophir, N.
Persram, P. Phillips, D. Pilon, M. Poon, M. Quirt, M. Reisenleitner, I.
Roberge, A. Rodrigues, C. Sanchez Rodriguez, D. Sargla, S. Sarkar, N.
Savdie, M. Segal, A. Shabtay, H. Singh, A. Solis, I. Splettstoesser, B.
Spotton Visano, C. Steele, J. Sufrin, N. Tahani, T. Tahereen, T. Taylor, J.
Tremblay, S. Tweyman, A. Valeo, G. Vanstone, S. Warwick, A. Weaver, K.
Weiser, A. Weiss, J. Williams, R. Williams, S. Yildirim.

1. Call to Order and Approval of Agenda

Chair called the meeting to order.
Agenda was approved.

2. Chair’s Remarks

The Chair welcomed members to the 123rd Faculty Council (FC) meeting
and conveyed a message of unity despite all the differences and
challenging circumstances. The Chair highlighted York University's
diversity as a strength and urged all to live by the maxims: do not harm,
choose words wisely, and foster peace at York University and LA&PS as
a community.

3. Approval of the Minutes: Jan 11th, 2024, Faculty Council Meeting

Approved.

4. Business Arising from Minutes

There was no other business.

5. Reports of Standing Committees of Faculty Council

Committee on Curriculum, Curricular Policy & Standards

Consent agenda having received no objection to the consent agenda, it
was deemed approved.

Graduate Committee

 Consent agenda having received no objection to the consent agenda, it
 was deemed approved.

Committee on Teaching and Learning

After considering input from the December 2023 FC meeting, Councilor
McKeown revised the Terms of Reference for the Dean's Awards for
Excellence in Teaching.

Item for Action: Approval for Dean’s Awards for Excellence in Teaching
revised Terms of Reference



Moved, seconded, approved, and motion carried.

The Chair thanked R. McKeown and the CTLSS committee members for
their diligence in preparing the document.

Academic Policy & Planning Committee

Councilor S. Malik provided an update on the input received from the
chairs and directors in 2023 regarding the LA&PS Academic Plan (2021–
2026). The goal of the survey was to gather feedback on the plan,
identify shortcomings, direct faculty resource allocations, identify gaps,
and resolve issues for future revisions of the plan. Councilors S. Malik
smmalik@yorku.ca  and A. Gekas agekas@yorku.ca invited members to
send emails with their comments for future iterations of the plan.

A council member asked what ways the Faculty realizes the LA&PS
Academic Plan in visible and measurable ways.

Dean McMurtry shared that the formulation of the first LA&PS Academic
Plan was a joint endeavor and a milestone, reflecting many years of
shared values as a community. When encountering challenges, this
document serves as a reliable resource by highlighting priorities. It ties
into the Integrated Resource Plan. It is crucial to be guided by the
viewpoints and experiences of colleagues and to think about enhancing
the Academic Plan’s influence to make it more inspirational and
practical.

According to the AD Research & Graduate Studies, the LA&PS Academic
Plan offers a solid foundation for developing future resources and skills.
These plans serve as the basis and justification for various new
initiatives, including the creation of support staff positions, the
establishment of additional student financial support opportunities, and
the enhancement of faculty research capabilities.

The AD Programs thanked APPC members and the chair of FC for their
hard work and for coordinating the process ahead of time.

The Chair emphasized the importance of the joint collective efforts and
encouraged members to share their feedback with APPC co-chairs.

6. BREAK

7. Item for Presentation: York University Sustainability Strategy

The Chair welcomed M. Layton (York’s Sustainability Officer) to present
the latest updates on the sustainability strategy plan in this consultation
phase of the process.

M. Layton shared that the central premise of the sustainability mandate
at York University entails constructing sustainable practices within
various departments and integrating sustainability into campus
activities, academics, and community engagement. The outlined efforts
are built upon the foundation of the 2017 sustainability strategy, and the
plan is to harmonize it with the preexisting university-wide strategic
initiatives, including the University Academic Plan (UAP) and faculty
initiatives such as courses offered, experiential education, and research.

York has gained recognition for its outstanding leadership in fostering
the UN’s Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), consistently ranking in
the top percentiles as evidenced by the recent QS sustainability ranking.
As one of the top environmentally conscious employers in Canada, this
year York University is actively striving to achieve a gold ranking from the
Association for the Advancement of Sustainability in Higher Education
(AASHE).

The new governance and decision-making framework of sustainable
governance initiatives originated from the York President’s Sustainability
Council. They are looking to adopt a more action-oriented approach.
These initiatives are entrusted to the sustainability task force and
subsequently reported to the sustainability steering committee, which is
chaired by the President (York University).

mailto:smmalik@yorku.ca
mailto:agekas@yorku.ca


A small sustainability fund was established, and its 4th round of
competition was completed, funding various initiatives throughout the
university.

The university in collaboration with the private sector and the federal
government will work towards further reducing emissions by 2030. This
collaboration has helped secure funding of $2 Million to integrate an
energy management system into the university.

Additionally, the university has implemented programs to reduce food
waste and manage other types of waste effectively. It is important to
note that everyone at York University is responsible for implementing
these policies and actively participating in the processes.

M. Layton expressed gratitude to the AD Research & Graduate Studies
for the invaluable assistance and unwavering support provided during
the past year in his role as the President's designate and requested all to
review the slide deck and share their comments and feedback by email
at layton@yorku.ca.

A council member shared the tri-council travel policy for all to review
the guidelines.

8. LA&PS Dean’s Budget Presentation and Updates

Dean McMurtry thanked everyone for their participation at this meeting.
As per the request made by the Executive Committee, he shared the
information that CUPE 3903 is engaging in bargaining and has filed for a
"no board". As of Feb 22, 2024, CUPE could be in a strike position.
Further information and updates about negotiations can be found on the
union's website. The Dean assured all that as updates are received
communication will be shared.  He wholeheartedly expressed his hope
for an amicable and collegial resolution to this matter. Finally, he
encouraged all to review the PowerPoint deck posted on the FC website
and presented the following budget and enrollment updates:

 The federal government of Canada has implemented 30%
reductions and restrictions on international student visas, which
will significantly impact universities and colleges across the
country. It seems that the provincial government is leaning
towards supporting health programs, employable skills, and
trades, which may result in a notable decrease in university
admissions and revenues.

 Overall, there has been a significant decline in applications. The
most significant losses are observed in 101 domestic and 105
international applicants. The decrease in undergraduate
applications is having a significant impact on the budget.

 The Markham campus will be admitting its first cohort, offering
LA&PS streams of programs this year. The sports management
program has shown promising numbers compared to others.

 It is uncertain whether the central rebate from the University
Fund will continue beyond the year 2024-2025.

 Approximately 96% of the budget is allocated to salaries.
Considering these figures, hiring in LA&PS is currently on hold.

A council member sought information on strategies to absorb budget
cuts and guiding principles that would determine those decisions.

In answer, Dean McMurtry highlighted the importance of achieving the
objectives. He also emphasized that hiring/recruitment is currently
paused. In addition, assessing the effectiveness of course offerings is an
ongoing task. The subsequent course of action involves scheduling
meetings with departments to explore potential possibilities and to
devise strategies to protect priorities.

9. Item for Information

Thursday, 25 January 2024 Senate Synopsis included for Item 9.

10. Announcement

None.

mailto:layton@yorku.ca
https://www.nserc-crsng.gc.ca/InterAgency-Interorganismes/TAFA-AFTO/guide-guide_eng.asp


11. Adjournment

The Chair thanked all in attendance.
The meeting was adjourned.

___________________________
Carl S. Ehrlich, Chair of Council

___________________________
Tejas Kittur, Secretary of Council



Report 1
March 2024

Executive Committee Report to Council

ITEM FOR INFORMATION (1):

1. Nominations – Liberal Arts & Professional Studies Faculty Council Standing Committees & Contract
LA&PS Representatives on the Senate – Starting March 18, 2024

The Executive Committee of LA&PS Faculty Council proposes the commencements of the nominations & elections
period for Annual Faculty General Election. The Executive Committee recommends that the period of nomination
begins on March 15, 2024, and a final call be given from the floor of Faculty Council on April 11, 2024. The
Nomination period sought to fill 33 Vacancies on Faculty Council standing Committee, including the position of
Vice-Chair of Council for the 2024-2025 academic year.

Should there be more nominations than vacancies, an election shall be called. Nominations are also accepted from
the floor of Council. Council Committees which received fewer nominations than the available vacancies will follow
the acclamation process. Final approval for the slate of nominees is given by Council on a motion that nominations
be closed, as moved by the Vice-Chair of Council

There are currently 33 vacancies on the Standing Committees of Council for 2024 – 2025 as follows:



Vice-Chair of Council
 The Vice-Chair of the Council shall be elected from the members of the Council for a one-year term after

at least two nominations have been submitted by the Executive Committee. The Vice-Chair is the Chief
Teller and Chief Returning Officer for all elections.

 The Vice-Chair normally assumes the Chair in the following year.
 Should the position of Vice-Chair become vacant prior to the end of the normal term, an election shall be

called.
 Should the Vice-Chair-elect resign prior to the beginning of her/his term of office, an election for Vice-

Chair shall be called.
 The Vice-Chair presides over meetings of the Committee of the Whole.

Executive Committee
(two vacancies)

 Terms are specified in the relevant table.
 Normally meet on the last Wednesday of each month from 10:00am to 12:00pm
 https://www.yorku.ca/laps/faculty-council/committees/executive/

Current Membership:
Mehraneh Ebrahimi, Department of English
Ron Ophir, School of Administrative Studies
Robert Kenedy, Department of Sociology (Chair of Faculty Council)
Peter Khaiter, School of Information Technology
Saskia Van Viegen, Department of Languages, Literatures and Linguistics

Tenure and Promotions Committee
(Six vacancies)

  Terms are specified in the relevant table.
  Committee liaises with Senate and programs to review all tenure and promotions candidates in LA&PS

and maintain T&P standards across the Faculty.
  Committee of the whole meets on the first Thursday of each month from 11:00am to 1:00pm.
 https://www.yorku.ca/laps/faculty-council/committees/tenure-promotions/

Current Membership:
Susan Ingram, Department of Humanities
Ann Kim, Department of Sociology
Matias Cortes, Department of Economics
Mustafa Karakul, School of Administrative Studies
Fereydoon Rahmani, Department of Equity Studies
Stevie M. Bell, Writing Department
Mateusz Brzozowski, Department of Economics
Arthur Redding, Department of English
Daniel Cohn, School of Public Policy, and Administration

https://www.yorku.ca/laps/faculty-council/committees/tenure-promotions/


Committee on Research Policy and Planning
(Two vacancies)

  Terms are specified in the relevant table.
 Works in tandem with the Dean to oversee the implementation and coordination of the Faculty

Research Plan, while also enhancing the scholarly climate of the Faculty by developing overarching
faculty strategies to advance research scholarship and creative work.

  Committee meets on the fourth Monday of each month from 12:30pm to 2:00pm.
 https://www.yorku.ca/laps/faculty-council/committees/research-policy-planning/

Current Membership:
Brandee Easter, Writing Department
Gajindra Maharaj, School of Administrative Studies
Natalie Neill, Department of English
Selcuk Ozyurt, Department of Economics
Shirley Roburn, Department of Communication & Media Studies

Student Academic Petitions & Appeals Committee
         (Eight vacancies)

  Terms are specified in the relevant table.
  Committee works to create a fair and open environment in LA&PS by supporting hearings for student

academic petitions and appeals in the Faculty.
 https://www.yorku.ca/laps/faculty-council/committees/student-academic-petitions-appeals/

Current Membership:
Anuppiriya Sriskandarajah, Department of Humanities
Ann Marie Murnaghan, Department of Humanities
Arik Senderovich, School of Information Technology
Christopher Morris, Department of Writing
Emma Feltes, Department of Anthropology
Ibtissem Knouzi, Department of Languages, Literatures and Linguistics
Jake Pyne, School of Social Work
Jay Ramasubramanyam, Department of Social Sciences
Kinnon Ross MacKinnon, School of Social Work
Na Li, School of Administrative Studies
Tom Hooper, Department of Equity Studies
William Wicken, Department of History

Committee on Teaching, Learning and Student Success
(Four vacancies; 3 Full-Time, 1 Contract)

 Terms are specified in the relevant table.
 Committee recommends policies that promote effective assessment of teaching and learning and

develops policies to recognize and promote innovative pedagogy and student excellence.
 https://www.yorku.ca/laps/faculty-council/committees/teaching-learning-student-success/

 Current Membership:
 Carolyn Steele, Department of Humanities
 Damilola Adebayo, Department of History
 Fernanda Carla-Salsberg, Department of Languages, Literatures and Linguistics
Gail Vanstone, Department of Humanities
Manar Jammal, School of Information Technology
Saikat Sarkar, School of Administrative Studies

https://www.yorku.ca/laps/faculty-council/committees/research-policy-planning/
https://www.yorku.ca/laps/faculty-council/committees/student-academic-petitions-appeals/
https://www.yorku.ca/laps/faculty-council/committees/student-academic-petitions-appeals/
https://www.yorku.ca/laps/faculty-council/committees/teaching-learning-student-success/


Committee on Curriculum, Curricular Policy, and Standards
(Two vacancies)

 Terms are specified in the relevant table.
 Committee reviews, reports and recommends on matters pertaining to entrance requirements,

degree expectations, and Faculty regulations and practices regarding academic standards.
 https://www.yorku.ca/laps/faculty-council/committees/teaching-learning-student-success/

 Current Membership:
Anirban Kar, School of Administrative Studies
 Karen Bernhardt-Walther, Department of Economics
Ian Roberge, School of Public Policy and Administration
Ling Jiang, School of Information Technology
Olga Makinina, Department of Languages, Literatures and Linguistics

General Education Sub-Committee
(Four Vacancies)

 Sub-Committee of CCPS & Chaired by a Member Elected from CCPS
 Provides coordination oversight and governance over the Faculty’s General Education

Requirements, while developing and receiving proposals relating to General Education courses.

Membership shall contain the following:
o  One faculty representative elected at-large from each of the General Education areas.
o  One faculty representatives elected at-large from the liberal arts programs.

Current Membership:
Karen Bernhardt-Walther, Department of Economics
Pan Gang, Department of Languages, Literatures and Linguistics

Academic Policy and Planning Committee
(Two vacancies)

 Terms are specified in the relevant table.
 Committee works in tandem with the Dean to oversee the development of the Faculty Academic

Plan, make recommendations on the feasibility of new Departments/Schools, and advises the Dean
on the interplay of academic and budget issues.

 https://www.yorku.ca/laps/faculty-council/committees/teaching-learning-student-success/

 Current Membership:
Athanatios (Sakis) Gekas, Department of History
Jean-Thomas Tremblay, Department of Humanities
Maurice Poon, School of Social Work
Sadia Mariam Malik, Department of Economics
Xiaohui Yu, School of Information Technology

https://www.yorku.ca/laps/faculty-council/committees/teaching-learning-student-success/
https://www.yorku.ca/laps/faculty-council/committees/teaching-learning-student-success/


Graduate Committee
(Two vacancies)

 Terms are specified in the relevant table.
 Promotes and coordinates Graduate Studies in the Faculty, while also planning and encouraging

cooperation among graduate programs.
 https://www.yorku.ca/laps/faculty-council/committees/teaching-learning-student-success/

 Current Membership:

Arash Habibi, School of Information Technology
Miguel Gonzalez, Department of Sociology
Victor Shea, Department of Humanities
Zachary Spicer, School of Public Policy and Administration

Contract Faculty Representative on the Faculty Council
(Thirty vacancies)

 One (1) Year Term
 Members represent the interests of contract faculty members and provide insight and guidance on
how proposed motions to Faculty Council may affect staff support and managerial staff.
Representatives have full suffrage and may vote on Faculty Council motions.

Current Membership:
No current membership

Staff Representatives on Faculty Council
(Ten vacancies; 5 YUSA & 5 CPM)

 One (1) Year Term
 Members represent the interests of CPM & YUSA members of the faculty and provide insight and

guidance on how proposed motions to Faculty Council may affect staff support and managerial staff.
Representatives have full suffrage and may vote on Faculty Council motions.

 Current Membership:
No current membership

There are currently 2 vacancies for the LA&PS Representative on the Senate for 2024 – 2025 as follows:

Contract Faculty Senators Elected-at-Large
(Two vacancies)

 Terms are specified in the relevant table.
 Members represent the interests of LA&PS at the Senate, while also providing the perspective of a

contracted member of the faculty on policies proposed and discussed.

Current Membership:
No current membership

There will be a call for nominations for the Spring round at the March meeting of Faculty Council. The nominations
call will close at the April Meeting of Faculty Council followed by an elections period if there are more
nominations than vacancies in a standing committee. An updated Executive Report will be uploaded on the
Faculty Council website on the day of Faculty Council meeting. For any information about the above document
or about the process of nominations and elections within LA&PS, please reach out to the Office of Faculty
Council. For a representative breakdown of the committees, please refer to Appendix A and Appendix B of the
report.

https://www.yorku.ca/laps/faculty-council/committees/teaching-learning-student-success/


Appendix A

2024-25 Faculty Council, Standing Committees, and Senate Membership
(Elected/Acclaimed)

Chair of Council (1)

Last Name First Name Department/
School Area Membership

Category Term Start Term End

Kenedy Robert SOCI  Social Sciences FT Faculty July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025

Vice Chair of Council (1)

Last Name First Name Department/
School Area Membership

Category Term Start Term End

Vacancy FT Faculty July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025

Executive Committee (6 Faculty + 3 Students)

Last Name First Name Department/
School Area Membership

Category Term Start Term End

Ebrahimi Mehraneh EN Humanities FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2026

Khaiter Peter ITEC Professional
Studies FT Faculty July 1, 2022 June 30, 2025

Ophir Ron ADMS Professional
Studies FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2026

Van Viegen Saskia DLLL Humanities FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2025
Vacancy FT Faculty July 1, 2024 June 30, 2027
Vacancy FT Faculty July 1, 2024 June 30, 2027
Note: At least one nomination must be from one from Social Sciences.

Academic Policy and Planning Committee APPC (7 Faculty + 2 Students)

Last Name First Name Department/
School Area Membership

Category Term Start Term End

Gekas Athanatios
(Sakis) HIST Humanities FT Faculty July 1, 2022 June 30, 2025

Malik Sadia Mariam ECON Professional
Studies FT Faculty July 1, 2022 June 30, 2025

Poon Maurice SOWK Professional
Studies FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2026

Tremblay Jean-Thomas HUMA Humanities FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2026
Vacancy FT Faculty July 1, 2024 June 30, 2027
Vacancy FT Faculty July 1, 2024 June 30, 2027

Yu Xiaohui ITEC Professional
Studies FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2026

Note: At least one nomination must be from one from Social Sciences.

Committee on Curriculum, Curricular Policy and Standards CCPS (7 Faculty + 2 Students)
Last Name First Name Department/

School Area Membership
Category Term Start Term End

Bernhardt- Walther Karen ECON Professional
Studies FT Faculty July 1, 2022 June 30, 2025

Jiang Ling ITEC Professional
Studies FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2026

Kar Anirban ADMS Professional
Studies FT Faculty July 1, 2022 June 30, 2025

Makinina Olga DLLL Humanities FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2026
Roberge Ian SPPA Social Science FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2026
Vacancy FT Faculty July 1, 2024 June 30, 2027



Vacancy FT Faculty July 1, 2024 June 30, 2027

General Education Sub-Committee (7 Faculty + 1 Student)

Last Name First Name
Department/
School Area

Membership
Category Term Start Term End

Vacancy
Humanities FT Faculty July 1, 2024 June 30, 2027

Vacancy Modes of
Reasoning FT Faculty July 1, 2024 June 30, 2027

Vacancy Social Science FT Faculty July 1, 2024 June 30, 2027

Vacancy
Professional
Programs FT Faculty July 1, 2024 June 30, 2027

Sufrin Jon
WRIT
(designate)

Ex-Officio for
Writing
Department FT Faculty July 1, 2021 June 30, 2024

Berhardt-Walter Karen ECON

Social Sciences
(appointed by
CCPS)

FT Faculty-
CCPS
Member July 1, 2023 June 30, 2026

Gang Pan DLLL
Liberal Arts
Programs FT Faculty Dec 7, 2023 June 30, 2026

Vacancy

Student-
CCPS
Member

Metcalfe Robin Science Natural Science

FT Faculty-
Natural
Science July 1, 2021 June 30, 2024

Tenure and Promotions Committee T&P (15 Faculty + 6 Students)

Last Name First Name Department/
School Area Membership

Category Term Start Term End

Bell Stevie M. WRIT Humanities FT Faculty July 1, 2022 June 30, 2025
Brzozowski Mateusz ECON Social Sciences FT Faculty July 1, 2022 June 30, 2025
Cohn Daniel PPAS Social Sciences FT Faculty July 1, 2022 June 30, 2025
Cortes Matias ECON Social Science FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2026
Ingram Susan HUMA Humanities FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2026

Karakul Mustafa ADMS Professional
Studies FT Faculty July 1, 2022 June 30, 2025

Kim Ann SOCI Social Sciences FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2026
Redding Arthur EN Humanities FT Faculty July 1, 2022 June 30, 2025

Peng Songlan (Stella) ADMS Professional
Studies FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2026

Vacancy FT Faculty July 1, 2024 June 30, 2026
Vacancy FT Faculty July 1, 2024 June 30, 2026
Vacancy FT Faculty July 1, 2024 June 30, 2027
Vacancy FT Faculty July 1, 2024 June 30, 2027
Vacancy FT Faculty July 1, 2024 June 30, 2027
Vacancy FT Faculty July 1, 2024 June 30, 2027
Note: Nominations are open to all departments except from ADMS and ECON.



Committee on Teaching, Learning and Student Success CTLSS (9 Full-Time Faculty + 1 Contract Faculty + 2 Teaching
Assistants + 3 Students)

Last Name First Name Department/
School Area Membership

Category Term Start Term End

Carra-Salsberg Fernanda DLLL Humanities FT Faculty July 1, 2023   June 30, 2026
Damiloal Adebayo HIST Humanities FT Faculty July 1, 2022 June 30, 2025

Jammal Manar ITEC Professional
Studies FT Faculty July 1, 2023   June 30, 2026

Sarkar Saikat ADMS Professional
Studies FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2026

Steele Carolyn HUMA Humanities FT Faculty July 1, 2022 June 30, 2025
Vanstone Gail HUMA Humanities FT Faculty July 1, 2022 June 30, 2025
Vacancy Contract Faculty July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy FT Faculty July 1, 2024 June 30, 2027
Vacancy FT Faculty July 1, 2024 June 30, 2027
Vacancy FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2027
Note: At least one nomination must be from one from Social Sciences. Nominations are open to all departments except from
HUMA.

Committee on Research Policy and Planning CRPP (7 Faculty + 2 Students)

Last Name First Name Department/
School Area Membership

Category Term Start Term End

Easter Brandee WRIT Humanities FT Faculty July 1, 2022 June 30, 2025
Maharaj Gajindra ADMS Professional StudiesFt Faculty July 1, 2022 June 30, 2025
Neill Natalie EN Humanities FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2026
Ozyurt Selcuk ECON Social Sciences FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2026
Roburn Shirley COMN Professional StudiesFT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2026
Vacant FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2027
Vacant FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2027

Committee on Student Academic Petitions and Appeals (20 + 8 Students)

Last Name First Name Department/
School Area Membership

Category Term Start Term End

Feltes Emma ANTH Social Sciences FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2025
Hooper Tom EQST Social Sciences FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2025
Knouzi Ibtissem DLLL Humanities FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2025
Li Na ADMS Professional Studies FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2025

MacKinnon Kinnon
Ross SOWK Professional Studies FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2025

Morris Christophe
r WRIT Humanities FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2025

Murnaghan Ann Marie HUMA Humanities FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2025
Pyne Jake SOWK Professional Studies FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2025
Ramasubramanya
m Jay SOSC Social Sciences FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2025

Senderovich Arik ITEC Professional Studies FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2025
Sriskandarajah Anuppiriya HUMA Humanities FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2025
Wicken William HIST Humanities FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2025
Vacancy FT Faculty July 1, 2024 June 30, 2026
Vacancy FT Faculty July 1, 2024 June 30, 2026
Vacancy FT Faculty July 1, 2024 June 30, 2026
Vacancy FT Faculty July 1, 2024 June 30, 2026
Vacancy FT Faculty July 1, 2024 June 30, 2026
Vacancy FT Faculty July 1, 2024 June 30, 2026
Vacancy FT Faculty July 1, 2024 June 30, 2026



Vacancy FT Faculty July 1, 2024 June 30, 2026
Note: Nominations are open to all departments except from HUMA and SOWK.

Graduate Committee (6 Faculty + 4 Students)

Last Name First Name Department/
School Area Membership

Category Term Start Term End

Gonzalez Miguel SOSC Social Sciences FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2025
Habibi Arash ITEC Professional Studies FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2026
Shea Victor HUMA Humanities FT Faculty July 1, 2022 June 30, 2025
Spicer Zachary PPA Social Sciences FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2026
Vacancy FT Faculty July 1, 2024 June 30, 2027
Vacancy FT Faculty July 1, 2024 June 30, 2027

Contract Faculty (30) (1-year term)
Last Name First

Name
Departme
nt/ School Area Membershi

p Category Term Start Term End

Vacancy CUPE July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy CUPE July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy CUPE July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy CUPE July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy CUPE July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy CUPE July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy CUPE July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy CUPE July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy CUPE July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy CUPE July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy CUPE July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy CUPE July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy CUPE July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy CUPE July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy CUPE July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy CUPE July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy CUPE July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy CUPE July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy CUPE July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy CUPE July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy CUPE July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy CUPE July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy CUPE July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy CUPE July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy CUPE July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy CUPE July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy CUPE July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy CUPE July 1, 2023 June 30, 2024
Vacancy CUPE July 1, 2023 June 30, 2024
Vacancy CUPE July 1, 2023 June 30, 2024



Staff (5-CPM, 5-YUSA) (1-year term)

Last Name First Name
Membership
Category

Term Start Term End

Vacancy CPM July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy CPM July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy CPM July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy CPM July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy CPM July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy YUSA July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy YUSA July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy YUSA July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy YUSA July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025
Vacancy YUSA July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025

LA&PS Representative on the Senate (3-year term)
Last Name First Name Department/

School Area Membership
Category Term Start Term End

Crosby Alison GSWT Humanities Acting
Chair/Director

July 1, 2023 June 30, 2024

Maurice Poon SOWK Professional
Studies

Acting
Chair/Director

July 1, 2023 December 31, 2023

Valeo Antonella DLLL Humanities Acting
Chair/Director

July 1, 2023 December 31, 2023

Warwick Susan HUMA Humanities Acting
Chair/Director

July 1, 2023 June 30, 2024

Brooke Stephen HIST Humanities Chair/Director July 1, 2023 June 30, 2024
Budworth Marie-Hélène HRM Professional

Studies
Chair/Director July 1, 2022 June 30, 2025

Chapman Chris SOWK Professional
Studies

Chair/Director July 1, 2022 June 30, 2025

Clements Elicia HUMA Humanities Chair/Director July 1, 2024 June 30, 2026
Couto Naomi PPA Social

Sciences
Chair/Director July 1, 2023 June 30, 2026

Dodman Maria Joao DLLL Humanities Chair/Director July 1, 2022 June 30, 2025
Giudice Michael PHIL Humanities Chair/Director July 1, 2023 June 30, 2026
Glasbeek Amanda SOSC Social

Sciences
Chair/Director July 1, 2022 June 30, 2025

Ho Wai-Ming ECON Social
Sciences

Chair/Director July 1, 2022 June 30, 2025

Lambert-Drache Marilyn FR Humanities Chair/Director July 1, 2022 June 30, 2025
Langlois Ganaele COMN Social

Sciences
Chair/Director July 1, 2021 June 30, 2024

McKenzie Andrea WRIT Humanities Chair/Director July 1, 2021 June 30, 2024
Othon Alexandrakis ANTH Social

Sciences
Chair/Director July 1, 2021 June 30, 2024

Ouedraogo Awalou DES Social
Sciences

Chair/Director July 1, 2021 June 30, 2024

Pilon Dennis POLS Social
Sciences

Chair/Director July 1, 2023 June 30, 2026

Prince Enamul Hoque ITEC Professional
Studies

Chair/Director July 1, 2022 June 30, 2025

Thomas Mark SOCI Social Chair/Director July 1, 2023 June 30, 2026



Sciences
Waweru Nelson ADMS Professional

Studies
Chair/Director July 1, 2022 June 30, 2025

Weaver Andrew EN Humanities Chair/Director July 1, 2023 June 30, 2026
Vacancy Contract

Faculty
July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025

Vacancy Contract
Faculty

July 1, 2024 June 30, 2025

Ebrahimi Mehraneh EN Humanities FT Faculty July 1, 2022 June 30, 2025
Ehrlich Carl HIST Humanities FT Faculty July 1, 2022 June 30, 2025
Ferrara Ida ECON Social

Sciences
FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2026

Green Ruth SOWK Professional
Studies

FT Faculty July 1, 2022 June 30, 2025

Karimi Sirvan PPA Social
Sciences

FT Faculty July 1, 2022 June 30, 2025

Magee Joanne ADMS Professional
Studies

FT Faculty July 1, 2022 June 30, 2025

Michasiw Kim WRIT Humanities FT Faculty July 1, 2022 June 30, 2025
Ophir Ron ADMS Professional

Studies
FT Faculty July 1, 2021

Spotton Visano Brenda ECON Social Science FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2026
Steele Carolyn HUMA Humanities FT Faculty July 1, 2022 June 30, 2025
Vanstone Gail HUMA Humanities FT Faculty July 1, 2022 June 30, 2025
Wellen Richard SOSC Social

Sciences
FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2026

Senate: Academic Policy, Planning and Research Committee (3-year term)
Last Name First Name Department/

School Area Membership
Category Term Start Term End

Davies Andrea HUMA Humanities FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2026

Senate: Executive Committee (3-year term)
Last Name First Name Department/

School Area Membership
Category Term Start Term End

Spotton Visano Brenda ECON Social Sciences FT Faculty July 1, 2023 June 30, 2026



Appendix B

School/Department Area Affiliations

School/Department Full Affiliation
Writing Department Humanities
Department of Languages, Literatures & Linguistics Humanities

Department of English Humanities
Department of French Studies Humanities
Department of History Humanities
Department of Humanities Humanities
Department of Philosophy Humanities
School of Women's Studies Humanities
School of Administrative Studies Professional Studies

School of Human Resources Management Professional Studies
School of Information Technology Professional Studies
School of Social Work Professional Studies
Department of Anthropology Social Sciences
Department of Communication Studies Social Sciences
Department of Economics Social Sciences

Department of Equity Studies Social Sciences
Department of Geography Social Sciences
Department of Political Science Social Sciences
School of Public Policy and Administration Social Sciences
Department of Sociology Social Sciences
Department of Social Science Social Sciences



Nominations Timeline

April 11: All acclamations have been finalized and approved
by Executive Council.

Email notifications will be sent out to all new members of
the committees who have been acclaimed in the coming
week.

April 16-23: Elections shall be called for all positions which
have more nominees than vacancies. All positions with
more vacancies than nominees shall be acclaimed.

May 9: Executive Council shall announce the new
committee membership for

How to Nominate

Follow the link that was attached to the call for
nominations email sent to all Full-Time Faculty.

Go to the Faculty Nominations page on the Faculty
Council website and click “Apply Here” to fill out the
machform.

Self-nominations and nomination of others are both
welcomed!

Vacancies on Executive Council & Standing Committees

• Vice-Chair of Executive Council (1 Vacancy)

• Executive Committee (2 Vacancies)

• Tenure and Promotion Committee (6 Vacancies)

• Committee on Research Policy and Planning (2 Vacancies)

• Student Academic Petitions and Appeals Committee (8 Vacancies)

• Committee on Teaching, Learning and Student Success (4 Vacancies; 3 Full-Time and 1
Contract)

• Committee on Curriculum, Curricular Policy, and Standards (2 Vacancies)

• General Education Sub-Committee (4 Vacancies)

• Academic Policy and Planning Committee (2 Vacancies)

• Graduate Committee (2 Vacancies)

• Contract Representatives on Faculty Council (30 Vacancies)

• Staff Representatives on Faculty Council (10 Vacancies; 5 CPM and 5 YUSA)

Other questions?

Reach out to the Office of Faculty Council (lapsfc@yorku.ca) or Keelan Atkinson
(katkins@yorku.ca)



 

 
 

 

Committee on Curriculum, Curricular Policy and Standards (CCPS) 

Consent Agenda 

 
March 2024 
 
ITEMS FOR INFORMATION (24): 
 
New Course Proposals 
 
AP/EN 4504 Cr=3.00 Arthurian Literature 
AP/EN 4535 Cr=3.00 Advanced Shakespeare 
AP/FINT 2010 3.00 Financial Services and Technologies 
AP/HIST 3790 CR=3.00 EN Histories of Gender and Sexuality in the Modern Middle 
East  
AP/HIST 3804 3.00 Musicals and History since 1945  
AP/HIST 3805 CR=6.00 EN Musicals and History since 1900  
AP/HUMA 3314 6.00 Black Literatures and Cultures in Canada  
AP/SOSC 1142 9.00 Climate Change and Society 
 
Change to Existing Course Proposals 
 
AP/EN 4165 6.00 City Texts and Textual Cities 
AP/EN 4425 3.00 Post-apartheid South African Theatre 
AP/GER 3989 6.00 Germany and the Global Imaginary 
AP/HRM 1000 3.00 Foundations in Human Resources  
AP/HUMA 1781 6.00 Exploring Culture: Narrative, Media, Film  
AP/HUMA 3315 3.00 Black Literatures and Cultures in Canada  
AP/HUMA 3604 6.00 Imaginative Representations of Italy 
AP/HUMA 4630 3.00 The Power of Words: Reading in the Digital Age 
AP/HUMA 4630 6.00 The Power of Words: Reading in the Digital Age 
AP/HUMA 4908 6.00 Digital Humanities Sandbox: Exploring the Possibilities 
AP/POLS 3580 6.00 South Korea: Politics of Youth & Old Age 
 
Minor Change to an Existing Degree or Certificate Proposals  
 
Minor Modification of degree requirements for Refugee and Migration Studies 
Certificate (Department of Humanities)  
 
The proposed changes are:  
 



• The addition of AP/HREQ 3891 3.00 to the course list that fulfills the 
degree requirement credits.  
 

Minor Modification of degree requirements to English (regarding EN 4504) 
(Department of English)  
The proposed changes to the English program (all degree options) are:  
 

• The addition of the 3-credit version EN 4504: Arthurian Literature of the 6-
credit version of the course to the 4000 Level Category C: Literatures in and 
Across History, British  

  
There are no changes to the learning outcomes and there is no impact on teaching 
resources.  
  
Minor Modification of degree requirements to Gender and Women's Studies 
(School of Gender, Sexuality & Women’s Studies)  
 
The proposed changes to all degree options of Gender and Women’s Studies programs 
are:  
 

• To reflect the degree nomenclature language in the course list of the 
academic calendar.  
• To remove retired courses and add some already approved courses to the 
course lists.   
 

There are no changes to the learning outcomes and there is no impact on teaching 
resources.  
  
Minor Modification to Spanish Studies (Department of Languages, Literatures & 
Linguistics)  
  
The proposed changes to Spanish Studies (all degree options) are:   
 

• To add a clarification note about the major credit requirement to additional 
note and major credit requirement sections.  
 

There are no changes to the learning outcomes and there is no impact on teaching 
resources.  
 
Minor Modification of degree requirements to Interdisciplinary Social Science 
(ISS) (Department of Social Science)  
  
The proposed changes to all degree options of ISS program are:  

• The addition of the following courses to the core list of ISS courses:  
 

SOSC 3009 6.00  
SOSC 3714 3.00  



SOSC 3715 3.00  
SOSC 3717 3.00  
SOSC 3719 3.00  
SOSC 3755 3.00  
SOSC 4101 3.00  
SOSC 4101 6.00   
 

There are no changes to the learning outcomes and there is no impact on teaching 
resources.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A consent agenda item does not involve new programs, significant new principles, or 
new policies. These proposals are clearly identified on the notice of the meeting as 
consent agenda items. Full proposal text is not reproduced in the hardcopy agenda 
package. Proposal texts are available upon request. 
 
A consent agenda item is deemed to be approved unless, prior to the commencement 
of a meeting, one or more members of Council advises the chair of a request to debate 
it. Please contact the Secretary to the Committee (apccps@yorku.ca) if you have any 
questions regarding the changes to existing courses section.  

mailto:apccps@yorku.ca


 
Major Modifications Proposal  
 
1. Faculty: Liberal Arts & Professional Studies 

2. Department: Communication & Media Studies 

3. Program: Communication & Media Studies 

4. Degree Designation: BA (90 credit) 

5. Type of Modification: Addition of 90 credit degree option 

6. Location: Keele and Markham 

7. Effective Date: Fall 2024 

  

8. Provide a general description of the proposed changes to the program. 

This proposal is to add a 90 credit BA option for students already enrolled in the program 

in the event that they are unable to complete the 120-credit honours BA. This is not a 

direct entry degree. The requirements (outlined below) are in line with similar options in 

other LA&PS programs. 

NOTE: The proposed calendar copy (see appendix) uses the course rubric ‘CMDS.’ 

Currently our course rubric is COMN. However, following on from our departmental 

name change, a proposal to change this to CMDS across the board is approaching final 

approval. CMDS is thus used here in anticipation of that change being implemented 

shortly. 

 

9. Provide the rationale for the proposed changes. 

We are one of the only remaining programs in LA&PS without a 90-credit BA option. 

Currently when our students fall below program requirements and are removed from the 

Honours BA, they are automatically enrolled in the 90 credit Interdisciplinary Social 

Science BA. Often these students shadow our program, which leaves them in the position 

of fulfilling requirements for a degree in which they are not enrolled. Data indicates not 

only that a significant proportion of these students are unable to improve their grades and 

return to the Honours BA, but more importantly that they also have a higher rate of 

leaving the university entirely compared with programs that have an in-house 90-credit 

option. Other situations in which the 90-credit option will be beneficial is if students are 

required to leave their degree early due to illness, care responsibilities, financial 

constraints, or any other similar situation.  

This change has been recommended by the Dean’s Office, and will bring our department 

in line with the large majority of other programs in LA&PS.   



10. Comment on the alignment between the program changes with Faculty and/or 
University academic plans. 

This change is especially significant in supporting the LA&PS academic plan, which has 

the prioritization of student learning, excellence, and success as its first principle. The 

new degree provides a broader range of students the ability to achieve a degree. For 

students who are de-enrolled from the honours BA due to GPA or other academic issues, 

keeping them enrolled within our department will enable us to support them much more 

effectively.  

11. If applicable, provide a detailed outline of the changes to the program and the 
associated learning outcomes, including how the proposed requirements will 
support the achievement of program learning outcomes. Programs should have 

eight to twelve program learning outcomes.  Describe how the achievement of the 
program learning outcomes will be assessed and how that assessment will be 
documented. (i.e., the mapping of the courses to the program learning outcomes; 
graduate outcomes). 

For the 90-credit degree, students will normally not be completing 4000 level courses, and 

so will not be attaining the learning outcomes of ‘achieve’ (more prevalent in 4000 vs. 3000 

level courses) to the extent that students in the Honours degree do. However, this change 

does not necessitate changes to the PLOs or the department’s curriculum map (see Appendix 

C). 

The Department of Communication and Media Studies has recognized the need for a 90 

credit degree option for those students who fail to meet the GPA requirements at the 4th 

year.  Historically these students have automatically been withdrawn from our Department 

and placed in a Social Science Program which offers a 90 degree option. Often these 

students are confused and dissatisfied with this process as they would prefer to graduate 

with a Communication and Media Studies degree having already completed at least 84 

credits there.  While we do work with students and offer them chances to take our 4th year 

courses and give them guidance to improve their GPAs so that they can reenter back into the 

Department and complete the Honours Degree, many struggle and end up with the Social 

Science degree as a last resort.  In order to address this inadequate solution, we are 

instituting our own 90 degree credit degree for those students who would otherwise be 

forced to leave.  We are not intending this degree to be taking as an entry level option but 

solely as a fall back in the situation where it is impossible for them to meet the Honour 

degree requirements in the 4th year.   We understand the 90-credit degree to include many of 

the same requirements and expectations at the lower levels and the differences between the 

degrees are not merely the number of credits required but more significantly the more 

challenging courses at the 4th year are not required.  We hope that this will help those 

students who are struggling with no other way of completing their degree. 

 

12. Summarize the consultation undertaken with relevant academic units, including 
commentary on the impact of the proposed changes on other programs. Provide 



individual statements from the relevant program(s) confirming consultation and 
their support. 

No consultation required; these changes will not impact on the curriculum of other 

programs. 

13. If applicable, describe changes to any admission requirements and on the 
appropriateness of the revised requirements for the achievement of the program 
learning outcomes. 

There are no changes to admission requirements as this will not be a direct entry program. 

The revision of the program learning outcomes (see 11. above and the appendix) is thus not 

tied to admission requirements. 

14. Describe any resource implications and how they are being addressed (e.g., 
through a reallocation of existing resources). If new/additional resources are 
required, provide a statement from the relevant Dean(s)/Principal confirming 
resources will be in place to implement the changes.  

There will be no substantial impact on resource allocation. We anticipate in increase in 

majors especially at the 3rd year level, but (as indicated above) these are students who would 

often have continued taking courses in Communication & Media Studies even when they 

were transferred to the 90 credit ISS program. There will thus be relatively little impact in 

terms of course enrollments, and any additional numbers will be manageable within the 

existing course offerings. 

15. When applicable, comment on the appropriateness of the revised mode(s) of 
delivery for the achievement of the program learning outcomes. 

There are no changes in the mode of delivery. 

16. Is the assessment of teaching and learning within the program changing? If so, 
comment on the appropriateness of the revised forms of assessment to the 
achievement of the program learning outcomes. 

There are no anticipated changes in forms of assessment. 

17. Provide a summary of how students currently enrolled in the program will be 
accommodated. 

The goal of the new degree option is precisely to accommodate students who are currently 

enrolled in the program, but who either do not meet the degree progress benchmarks for the 

Honours BA or require an early graduation option should their life circumstances warrant. 

There are no other accommodations necessary. 

18. Provide the following appendices: 



A) Program Learning Outcomes (eight to twelve) 

See appendix B 

B) Provide as an appendix a side-by-side comparison of the existing and proposed 
program requirements as they will appear in the Undergraduate or Graduate 
Calendar.  

See appendix A 

 

  



Appendix A 

Calendar Copy 
Program: Communication & Media Studies  
Degree Program: Please Select Applicable Degree Program    
Specialized Honours       Honours       Ordinary (90-credit)      Double Major        Major/Minor        Minor       
Other:  
Effective Date: Fall 2024  

Please note that only those fields applicable to the relevant program need to be completed.  

Current Calendar Copy  
(Strikethrough items to be removed)  

New Calendar Copy  
(Underline items to be added in revisions to existing programs)  

Admission Requirements   
  
Current Students  
  
  

Admission Requirements   
  
Current Students  
  
Students may enter/re-enter prior to completion of 90 
credits. Some programs may have limited entry and/or 
further entry requirements. Some programs have 
mathematics entry requirements. Students should refer to 
the program of study section for further information on 
these and other requirements.  
  
  

Students may transfer to Faculty of Liberal Arts and 
Professional Studies BA degree provided they meet the 
minimum cumulative grade point average of 4.00. Students 
from other Faculties may submit a Program Change 
Request, available on the Program Change web page 
at myacademicrecord.students.yorku.ca/program-change, 
to enter the BA program.  
  
  

Note: all students who enter/re-enter the BA program must 
follow the requirements of the program in place at the time 
of entry/re-entry. Some programs may have limited entry 
and/or further entry requirements.  
  

Continuing Requirements   
• GPA requirements  

  
  

Continuing Requirements   
  
Students who maintain a cumulative grade point average of 
at least 4.00 may proceed in good standing in the BA 
degree. Students who at the end of an academic session 
meet the minimum Honours progression requirement will 
automatically be placed in the Honours program (if 
applicable). Students at the point of enrolment in a new 

https://myacademicrecord.students.yorku.ca/program-change


academic session can declare via the enrolment system if 
they wish to proceed in the BA or Honours BA degree.  
  
  
  

Graduation Requirements  
  
  

Graduation Requirements  
Students must successfully complete (pass) at least 90 
credits which meet the Faculty's degree and program 
requirements with a cumulative grade point average of at 
least 4.00.   

General Education – Required Credits: __  
  
  

General Education – Required Credits: _21_  
  

• Met the following conditions:  
o General Education - LA&PS  

▪ Complete all of the following  
Natural Science (NATS)  

▪ Earned at least 6 credits from 
the following course sets:  

General Education - LA&PS - 
Natural Science  

  
Approved general education course in 
the social science or humanities 
categories  

▪ Earned at least 9 credits from 
the following course sets:  

General Education - LA&PS - 
Social Science  

  
General Education - LA&PS - 
Humanities  

  
Approved general education course in 
the opposite category to the 9.00 
credit course in social science or 
humanities already taken  

▪ Earned at least 6 credits from 
the following course sets:  

General Education - LA&PS - 
Social Science  

  
General Education - LA&PS - 
Humanities  

  
▪ Note: All approved general 
education courses may count for 
general education credits; some 



may count for major credits; none 
may count as both.  

  

Major Requirements – Required Credits: __  
• Please outline the type of 
Degree program in the title of 
this requirement  
• Core Courses  
• Major Requirements (e.g. 
mandatory courses, and credits 
to be selected from list)  

  
  

Major Requirements – Required Credits: _36_  
  

• Complete all of the following  
9 credits:  

o Complete all of the following  
▪ Earned at least 6 credits from 
the following:  

▪ AP/CMDS1000 Cr=6.00 
EN - Introduction to 
Communication & 
Media (6.00)  

  
▪ Completed at least 3 credits 
from the following types of 
courses:  

at the 1000 level in Communication & 
Media Studies  

15 credits:  
o Complete all of the following  

▪ Earned at least 15 credits from 
the following:  

▪ AP/CMDS2100 -
 Foundational 
Communication & Media 
Theory (3.00)  
▪ AP/CMDS2150 -
 Introduction to Research 
Methods in 
Communication and Media 
Studies (3.00)  
▪ AP/CMDS2200 Cr=3.00 
EN - Introduction to 
Politics, Policy and the 
Media (3.00)  
▪ AP/CMDS2500 Cr=3.00 
EN - Information and 
Technology (3.00)  
▪ AP/CMDS2700 Cr=3.00 
EN - Media, Culture and 
Society (3.00)  

12 additional credits:  
o Completed at least 12 credits from the 
following types of courses:  

https://york.kuali.co/cm/#/courses/view/6425b33b26880e4b29ab2229
https://york.kuali.co/cm/#/courses/view/6425b33b26880e4b29ab2229
https://york.kuali.co/cm/#/courses/view/64247fdff57bd94634c9b88c
https://york.kuali.co/cm/#/courses/view/64247fa01c7d191a2cab7f2d
https://york.kuali.co/cm/#/courses/view/6424810e3008af7593f26a3e
https://york.kuali.co/cm/#/courses/view/6424810e3008af7593f26a3e
https://york.kuali.co/cm/#/courses/view/64247ed6ac51c2b8b16ae4a2
https://york.kuali.co/cm/#/courses/view/64247ed6ac51c2b8b16ae4a2
https://york.kuali.co/cm/#/courses/view/642484603008afaa5af26a88
https://york.kuali.co/cm/#/courses/view/642484603008afaa5af26a88


at the 3000 or 4000 level in Communication & 
Media Studies;  

  
  
  
  

Outside the Major – Required Credits: __  
  

Outside the Major – Required Credits: _18_  
  

• Completed at least 18 credits from the 
following types of courses:  

  
outside the major.  

  

Elective – Required Credits: __  Elective – Required Credits: _15_  
  

• Completed at least 15 credits from the 
following types of courses:  

  
Students must successfully complete (pass) at least 
90 credits which meet the Faculty's degree and 
program requirements.    

  

Upper-Level Requirement  
  
  

Upper-Level Requirement  
  

• At least 18 credits at the 3000 or 4000 level  
  
  

Grand Total Credit Count -   Grand Total Credit Count - 90  

 
 

  



 Depth and Breadth of Knowledge 

 Courses 1000-2000 Level  

 

 

3000 Level Courses 

Program 

Learning 

Outcomes 

Courses 3000 Level 

Depth and 

Breadth of 

Knowledge  

 

COM

N 3101 

COM

N 3111 

COMN 

3112 

COMN 3151 COMN 3204 COMN 3210 COMN 3252 COM

N 3510 

COM

N 3511 

Demonstrate 

an 

understandin

g of the 

socio-

cultural, 

political 

economic, 

technological 

and 

environmenta

l roles played 

by 

communicati

on and media 

in local and 

global 

contexts 

D:  

Develo

p 

 

 

 

D:  

Develo

p 

 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/Asse

ss 

 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/Asse

ss 

 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/Asse

ss 

 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 



 

Program 

Learning 

Outcomes 

Courses 3000 Level 

Depth and 

Breadth of 

Knowledge  

 

COM

N 3101 

COM

N 3111 

COMN 

3112 

COMN 3151 COMN 3204 COMN 3210 COMN 3252 COM

N 3510 

COM

N 3511 

Identify key 

issues and 

debates in the 

field in 

consideration 

of, for 

example, 

communicati

on ethics, 

human rights 

and social 

justice; or 

social 

relations such 

as class, 

gender and 

race in the 

use and 

development 

of media and 

technology. 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

Not 

applicabl

e to the 

course 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/Asse

ss 

 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/Asse

ss 

 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/Asse

ss 

 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 



Program 

Learning 

Outcomes 

Courses 3000 Level Continued 

Depth and 

Breadth of 

Knowledge 

COM

N 3517 

COMN 

3550 

COM

N 3551 

COMN 

 3590 

COM

N 3591 

COM

N 3700 

COM

N 3701 

COMN 

 3712 

COMN  

3713 

COMN 

 3725 

COMN 

 3729 

Demonstrate 

an 

understandin

g of the 

socio-

cultural, 

political 

economic, 

technologica

l and 

environment

al roles 

played by 

communicati

on and 

media in 

local and 

global 

contexts; 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

 

 

 

I: 

Introdu

ce 

 

 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/Ass

ess 

 

 

 

 

 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

 

 

 

 

 

Identify key 

issues and 

debates in 

the field in 

consideratio

n of, for 

example, 

communicati

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

 

 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

 

 

I: 

Introdu

ce 

 

 

 

 

 

I: 

Introdu

ce 

 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

 

 

 

 



 

 

Program 

Learning 

Outcomes 

Courses 3000 Level Continued 

Depth and 

Breadth of 

Knowledge 

COM

N 3517 

COMN 

3550 

COM

N 3551 

COMN 

 3590 

COM

N 3591 

COM

N 3700 

COM

N 3701 

COMN 

 3712 

COMN  

3713 

COMN 

 3725 

COMN 

 3729 

on ethics, 

human rights 

and social 

justice; or 

social 

relations 

such as class, 

gender and 

race in the 

use and 

development 

of media and 

technology. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Program Learning Outcomes Courses 3000 Level Continued 

Depth and Breadth of 

Knowledge 

COMN 

3750 

COMN 

3751 

COMN 

3770 

COMN 

3781 

COMN 

3900 

Demonstrate an understanding 

of the socio-cultural, political 

economic, technological and 

environmental roles played by 

communication and media in 

local and global contexts; 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

Identify key issues and debates 

in the field in consideration of, 

for example, communication 

ethics, human rights and social 

justice; or social relations such 

as class, gender and race in the 

use and development of media 

and technology 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Not applicable 

to the course 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Courses 4000 Level

Program Learning Outcomes Courses 4000 Level 

Depth and Breadth of 

Knowledge 

COM

N 

4115 

COM

N 

4130 

COM

N 

4201 

COMN 

4202 

COMN 

4204 

COMN 

4206 

COMN 

4210 

COMN 

4212 

COM

N 

4214 

COM

N 

4217 

COM

N 

4222 

Demonstrate an understanding of 

the socio-cultural, political 

economic, technological and 

environmental roles played by 

communication and media in 

local and global contexts; 

A: 

Achie

ve/ 

Assess 

 

 

D: 

Devel

op 

 

 

 

A: 

Achie

ve/Ass

ess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve

/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achiev

e/Asses

s 

 

 

A: 

Achiev

e/Asses

s 

 

 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achie

ve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achie

ve/ 

Assess 

D: 

Devel

op 

 

 

Identify key issues and debates 

in the field in consideration of, 

for example, communication 

ethics, human rights and social 

justice; or social relations such 

as class, gender and race in the 

use and development of media 

and technology. 

Not 

applic

able 

to the 

course 

 

 

 

 

A: 

Achie

ve/Ass

ess 

 

 

 

 

 

A: 

Achie

ve/Ass

ess 

 

 

 

 

 

A: 

Achieve

/ 

Assess 

 

 

 

 

 

A: 

Achiev

e/Asses

s 

 

 

 

 

 

A: 

Achiev

e/Asses

s 

 

 

 

 

 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

 

 

 

 

 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achie

ve/ 

Assess 

D: 

Devel

op 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A: 

Achie

ve/ 

Assess 

 

 

 

 

 



Program Learning Outcomes Courses 4000 Level Continued  

Depth and Breadth of 

Knowledge 

COMN 

4725 

COMN 

4726 

COMN 

4740 

COMN 

4741 

COMN 

4742 

COMN  

4750 

COMN 

4755 

Demonstrate an understanding 

of the socio-cultural, political 

economic, technological and 

environmental roles played by 

communication and media in 

local and global contexts 

D: 

Develop 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

D: 

Develop 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

Identify key issues and debates 

in the field in consideration of, 

for example, communication 

ethics, human rights and social 

justice; or social relations such 

as class, gender and race in the 

use and development of media 

and technology 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Asses 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

D: 

Develop 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

Program Learning Outcomes Courses 4000 Level Continued 

Depth and Breadth of 

Knowledge 

CO

MN 

4270 

COMN 

4275 

COM

N 

4306 

COM

N 

4327 

COM

N 

4505 

COM

N 

4507 

COM

N 

4520 

COMN 

4703 

COMN 

4707 

COM

N  

4708 

COM

N 

4721 

Demonstrate an understanding of 

the socio-cultural, political 

economic, technological and 

environmental roles played by 

communication and media in 

local and global contexts; 

A: 

Achi

eve/ 

Asse

ss 

A: 

Achiev

e/Asses

s 

A: 

Achie

ve/Ass

ess 

 

 

 

D: 

Devel

op 

 

 

 

 

A: 

Achie

ve/Ass

ess 

 

 

 

A: 

Achie

ve/As

sess 

 

 

 

I: 

Introd

uce 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

 

A: 

Achie

ve/Ass

ess 

 

 

 

I: 

Introd

uce 

 

 

 

 

Identify key issues and debates 

in the field in consideration of, 

for example, communication 

ethics, human rights and social 

justice; or social relations such 

as class, gender and race in the 

use and development of media 

and technology. 

D: 

Dev

elop 

A: 

Achiev

e/Asses

s 

A: 

Achie

ve/Ass

ess 

A: 

Achie

ve/ 

Asses

s 

A: 

Achie

ve/Ass

ess 

A: 

Achie

ve/As

sess 

Not 

applic

able 

to the 

course 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

 

A: 

Achie

ve/Ass

ess 

I: 

Introd

uce 

 

 

 

 



Knowledge of Methodologies  

Courses 1000-2000 Level 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Program 

Learning 

Outcomes 

Courses 1000-2000 Level 

Knowledg

e of 

Methodol

ogies 

COM

N 1000 

COM

N 1001 

COM

N 1401 

COM

N 1410 

COM

N 1425 

COMN 

2100 

COMN 

2111 

COM

N 2150 

COMN 

2200 

COMN 

2500 

COMN 

2700 

COMN 

2830 

Identify a 

variety of 

qualitative 

and 

quantitativ

e research 

methodolo

gies 

relevant to 

the 

complex 

study of 

communic

ation and 

media in 

course-led 

projects.  

I: 

Introd

uce 

 

 

 

 

 

I: 

Introd

uce 

 

 

 

 

 

I: 

Introd

uce 

 

 

 

 

 

I: 

Introd

uce 

 

 

 

 

 

I: 

Introd

uce 

 

Not 

applica

ble to 

the 

course 

 

 

 

Not 

applica

ble to 

the 

course 

 

 

 

I: 

Introd

uce 

 

 

Not 

applica

ble 

to the 

course 

 

 

 

Not 

applica

ble 

to the 

course 

 

 

 

 

 

Not 

applica

ble to 

the 

course 

 

 

 

 

Not 

applica

ble to 

the 

course 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

Program Learning 

Outcomes 

Courses 3000 Level 

Knowledge of 

Methodologies 

COMN 

3101 

COMN 

3111 

COMN 

3112 

COMN 3151 COMN 

3204 

COMN 

3210 

COMN 

3252 

COMN 

3510 

COMN  

3511 

Identify a variety of 

qualitative and 

quantitative research 

methodologies 

relevant to the 

complex study of 

communication and 

media in course-led 

projects.  

Not 

applicable 

to the 

course 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/Assess 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

Not 

applicable 

to the 

course 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

Program 

Learning 

Outcomes 

Courses 3000 Level Continued 

Knowledge 

of 

Methodologi

es 

COM

N 3517 

COMN 

3550 

COMN 

3551 

COM

N 3590 

COMN 

3591 

COM

N 3700 

COM

N 3701 

COM

N 3712 

COM

N 3713 

COMN 

3725 

COMN 

3729 

Identify a 

variety of 

qualitative 

and 

quantitative 

research 

methodologie

s relevant to 

the complex 

study of 

communicati

on and media 

in course-led 

projects.  

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Not 

applicabl

e to the 

course 

 

 

 

 

 

Not 

applicabl

e to the 

course 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

 

 

 

I: 

Introduc

e 

 

 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

Program Learning Outcomes Courses 3000 Level Continued 

Knowledge of Methodologies COMN 

3750 

COMN 

3751 

COMN 

3770 

COMN 

3781 

COMN 

3900 

Identify a variety of qualitative and 

quantitative research methodologies 

relevant to the complex study of 

communication and media in course-

led projects.  

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

Program 

Learning 

Outcomes 

Courses 4000 Level 

Knowledge 

of 

Methodologi

es 

COM

N 4115 

COMN 

4130 

COM

N 4201 

COMN 

4202 

COMN 

4204 

COMN 

4206 

COM

N 4210 

COMN 

4212 

COM

N 4214 

COM

N 4217 

COMN 

4222 

Identify a 

variety of 

qualitative 

and 

quantitative 

research 

methodologie

s relevant to 

the complex 

study of 

communicati

on and media 

in course-led 

projects.  

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

 

 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

 

 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

 

 

 

 

I: 

Introduc

e 

 

 

 

 

 

Not 

applicabl

e to the 

course 

 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

 

 

Not 

applicabl

e to the 

course 

 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

 

 

I: 

Introduc

e 

 

 

 

 

 



Courses 4000 Level  

 

 

Program 

Learning 

Outcomes 

Courses 4000 Level Continued 

Knowledge 

of 

Methodologie

s 

COMN 

4270 

COMN 

4275 

COMN 

4306 

COMN 

4327 

COMN 

4505 

COMN 

4507 

COMN 

4520 

COMN 

4703 

COMN 

4707 

COMN 

4708 

COMN 

4721 

Identify a 

variety of 

qualitative 

and 

quantitative 

research 

methodologie

s relevant to 

the complex 

study of 

communicatio

n and media 

in course-led 

projects.  

I: 

Introduc

e 

 

 

A: 

Achieve

/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve

/ 

Assess 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

A: 

Achieve

/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve

/ 

Assess 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

A: 

Achieve

/ 

Assess 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

Program Learning 

Outcomes 

Courses 4000 Level Continued  

Knowledge of 

Methodologies 

COMN 

4725 

COMN  

4726 

COMN  

4740 

COMN  

4741 

COMN  

4742 

COMN  

4750 

COMN 

4755 

Identify a variety of 

qualitative and quantitative 

research methodologies 

relevant to the complex 

study of communication and 

media in course-led projects.  

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 



Application of Knowledge  

Courses 1000-2000 Level  

 

Program 

Learning 

Outcomes 

Courses 1000-2000 Level 

Application 

of 

Knowledge 

COM

N 

1000 

CO

MN 

1001 

COM

N 1401 

COM

N 1410 

COM

N 1425 

COM

N 

2100 

COM

N 2111 

COM

N 2150 

COM

N 2200 

COM

N 2500 

COM

N 2700 

COM

N 2830 

Integrate 

appropriate 

communicatio

n and media 

theories and 

conceptual 

frameworks 

with critical 

analyses of 

key historical 

and current 

case studies, 

practices, 

policies 

and/or 

institutions of 

media and 

communicatio

n in Canada 

and 

internationall

y.  

I: 

Introd

uce 

 

 

I: 

Intro

duce 

 

I: 

Introd

uce 

 

 

I: 

Introd

uce 

 

I: 

Introd

uce 

I: 

Introd

uce 

 

I: 

Introd

uce 

 

 

I: 

Introd

uce 

I: 

Introd

uce 

 

 

I: 

Introd

uce 

 

 

 

 

I: 

Introd

uce 

 

I: 

Introd

uce 

 

 



Program Learning 

Outcomes 

Courses 3000 Level 

Application of 

Knowledge 

COMN 3101 COMN 

3111 

COMN 

3112 

COMN 

3151 

COMN 

3204 

COMN 

3210 

COMN 

3252 

COMN 

3510 

COMN 

3511 

Integrate appropriate 

communication and 

media theories and 

conceptual 

frameworks with 

critical analyses of 

key historical and 

current case studies, 

practices, policies 

and/or institutions of 

media and 

communication in 

Canada and 

internationally.  

A: 

Achieve/Assess 

Not 

applicable 

to the 

course 

Not 

applicable 

to the 

course 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

D: 

Develop 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

D: 

Develop 



 

 

 

 

Program 

Learning 

Outcomes 

Courses 3000 Level Continued 

Application 

of 

Knowledge 

COM

N 3517 

COMN 

3550 

COMN 

3551 

COM

N 3590 

COM

N 3591 

COMN 

3700 

COM

N 3701 

COMN 

3712 

COM

N 3713 

COMN 

3725 

COMN 

3729 

Integrate 

appropriate 

communicati

on and media 

theories and 

conceptual 

frameworks 

with critical 

analyses of 

key historical 

and current 

case studies, 

practices, 

policies 

and/or 

institutions of 

media and 

communicati

on in Canada 

and 

internationall

y.  

D: 

Develo

p 

Not 

applicab

le to the 

course 

 

 

 

I: 

Introdu

ce 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

D: 

Develo

p 

Not 

applicab

le to the 

course 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

Not 

applicab

le to the 

course 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 



Program Learning Outcomes Courses 3000 Level Continued 

Application of Knowledge COMN 

 3750 

COMN 

3751 

COMN 

 3770 

COMN 

 3781 

COMN  

3900 

Integrate appropriate 

communication and media 

theories and conceptual 

frameworks with critical analyses 

of key historical and current case 

studies, practices, policies and/or 

institutions of media and 

communication in Canada and 

internationally.  

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

Program 

Learning 

Outcomes 

Courses 4000 Level 

Application 

of Knowledge 

COMN 

4115 

COMN 

4130 

COMN 

4201 

COMN 

4202 

COMN 

4204 

COMN 

4206 

COMN 

4210 

COMN 

4212 

COMN  

4214 

COMN 

4217 

COMN  

4222 

Integrate 

appropriate 

communicatio

n and media 

theories and 

conceptual 

frameworks 

with critical 

analyses of 

key historical 

and current 

case studies, 

practices, 

policies and/or 

institutions of 

media and 

A: 

Achieve

/ 

Assess 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

A: 

Achieve

/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve

/ 

Assess 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

A: 

Achieve

/ 

Assess 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

A: 

Achieve

/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve

/ 

Assess 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 



Program 

Learning 

Outcomes 

Courses 4000 Level 

Application 

of Knowledge 

COMN 

4115 

COMN 

4130 

COMN 

4201 

COMN 

4202 

COMN 

4204 

COMN 

4206 

COMN 

4210 

COMN 

4212 

COMN  

4214 

COMN 

4217 

COMN  

4222 

communicatio

n in Canada 

and 

internationally

.  

Program 

Learning 

Outcomes 

Courses 4000 Level Continued 

Application 

of 

Knowledge 

COMN 

4270 

COMN 

4275 

COMN 

4306 

COMN 

4327 

COMN 

4505 

COMN 

4507 

COMN 

4520 

COMN 

4703 

COMN 

4707 

COMN 

4708 

COMN 

4721 

Integrate 

appropriate 

communicatio

n and media 

theories and 

conceptual 

frameworks 

with critical 

analyses of 

key historical 

and current 

case studies, 

practices, 

policies 

and/or 

institutions of 

media and 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

 

 

Not 

applicabl

e to the 

course 

 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Program 

Learning 

Outcomes 

Courses 4000 Level Continued 

Application 

of 

Knowledge 

COMN 

4270 

COMN 

4275 

COMN 

4306 

COMN 

4327 

COMN 

4505 

COMN 

4507 

COMN 

4520 

COMN 

4703 

COMN 

4707 

COMN 

4708 

COMN 

4721 

communicatio

n in Canada 

and 

internationally

.  

Program Learning 

Outcomes 

Courses 4000 Level Continued 

Application of 

Knowledge 

COMN 

4725 

COMN 

4726 

COMN 

4740 

COMN 

4741 

COMN 

4742 

COMN 

4750 

COMN 

4755 

Integrate appropriate 

communication and media 

theories and conceptual 

frameworks with critical 

analyses of key historical 

and current case studies, 

practices, policies and/or 

institutions of media and 

communication in Canada 

and internationally.  

D: 

Develop 

D: 

Develop 

D: 

Develop 

D: 

Develop 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

D: 

Develop 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 



Communication Skills  

Courses 1000-2000 Level  

 

Program 

Learning 

Outcomes 

Courses 1000-2000 Level 

Communica

tion Skills  

 

COMN 

1000 

COMN 

1001 

COMN 

1401 

COMN 

1410 

COMN 

1425 

COMN 

2100 

COMN 

2111 

COM

N 

2150 

COMN 

2200 

COMN 

2500 

COMN 

2700 

COMN 

2830 

Produce 

effective 

communicati

on skills in a 

range of 

academic 

and/or non-

academic 

formats, and 

for diverse 

audiences, 

with an 

awareness of 

the 

possibilities 

and limits of 

different 

media 

technologies 

and formats 

I: 

Introdu

ce 

 

I: 

Introdu

ce 

 

I: 

Introdu

ce 

 

I: 

Introdu

ce 

 

I: 

Introdu

ce 

I: 

Introdu

ce 

 

I: 

Introdu

ce 

 

D: 

Devel

op 

 

I: 

Introdu

ce 

 

I: 

Introdu

ce 

 

I: 

Introdu

ce 

 

I: 

Introdu

ce 

 

Courses 3000 Level  

 



Program Learning Outcomes Courses 3000 Level 

Communication Skills COMN 

3101 

COMN 

3111 

COMN 

3112 

COMN 

3151 

COMN 

3204 

COMN 

3210 

COMN 

3252 

COMN 

3510 

COMN 

3511 

Produce effective communication 

skills in a range of academic and/or 

non-academic formats, and for diverse 

audiences, with an awareness of the 

possibilities and limits of different 

media technologies and formats 

D: 

Develop 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A:  

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

D: 

Develop 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

D: 

Develop 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

Program 

Learning 

Outcomes 

Courses 3000 Level Continued 

Communication 

Skills 

COMN 

3517 

COMN 

3550 

COMN 

3551 

COMN 

3590 

COMN 

3591 

COMN 

3700 

COMN 

3701 

COMN 

3712 

COMN 

3713 

COMN 

3725 

COMN 

3729 

Produce effective 

communication 

skills in a range of 

academic and/or 

non-academic 

formats, and for 

diverse audiences, 

with an awareness 

of the possibilities 

and limits of 

different media 

technologies and 

formats 

D: 

Develop 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

Program Learning Outcomes Courses 3000 Level Continued 

Communication Skills COMN 

3750 

COMN 

3751 

COMN 

3770 

COMN 

3781 

COMN 

3900 

Produce effective communication 

skills in a range of academic 

and/or non-academic formats, and 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

D: 

Develop 

 

D: 

Develop 

 



Program Learning Outcomes Courses 3000 Level Continued 

Communication Skills COMN 

3750 

COMN 

3751 

COMN 

3770 

COMN 

3781 

COMN 

3900 

for diverse audiences, with an 

awareness of the possibilities and 

limits of different media 

technologies and formats 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Program 

Learning 

Outcomes 

Courses 4000 Level 

Communicatio

n Skills 

COMN 

4115 

COMN 

4130 

COMN 

4201 

COMN 

4202 

COMN 

4204 

COMN 

4206 

COMN 

4210 

COMN 

4212 

COMN 

4214 

COMN 

4217 

COMN 

4222 

Produce 

effective 

communication 

skills in a range 

of academic 

and/or non-

academic 

formats, and for 

diverse 

audiences, with 

an awareness of 

the possibilities 

and limits of 

different media 

technologies 

and formats 

A: 

Achieve

/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve

/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve

/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve

/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve

/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve

/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve

/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve

/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve

/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve

/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve

/ 

Assess 

 

 



Courses 4000 Level  

 

 

Program 

Learning 

Outcomes 

Courses 4000 Level Continued 

Communicati

on Skills 

COMN 

4270 

COMN 

4275 

COMN 

4306 

COMN 

4327 

COMN 

4505 

COMN 

4507 

COMN 

4520 

COMN 

4703 

COMN 

4707 

COMN 

4708 

COMN 

4721 

Produce 

effective 

communication 

skills in a 

range of 

academic 

and/or non-

academic 

formats, and 

for diverse 

audiences, with 

an awareness 

of the 

possibilities 

and limits of 

different media 

technologies 

and formats 

I: 

Introduc

e 

 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

 

Program Learning 

Outcomes 

Courses 4000 Level Continued 

Communication Skills COMN 

4725 

COMN 

4726 

COMN 

4740 

COMN 

4741 

COMN 

4742 

COMN 

4750 

COMN 

4755 

Produce effective 

communication skills in a 

range of academic and/or non-

academic formats, and for 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 



Program Learning 

Outcomes 

Courses 4000 Level Continued 

Communication Skills COMN 

4725 

COMN 

4726 

COMN 

4740 

COMN 

4741 

COMN 

4742 

COMN 

4750 

COMN 

4755 

diverse audiences, with an 

awareness of the possibilities 

and limits of different media 

technologies and formats 

Awareness of Limits of Knowledge  

Courses 1000-2000 Level  

 

Program 

Learning 

Outcomes 

Courses 1000-2000 Level 

Awareness 

of Limits 

of 

Knowledg

e  

 

COMN 

1000 

COMN 

1001 

COM

N 

1401 

COMN 

1410 

COMN 

1425 

COMN 

2100 

COMN 

2111 

COMN 

2150 

COMN 

2200 

COMN 

2500 

COMN 

2700 

COMN 

2830 

Identify the 

limits of 

current 

knowledge 

and 

approaches 

to media 

and 

communica

tion and 

the ways in 

which 

communica

tion and 

media 

I: 

Introd

uce 

 

 

 

 

I: 

Introd

uce 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Devel

op 

 

 

 

 

I: 

Introd

uce 

 

 

 

 

I: 

Introd

uce 

I: 

Introd

uce 

 

I: 

Introd

uce 

 

 

 

 

 

I: 

Introd

uce 

I: 

Introd

uce 

 

 

 

 

 

I: 

Introd

uce 

 

 

 

 

 

I: 

Introd

uce 

 

I: 

Introd

uce 



practices 

are 

structured 

through 

relations of 

power 

locally, 

nationally 

and 

internation

ally. 

Courses 3000 Level  

 

Program Learning Outcomes Courses 3000 Level 

Awareness of Limits of 

Knowledge  

 

COMN 

3101 

COMN 

3111 

COMN 

3112 

COMN 

3151 

COMN 

3204 

COMN 

3210 

COMN 

3252 

COMN 

3510 

COMN 

3511 

Identify the limits of current 

knowledge and approaches to 

media and communication and 

the ways in which communication 

and media practices are structured 

through relations of power 

locally, nationally and 

internationally. 

D: 

Develop 

D: 

Develop 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

D: 

Develop 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

Program 

Learning 

Outcomes 

Courses 3000 Level Continued 

Awareness of 

Limits of 

Knowledge  

 

COMN 

3517 

COMN 

3550 

COMN 

3551 

COMN 

3590 

COMN 

3591 

COMN 

3700 

COMN 

3701 

COMN 

3712 

COMN 

3713 

COMN 

3725 

COMN 

3729 



Identify the 

limits of 

current 

knowledge 

and 

approaches to 

media and 

communicatio

n and the ways 

in which 

communicatio

n and media 

practices are 

structured 

through 

relations of 

power locally, 

nationally and 

internationally

. 

D: 

Develo

p 

D: 

Develo

p 

D: 

Develo

p 

D: 

Develo

p 

D: 

Develo

p 

D: 

Develo

p 

D: 

Develo

p 

Not 

applicabl

e to the 

course 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

A: 

Achieve

/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve

/ 

Assess 

 

Program Learning Outcomes Courses 3000 Level Continued 

Awareness of Limits of 

Knowledge  

 

COMN 

3750 

COMN 

3751 

COMN 

3770 

COMN 

3781 

COMN 

3900 

Identify the limits of current 

knowledge and approaches to media 

and communication and the ways in 

which communication and media 

practices are structured through 

relations of power locally, nationally 

and internationally. 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

D: 

Develop 

D: 

Develop 

Courses 4000 Level  

 



Program 

Learning 

Outcomes 

Courses 4000 Level 

Awareness of 

Limits of 

Knowledge  

COMN 

4115 

COMN 

4130 

COMN 

4201 

COMN 

4202 

COMN 

4204 

COMN 

4206 

COMN 

4210 

COMN 

4212 

COMN 

4214 

COMN 

4217 

COMN 

4222 

Identify the 

limits of 

current 

knowledge 

and 

approaches to 

media and 

communicatio

n and the 

ways in 

which 

communicatio

n and media 

practices are 

structured 

through 

relations of 

power locally, 

nationally and 

internationall

y. 

D: 

Develo

p 

D: 

Develo

p 

A: 

Achieve

/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve

/ 

Assess 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

A: 

Achieve

/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve

/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve

/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve

/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve

/ 

Assess 

 

 

Not 

applicabl

e to the 

course 

Program 

Learning 

Outcomes 

 

Courses 4000 Level 



Awareness 

of Limits of 

Knowledge  

 

COMN 

4270 

COMN 

4275 

COMN 

4306 

COMN 

4327 

COMN 

4505 

COMN 

4507 

COMN 

4520 

COMN 

4703 

COM

N 4707 

COMN 

4708 

COM

N 

4721 

Identify the 

limits of 

current 

knowledge 

and 

approaches to 

media and 

communicati

on and the 

ways in 

which 

communicati

on and media 

practices are 

structured 

through 

relations of 

power 

locally, 

nationally 

and 

internationall

y. 

Not 

applicabl

e to the 

course 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

I: 

Introduc

e 

 

 

 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

D: 

Develo

p 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

Program Learning Outcomes 

 

Courses 4000 Level 

Awareness of Limits of Knowledge  

 

COMN 

4725 

COMN 

4726 

COMN  

4740 

COMN 

4741 

COMN 

4742 

COMN 

4750 

COMN 

4755 



 

 

 

Identify the limits of current knowledge and 

approaches to media and communication and the 

ways in which communication and media practices 

are structured through relations of power locally, 

nationally and internationally. 

D: 

Develop 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

D: 

Develop 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 



 
 

  

Autonomy 

& 

Profession

al 

Capacity  

 

COMN 

1000 

COMN 

1001 

COMN 

1401 

COM

N 1410 

COM

N 

1425 

COMN 

2100 

COMN 

2111 

COM

N 

2150 

COMN 

2200 

COMN 

2500 

COMN 

2700 

COMN 

2830 

 Deploy 

ethical 

awareness, 

initiative 

and 

accountabi

lity in 

assessing 

and 

employing 

communic

ation and 

media 

practices, 

uses and 

technologi

es, in both 

personal 

and group 

contexts.  

 

Not 

applica

ble to 

the 

course 

I: 

Introd

uce 

Not 

applica

ble to 

the 

course 

I: 

Introd

uce 

I: 

Introd

uce 

Not 

applica

ble to 

the 

course 

Not 

applica

ble to 

the 

course 

I: 

Introd

uce 

Not 

applica

ble to 

the 

course 

Not 

applica

ble to 

the 

course 

Not 

applica

ble to 

the 

course 

 

Not 

applica

ble to 

the 

course 

 

Acquire 

transferrab

le critical 

and 

profession

al skills for 

academic 

and 

profession

al careers 

Not 

applica

ble to 

the 

course 

Not 

applica

ble to 

the 

course 

I: 

Introd

uce 

I: 

Introd

uce 

 

I: 

Introd

uce 

I: 

Introd

uce 

I: 

Introd

uce 

I: 

Introd

uce 

I: 

Introd

uce 

I: 

Introd

uce 

I: 

Introd

uce 

 

 

Not 

applica

ble to 

the 

course 

 



 

Autonomy & Professional Capacity  

Courses 1000-2000 Level  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



  

 

Courses 3000 Level  

 

Program Learning 

Outcomes 

Courses 3000 Level 

Autonomy and 

Professional Capacity 

COMN 

3101 

COMN 

3111 

COMN 

3112 

COMN 

3151 

COMN 

3204 

COMN 

3210 

COMN 

3252 

COMN 

3510 

COMN 

3511 

Deploy ethical awareness, 

initiative and 

accountability in 

assessing and employing 

communication and 

media practices, uses and 

technologies, in both 

personal and group 

contexts.; 

Not 

applicable 

to the 

course 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

D: 

Develop 

D: 

Develop 

D: 

Develop 

I: 

Introduce 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

Acquire transferrable 

critical and professional 

skills for academic and 

professional careers in 

communication and 

media in a wide variety of 

industries and contexts 

(public, corporate, not-

for-profit, advocacy).   

Not 

applicable 

to the 

course 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

D: 

Develop 

D: 

Develop 

D: 

Develop 

I: 

Introduce 

D: 

Develop 

Program 

Learning 

Outcomes 

Courses 3000 Level Continued 

Autonomy 

and 

COM

N 

3517 

COMN 

3550 

COMN 

3551 

COM

N 

3590 

COMN 

3591 

COM

N 

3700 

COM

N 

3701 

COMN 

3712 

COMN 

3713 

COM

N 

3725 

COMN 

3729 

 



Professional 

Capacity 

Deploy 

ethical 

awareness, 

initiative and 

accountabilit

y in 

assessing 

and 

employing 

communicati

on and 

media 

practices, 

uses and 

technologies, 

in both 

personal and 

group 

contexts.; 

D: 

Develo

p 

Not 

applicab

le to the 

course 

Not 

applicab

le to the 

course 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

 

Not 

applicab

le to the 

course 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

Acquire 

transferrable 

critical and 

professional 

skills for 

academic 

and 

professional 

careers in 

communicati

on and 

media in a 

wide variety 

of industries 

D: 

Develo

p 

Not 

applicab

le to the 

course 

Not 

applicab

le to the 

course 

D: 

Develo

p 

I: 

Introduc

e 

D: 

Develo

p 

D: 

Develo

p 

Not 

applicab

le to the 

course 

Not 

applicab

le to the 

course 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

 

Not 

applicab

le to the 

course 



 

 

 

 

 

Courses 4000 Level  

 

Program 

Learning 

Outcomes 

Courses 4000 Level 

Autonomy 

and 

Professional 

Capacity 

COMN 

4115 

COMN 

4130 

COMN 

4201 

COMN 

4202 

COMN 

4204 

COMN 

4206 

COMN 

4210 

COMN 

4212 

COM

N 

4214 

COMN 

4217 

COMN 

4222 

 

and contexts 

(public, 

corporate, 

not-for-

profit, 

advocacy).   

Program Learning Outcomes Courses 3000 Level Continued 

Autonomy and Professional Capacity COMN 

3750 

COMN 

3751 

 

COMN 

3770 

 

COMN 

3781 

COMN 

3900 

Deploy ethical awareness, initiative and accountability in 

assessing and employing communication and media practices, 

uses and technologies, in both personal and group contexts.; 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

Not 

applicable 

to the 

course 

D: 

Develop 

Acquire transferrable critical and professional skills for 

academic and professional careers in communication and media 

in a wide variety of industries and contexts (public, corporate, 

not-for-profit, advocacy).   

Not applicable 

to the course 

Not applicable 

to the course 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

I: 

Introduce 

D: 

Develop 



            

Deploy 

ethical 

awareness, 

initiative and 

accountabilit

y in 

assessing 

and 

employing 

communicati

on and media 

practices, 

uses and 

technologies, 

in both 

personal and 

group 

contexts.; 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

 

D: 

Develo

p 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

D: 

Develo

p 

Not 

applicab

le to the 

course 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

D: 

Develo

p 

D: 

Develop 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

Acquire 

transferrable 

critical and 

professional 

skills for 

academic 

and 

professional 

careers in 

communicati

on and media 

in a wide 

variety of 

industries 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

 

Not 

applicab

le to the 

course 

Not 

applicab

le to the 

course 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

 

D: 

Develop 

Not 

applicab

le to the 

course 

D: 

Develo

p 

I: 

Introdu

ce 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

 



and contexts 

(public, 

corporate, 

not-for-

profit, 

advocacy).   

 

Program 

Learning 

Outcomes 

Courses 4000 Level Continued 

Autonomy 

and 

Professional 

Capacity 

COMN 

4270 

COMN 

4275 

COMN 

4306 

COMN 

4327 

 

COMN 

4505 

COMN 

4507 

COMN 

4520 

COMN 

4703 

COMN 

4707 

COM

N 

4708 

COMN 

4721 

 

Deploy 

ethical 

awareness, 

initiative and 

accountabilit

y in 

assessing and 

employing 

communicati

on and media 

practices, 

uses and 

technologies, 

in both 

personal and 

group 

contexts.; 

I: 

Introdu

ce 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

I: 

Introduc

e 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

Not 

applicab

le to the 

course 

D: 

Develo

p 

Not 

applicab

le to the 

course 

Acquire 

transferrable 

critical and 

professional 

I: 

Introdu

ce 

 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

Not 

applicab

le to the 

course 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achiev

e/ 

Assess 

Not 

applicab

le to the 

course 

D: 

Develo

p 

Not 

applicab

le to the 

course 



skills for 

academic and 

professional 

careers in 

communicati

on and media 

in a wide 

variety of 

industries 

and contexts 

(public, 

corporate, 

not-for-

profit, 

advocacy).   

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Program Learning Outcomes Courses 4000 Level Continued 

Autonomy and Professional Capacity COMN 

4725 

COMN 

4726 

 

COMN 

4740 

 

COMN 

4741 

 

COMN 

4742 

COMN 

4750 

COMN 

4755 

Deploy ethical awareness, initiative and 

accountability in assessing and employing 

communication and media practices, uses 

and technologies, in both personal and 

group contexts.; 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

Not 

applicable 

to the 

course 

D: 

Develop 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

Not 

applicable 

to the 

course 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

Acquire transferrable critical and 

professional skills for academic and 

professional careers in communication and 

media in a wide variety of industries and 

contexts (public, corporate, not-for-profit, 

advocacy).   

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

 

 

 

Not 

applicable 

to the 

course 

 

 

 

 

Not 

applicable 

to the 

course 

 

 

 

 

Not 

applicable 

to the 

course 

 

 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

 

 

Not 

applicable 

to the 

course 

Not 

applicable 

to the 

course 

 



 Depth and Breadth of Knowledge 

 Courses 1000-2000 Level  
 

 

3000 Level Courses 

Program Learning Outcomes Courses 1000-2000 Level 
Depth and Breadth of Knowledge  
 
 

COM
N 

1000 

COMN 
1001 

COMN 
1401 

COMN 
1410 

COMN 
1425 

COMN 
2100 

COMN 
2111 

COMN 
2150 

COMN 
2200 

COMN 
2500 

COMN 
2700 

COMN 
2830 

Demonstrate an understanding of the 
socio-cultural, political economic, 
technological and environmental roles 
played by communication and media in 
local and global contexts.  

I: 
Intro
duce 

 

 

I: 
Introduce 

 
 

I: 
Introduce 

 
 

I: 
Introduce 

 
 

I: 
Introduce 

 

I: 
Introduce 

 

I: 
Introduce 

 
 

I: 
Introduce 

 
 

I: 
Introduce 

 
 

I: 
Introduce 

 
 

I: 
Introduce 

 
 

I: 
Introduce 

 
 

Identify and explain relevant historical 
and contemporary approaches to, 
issues and debates in communication 
and media studies, including critical, 
ethical and social justice-oriented 
perspectives.    

I: 
Intro

duce 
 
 

 
 
 
 

I: 
Introduce 

 
 
 

 
 
 

I: 
Introduce 

 
 
 

 
 
 

I: 
Introduce 

 
 
 

 
 
 

I: 
Introduce 

 
 
 

 

D: 
Develop 

 

I: 
Introduce 

 
 
 

 
 
 

I: 
Introduce 

I: 
Introduce 

 
 
 

 
 
 

I: 
Introduce 

 
 
 

 
 
 

I: 
Introduce 

 
 
 

 
 
 

I: 
Introduce 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Program Learning Outcomes Courses 3000 Level 

Depth and Breadth of Knowledge  
 

COMN 

3101 

COMN 

3111 

COMN 

3112 

COMN 

3151 

COMN 

3204 

COMN 

3210 

COMN 

3252 

COMN 

3510 

COMN 

3511 

Demonstrate an understanding of the 
socio-cultural, political economic, 
technological and environmental roles 
played by communication and media in 
local and global contexts 

D:  
Develop 

 
 
 

D:  
Develop 

 
 
 

D: 
Develop 

 
 
 

D: 
Develop 

 
 
 

A: 
Achieve/Assess 

 
 
 

A: 
Achieve/Assess 

 
 
 

A: 
Achieve/Assess 

 
 
 

D: 
Develop 

 
 
 

D: 
Develop 

 
 
 

Appendix B
Curriculum Map: Bachelor of Arts in Communication Studies



 

 

 

Program Learning Outcomes Courses 3000 Level 

Depth and Breadth of Knowledge  
 

COMN 

3101 

COMN 

3111 

COMN 

3112 

COMN 

3151 

COMN 

3204 

COMN 

3210 

COMN 

3252 

COMN 

3510 

COMN 

3511 

Identify key issues and debates in the field 
in consideration of, for example, 
communication ethics, human rights and 
social justice; or social relations such as 
class, gender and race in the use and 
development of media and technology. 

D: 
Develop 

 
 
 

D: 
Develop 

 
 
 

Not 
applicable 

to the 
course 

 

 

A: 
Achieve/Assess 

 
 
 

D: 
Develop 

 
 
 

A: 
Achieve/Assess 

 
 
 

A: 
Achieve/Assess 

 
 
 

D: 
Develop 

 
 
 

D: 
Develop 

 
 
 

Program Learning Outcomes Courses 3000 Level Continued 

Depth and Breadth of 

Knowledge 

COMN 

3517 

COMN 

3550 

COMN 

3551 

COMN 

 3590 

COMN 

3591 

COMN 

3700 

COMN 

3701 

COMN 

 3712 

COMN  

3713 

COMN 

 3725 

COMN 

 3729 

Demonstrate an understanding of the 
socio-cultural, political economic, 
technological and environmental roles 
played by communication and media 
in local and global contexts; 

D: 
Develop 

 
 

 
 
 

 

I: 
Introduce 

 
 

 
 
 

 

D: 
Develop 

 
 

 
 
 

 

A: 
Achieve/ 

Assess 
 

 
 
 

 

D: 
Develop 

 
 

 
 
 

 

D: 
Develop 

 
 

 
 
 

 

D: 
Develop 

 
 

 
 
 

 

D: 
Develop 

 
 

 
 
 

 

D: 
Develop 

 
 

 
 
 

 

A: 
Achieve/Assess 

 
 

 
 
 

A: 
Achieve/ 

Assess 
 

 
 
 

 

Identify key issues and debates in the 
field in consideration of, for example, 
communication ethics, human rights 
and social justice; or social relations 
such as class, gender and race in the 
use and development of media and 
technology. 

D: 
Develop 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

D: 
Develop 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

D: 
Develop 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

A: 
Achieve/ 

Assess 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

D: 
Develop 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

D: 
Develop 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

D: 
Develop 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

I: 
Introduce 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

I: 
Introduce 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

D: 
Develop 

 
 
 

 
 

 

A: 
Achieve/ 

Assess 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 



 

Courses 4000 Level

Program Learning Outcomes Courses 3000 Level Continued 

Depth and Breadth of 

Knowledge 

COMN 

3750 

COMN 

3751 

COMN 

3770 

COMN 

3781 

COMN 

3900 
Demonstrate an understanding of the 
socio-cultural, political economic, 
technological and environmental roles 
played by communication and media in 
local and global contexts; 

A: 
Achieve/ 

Assess 
 
 

A: 
Achieve/ 

Assess 
 
 

A: 
Achieve/ 

Assess 
 
 

D: 
Develop 

 
 
 

D: 
Develop 

 
 
 

Identify key issues and debates in the 
field in consideration of, for example, 
communication ethics, human rights 
and social justice; or social relations 
such as class, gender and race in the 
use and development of media and 
technology 

A: 
Achieve/ 

Assess 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Not applicable 
to the course 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

A: 
Achieve/ 

Assess 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

D: 
Develop 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

D: 
Develop 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Program Learning Outcomes Courses 4000 Level 

Depth and Breadth of 

Knowledge 

COMN 

4115 

COMN 

4130 

COMN 

4201 

COMN 4202 COMN 

4204 

COMN 

4206 

COMN 

4210 

COMN 

4212 

COMN 

4214 

COMN 

4217 

COMN 

4222 

Demonstrate an understanding of the 
socio-cultural, political economic, 
technological and environmental roles 
played by communication and media in 
local and global contexts; 

A: 

Achieve/ 
Assess 

 
 

D: 

Develop 
 
 
 

A: 

Achieve/
Assess 

 
 

A: 

Achieve/ 
Assess 

 
 

A: 

Achieve/As
sess 

 
 

A: 

Achieve/As
sess 

 
 

A: 

Achieve/ 
Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 
Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 
Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 
Assess 

D: 

Develop 
 
 

Identify key issues and debates in the 
field in consideration of, for example, 
communication ethics, human rights 
and social justice; or social relations 
such as class, gender and race in the 
use and development of media and 
technology. 

Not 
applicable 

to the 

course 
 
 
 

 

A: 
Achieve/

Assess 

 
 
 
 

 

A: 
Achieve/

Assess 

 
 
 
 

 

A: Achieve/ 
Assess 

 

 
 
 
 

A: 
Achieve/As

sess 

 
 
 
 

 

A: 
Achieve/As

sess 

 
 
 
 

 

A: Achieve/ 
Assess 

 

 
 
 
 

A: Achieve/ 
Assess 

 

A: 
Achieve/ 

Assess 

D: 
Develop 

 

 
 
 
 

 

A: 
Achieve/ 

Assess 

 
 
 
 

 



Program Learning Outcomes Courses 4000 Level Continued 

Depth and Breadth of 

Knowledge 

COMN 
4270 

COMN 
4275 

COMN 
4306 

COMN 
4327 

COMN 
4505 

COMN 
4507 

COMN 
4520 

COMN 4703 COMN 4707 COMN  
4708 

COMN 
4721 

Demonstrate an understanding of the 
socio-cultural, political economic, 
technological and environmental roles 
played by communication and media in 
local and global contexts; 

A: 

Achiev
e/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/As
sess 

A: 

Achieve/
Assess 

 

 
 

D: 

Develop 
 
 

 
 

A: 

Achieve/
Assess 

 

 
 

A: 

Achieve
/Assess 

 

 
 

I: 

Introduce 
 
 

 
 

D: 

Develop 
 
 

 
 

A: 

Achieve/ 
Assess 

 

 
 

A: 

Achieve/
Assess 

 

 
 

I: 

Introduce 
 
 

 
 

Identify key issues and debates in the 
field in consideration of, for example, 
communication ethics, human rights 
and social justice; or social relations 
such as class, gender and race in the 
use and development of media and 
technology. 

D: 
Develo

p 

A: 
Achieve/As

sess 

A: 
Achieve/

Assess 

A: 
Achieve

/ 
Assess 

A: 
Achieve/

Assess 

A: 
Achieve

/Assess 

Not 
applicable 

to the 
course 

A: 
Achieve/ 

Assess 

D: 
Develop 

 
 
 
 

A: 
Achieve/

Assess 

I: 
Introduce 

 
 
 
 

Program Learning Outcomes Courses 4000 Level Continued  

Depth and Breadth of 

Knowledge 

COMN 

4725 

COMN 

4726 

COMN 

4740 

COMN 

4741 

COMN 

4742 

COMN  

4750 

COMN 

4755 

Demonstrate an understanding of the 
socio-cultural, political economic, 
technological and environmental 
roles played by communication and 
media in local and global contexts 

D: 

Develop 
 

A: 

Achieve/ 
Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 
Assess 

 
 

A: 

Achieve/ 
Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 
Assess 

D: 

Develop 

A: 

Achieve/ 
Assess 

 

Identify key issues and debates in the 
field in consideration of, for example, 
communication ethics, human rights 
and social justice; or social relations 
such as class, gender and race in the 
use and development of media and 
technology 

A: 
Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 
Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

A: 
Achieve/ 

Asses 

A: 
Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 
Achieve/ 

Assess 

D: 
Develop 

A: 
Achieve/ 

Assess 



Knowledge of Methodologies  

Courses 1000-2000 Level 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Program Learning 

Outcomes 
Courses 1000-2000 Level 

Knowledge of 

Methodologies 

COMN 
1000 

COMN 
1001 

COMN 
1401 

COMN 
1410 

COMN 
1425 

COMN 
2100 

COMN 
2111 

COMN 
2150 

COMN 
2200 

COMN 
2500 

COMN 
2700 

COMN 
2830 

Identify a variety of 
qualitative and 

quantitative research 
methodologies relevant 

to the complex study of 
communication and 
media in course-led 

projects.  

I: 
Introduce 

 
 
 
 

 

I: 
Introduce 

 
 
 
 

 

I: 
Introduce 

 
 
 
 

 

I: 
Introduce 

 
 
 
 

 

I: 
Introduce 

 

Not 
applicable 

to the 
course 

 
 

 

Not 
applicable 

to the 
course 

 
 

 

I: 
Introduce 

 
 

Not 
applicable 

to the 
course 

 
 

 

Not 
applicable 

to the 
course 

 
 

 
 
 

Not 
applicable 

to the 
course 

 
 

 
 

Not 
applicable 

to the 
course 

 
 

 
 
 



Courses 3000 Level  
 

Program Learning Outcomes Courses 3000 Level 
Knowledge of Methodologies COMN 3101 COMN 3111 COMN 

3112 
COMN 3151 COMN 

3204 
COMN 
3210 

COMN 3252 COMN 
3510 

COMN  
3511 

Identify a variety of qualitative and 

quantitative research methodologies 
relevant to the complex study of 

communication and media in course-led 
projects.  

Not applicable 

to the course 
 
 

D: Develop 

 
 
 

D: 

Develop 
 
 

 

A: 

Achieve/Assess 
 
 

D: 

Develop 
 
 

 

D: 

Develop 

Not 

applicable 
to the 
course 

 

D: 

Develop 
 
 

 

D: 

Develop 
 
 

 

 

Program Learning Outcomes Courses 3000 Level Continued 

Knowledge of Methodologies COMN 

3517 

COMN 3550 COMN 3551 COMN 

3590 

COMN 

3591 

COMN 

3700 

COMN 

3701 

COMN 

3712 

COMN 

3713 

COMN 

3725 

COMN 

3729 

Identify a variety of qualitative and 
quantitative research methodologies 

relevant to the complex study of 
communication and media in course-
led projects.  

D: 
Develop 

 

 
 
 
 

 

Not 
applicable to 

the course 

 
 
 
 

 

Not 
applicable to 

the course 

D: 
Develop 

 

 
 
 
 

 

I: 
Introduce 

 

 
 
 
 

 

D: 
Develop 

 

 
 
 
 

 

D: 
Develop 

 

 
 
 
 

 

D: 
Develop 

 

 
 
 
 

 

D: 
Develop 

 

 
 
 
 

 

A: 
Achieve/ 

Assess 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

A: 
Achieve/ 

Assess 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

Program Learning Outcomes Courses 3000 Level Continued 

Knowledge of Methodologies COMN 
3750 

COMN 
3751 

COMN 
3770 

COMN 
3781 

COMN 
3900 

Identify a variety of qualitative and 
quantitative research methodologies 

relevant to the complex study of 
communication and media in course-led 

projects.  

D: 
Develop 

 
 
 
 

A: 
Achieve/ 

Assess 
 
 
 

 

D: 
Develop 

 
 
 
 

D: 
Develop 

 
 
 
 

D: 
Develop 

 
 

 

Courses 4000 Level  
 
Program Learning Outcomes Courses 4000 Level 

Knowledge of Methodologies COMN 

4115 

COMN 

4130 

COMN 

4201 

COMN 

4202 

COMN 

4204 

COMN 

4206 

COMN 

4210 

COMN 

4212 

COMN 

4214 

COMN 

4217 

COMN 

4222 



Program Learning Outcomes Courses 4000 Level 

Knowledge of Methodologies COMN 

4115 

COMN 

4130 

COMN 

4201 

COMN 

4202 

COMN 

4204 

COMN 

4206 

COMN 

4210 

COMN 

4212 

COMN 

4214 

COMN 

4217 

COMN 

4222 

Identify a variety of qualitative 

and quantitative research 
methodologies relevant to the 

complex study of communication 
and media in course-led projects.  

D: 

Develop 
 
 

 
 
 

A: 

Achieve/ 
Assess 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develop 
 
 

 
 
 

A: 

Achieve/ 
Assess 

 

 
 
 

I: 

Introduce 
 
 

 
 
 

Not 

applicable 
to the 
course 

 
 
 

D: 

Develop 
 
 

 
 
 

Not 

applicable 
to the 
course 

 
 
 

D: 

Develop 
 
 

 
 
 

D: 

Develop 
 
 

 
 
 

I: 

Introduce 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Program Learning Outcomes Courses 4000 Level Continued 

Knowledge of Methodologies COMN 

4270 

COMN 

4275 

COMN 

4306 

COMN 

4327 

COMN 

4505 

COMN 

4507 

COMN 

4520 

COMN 

4703 

COMN 

4707 

COMN 

4708 

COMN 

4721 

Identify a variety of qualitative and 

quantitative research 
methodologies relevant to the 
complex study of communication 

and media in course-led projects.  

I: 
Introduce 

 
 

A: 
Achieve/ 

Assess 
 

A: 
Achieve/ 

Assess 
 

D: 
Develop 

 

 

A: 
Achieve/ 

Assess 
 

A: 
Achieve/ 

Assess 
 

D: 
Develop 

 

 

D: 
Develop 

 

 

A: 
Achieve/ 

Assess 
 

D: 
Develop 

 

 

D: 
Develop 

 

 

 
Program Learning Outcomes Courses 4000 Level Continued  
Knowledge of Methodologies COMN 

4725 

COMN  

4726 

COMN  

4740 

COMN  

4741 

COMN  

4742 

COMN  

4750 

COMN 

4755 

Identify a variety of qualitative 
and quantitative research 

methodologies relevant to the 
complex study of 
communication and media in 

course-led projects.  

A: 
Achieve/ 

Assess 
 

 

D: 
Develop 

 

 
 

D: 
Develop 

 
 

 

D: 
Develop 

 

 
 

A: 
Achieve/ 

Assess 

 
 
 

D: 
Develop 

 

 
 
 

A: 
Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

Application of Knowledge  
Courses 1000-2000 Level  
 
Program Learning 

Outcomes 

Courses 1000-2000 Level 

Application of 

Knowledge 

COMN 

1000 

COMN 

1001 

COMN 

1401 

COMN 

1410 

COMN 

1425 

COMN 

2100 

COMN 

2111 

COMN 

2150 

COMN 

2200 

COMN 

2500 

COMN 

2700 

COMN 

2830 



Program Learning 

Outcomes 

Courses 1000-2000 Level 

Application of 

Knowledge 

COMN 

1000 

COMN 

1001 

COMN 

1401 

COMN 

1410 

COMN 

1425 

COMN 

2100 

COMN 

2111 

COMN 

2150 

COMN 

2200 

COMN 

2500 

COMN 

2700 

COMN 

2830 

Integrate appropriate 

communication and 
media theories and 
conceptual frameworks 

with critical analyses of 
key historical and current 

case studies, practices, 
policies and/or 
institutions of media and 

communication in Canada 
and internationally.  

I: 

Introduce 
 

 

I: 

Introduce 
 

I: 

Introduce 
 

 

I: 

Introduce 
 

I: 

Introduce 

I: 

Introduce 
 

I: 

Introduce 
 

 

I: 

Introduce 

I: 

Introduce 
 

 

I: 

Introduce 
 

 
 
 

I: 

Introduce 
 

I: 

Introduce 
 

 



Course 3000 Level  
 
Program Learning Outcomes Courses 3000 Level 
Application of Knowledge COMN 

3101 

COMN 

3111 

COMN 

3112 

COMN 

3151 

COMN 

3204 

COMN 

3210 

COMN 

3252 

COMN 

3510 

COMN 

3511 

Integrate appropriate 
communication and media theories 
and conceptual frameworks with 

critical analyses of key historical 
and current case studies, practices, 
policies and/or institutions of 

media and communication in 
Canada and internationally.  

A: 

Achieve/Assess 

Not applicable 

to the course 

Not applicable 

to the course 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

D: 

Develop 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

D: 

Develop 

 
Program Learning Outcomes Courses 3000 Level Continued 
Application of Knowledge COMN 

3517 

COMN 

3550 

COMN 

3551 

COMN 

3590 

COMN 

3591 

COMN 

3700 

COMN 

3701 

COMN 

3712 

COMN 

3713 

COMN 

3725 

COMN 

3729 

Integrate appropriate 

communication and media theories 
and conceptual frameworks with 
critical analyses of key historical and 

current case studies, practices, 
policies and/or institutions of media 

and communication in Canada and 
internationally.  

D: 

Develop 

Not 

applicable 

to the 

course 

 

 

 

I: 

Introduce 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

D: 

Develop 

Not 

applicable 

to the 

course 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

Not 

applicable 

to the 

course 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

Program Learning Outcomes Courses 3000 Level Continued 

Application of Knowledge COMN 

 3750 

COMN 

3751 

COMN 

 3770 

COMN 

 3781 

COMN  

3900 

Integrate appropriate 
communication and media theories 

and conceptual frameworks with 
critical analyses of key historical and 

current case studies, practices, 
policies and/or institutions of media 
and communication in Canada and 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 



Program Learning Outcomes Courses 3000 Level Continued 

Application of Knowledge COMN 

 3750 

COMN 

3751 

COMN 

 3770 

COMN 

 3781 

COMN  

3900 

internationally.  

 

 

Program Learning Outcomes Courses 4000 Level 

Application of Knowledge COMN 

4115 

COMN 

4130 

COMN 

4201 

COMN 

4202 

COMN 

4204 

COMN 

4206 

COMN 

4210 

COMN 

4212 

COMN  

4214 

COMN 

4217 

COMN  

4222 

Integrate appropriate 

communication and media 

theories and conceptual 

frameworks with critical analyses 

of key historical and current case 

studies, practices, policies and/or 

institutions of media and 

communication in Canada and 

internationally.  

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

Program Learning Outcomes Courses 4000 Level Continued 

Application of Knowledge COMN 

4270 

COMN 

4275 

COMN 

4306 

COMN 

4327 

COMN 

4505 

COMN 

4507 

COMN 

4520 

COMN 

4703 

COMN 

4707 

COMN 

4708 

COMN 

4721 

Integrate appropriate 
communication and media 

theories and conceptual 
frameworks with critical analyses 
of key historical and current case 

studies, practices, policies and/or 
institutions of media and 

communication in Canada and 
internationally.  

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

Not 

applicable 

to the 

course 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

Program Learning 

Outcomes 
Courses 4000 Level Continued 

Application of Knowledge COMN 

4725 

COMN 

4726 

COMN 

4740 

COMN 

4741 

COMN 

4742 

COMN 

4750 

COMN 

4755 

Integrate appropriate 

communication and media 
theories and conceptual 
frameworks with critical 

analyses of key historical and 
current case studies, 

practices, policies and/or 
institutions of media and 
communication in Canada 

and internationally.  

D: 

Develop 

D: 

Develop 

D: 

Develop 

D: 

Develop 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

D: 

Develop 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 



 
 

 

 

 

 

 



Communication Skills  
Courses 1000-2000 Level  
 
Program Learning 

Outcomes 

Courses 1000-2000 Level 

Communication Skills  
 

COMN 

1000 

COMN 

1001 

COMN 

1401 

COMN 

1410 

COMN 

1425 

COMN 

2100 

COMN 

2111 

COMN 

2150 

COMN 

2200 

COMN 

2500 

COMN 

2700 

COMN 

2830 

Produce effective 

communication skills in a 
range of academic and/or 
non-academic formats, and 

for diverse audiences, with an 
awareness of the possibilities 

and limits of different media 
technologies and formats 

I: 

Introduce 

 

I: 

Introduce 

 

I: 

Introduce 

 

I: 

Introduce 

 

I: 

Introduce 

I: 

Introduce 

 

I: 

Introduce 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

I: 

Introduce 

 

I: 

Introduce 

 

I: 

Introduce 

 

I: 

Introduce 

 

Courses 3000 Level  
 
Program Learning Outcomes Courses 3000 Level 

Communication Skills COMN 3101 COMN 

3111 

COMN 

3112 

COMN 

3151 

COMN 

3204 

COMN 

3210 

COMN 

3252 

COMN 

3510 

COMN 

3511 

Produce effective communication skills in a range 
of academic and/or non-academic formats, and 

for diverse audiences, with an awareness of the 
possibilities and limits of different media 

technologies and formats 

D: 

Develop 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A:  

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

D: 

Develop 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

D: 

Develop 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 
Program Learning Outcomes Courses 3000 Level Continued 

Communication Skills COMN 

3517 

COMN 

3550 

COMN 

3551 

COMN 

3590 

COMN 

3591 

COMN 

3700 

COMN 

3701 

COMN 

3712 

COMN 

3713 

COMN 

3725 

COMN 

3729 

Produce effective communication 
skills in a range of academic and/or 

non-academic formats, and for 
diverse audiences, with an 

awareness of the possibilities and 

D: 

Develop 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 



Program Learning Outcomes Courses 3000 Level Continued 

Communication Skills COMN 

3517 

COMN 

3550 

COMN 

3551 

COMN 

3590 

COMN 

3591 

COMN 

3700 

COMN 

3701 

COMN 

3712 

COMN 

3713 

COMN 

3725 

COMN 

3729 

limits of different media 
technologies and formats 

 
Program Learning Outcomes Courses 3000 Level Continued 

Communication Skills COMN 

3750 

COMN 

3751 

COMN 

3770 

COMN 

3781 

COMN 

3900 

Produce effective communication 
skills in a range of academic and/or 

non-academic formats, and for 
diverse audiences, with an 
awareness of the possibilities and 

limits of different media 
technologies and formats 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 



Courses 4000 Level  
 
Program Learning Outcomes Courses 4000 Level 

Communication Skills COMN 

4115 

COMN 

4130 

COMN 

4201 

COMN 

4202 

COMN 

4204 

COMN 

4206 

COMN 

4210 

COMN 

4212 

COMN 

4214 

COMN 

4217 

COMN 

4222 

Produce effective communication 

skills in a range of academic and/or 

non-academic formats, and for 

diverse audiences, with an 

awareness of the possibilities and 

limits of different media 

technologies and formats 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

 
Program Learning Outcomes Courses 4000 Level Continued 

Communication Skills COMN 

4270 

COMN 

4275 

COMN 

4306 

COMN 

4327 

COMN 

4505 

COMN 

4507 

COMN 

4520 

COMN 

4703 

COMN 

4707 

COMN 

4708 

COMN 

4721 

Produce effective communication 

skills in a range of academic and/or 

non-academic formats, and for 

diverse audiences, with an 

awareness of the possibilities and 

limits of different media 

technologies and formats 

I: 

Introduce 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 
Program Learning Outcomes Courses 4000 Level Continued 

Communication Skills COMN 

4725 

COMN 

4726 

COMN 

4740 

COMN 

4741 

COMN 

4742 

COMN 

4750 

COMN 

4755 

Produce effective communication 

skills in a range of academic 

and/or non-academic formats, and 

for diverse audiences, with an 

awareness of the possibilities and 

limits of different media 

technologies and formats 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 



Awareness of Limits of Knowledge  
Courses 1000-2000 Level  
 

Program Learning 

Outcomes 

Courses 1000-2000 Level 

Awareness of Limits of 

Knowledge  
 

COMN 

1000 

COMN 

1001 

COMN 

1401 

COMN 

1410 

COMN 

1425 

COMN 

2100 

COMN 

2111 

COMN 

2150 

COMN 

2200 

COMN 

2500 

COMN 

2700 

COMN 

2830 

Identify the limits of 
current knowledge and 
approaches to media and 

communication and the 
ways in which 

communication and media 
practices are structured 
through relations of power 

locally, nationally and 
internationally. 

I: 

Introduce 

 

 

 

 

I: 

Introduce 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

 

I: 

Introduce 

 

 

 

 

I: 

Introduce 

I: 

Introduce 

 

I: 

Introduce 

 

 

 

 

 

I: 

Introduce 

I: 

Introduce 

 

 

 

 

 

I: 

Introduce 

 

 

 

 

 

I: 

Introduce 
 

I: 

Introduce 

Courses 3000 Level  
 

Program Learning Outcomes Courses 3000 Level 

Awareness of Limits of Knowledge  
 

COMN 

3101 

COMN 

3111 

COMN 

3112 

COMN 

3151 

COMN 

3204 

COMN 

3210 

COMN 

3252 

COMN 

3510 

COMN 

3511 

Identify the limits of current knowledge and 
approaches to media and communication and the 

ways in which communication and media practices 
are structured through relations of power locally, 
nationally and internationally. 

D: 

Develop 
D: 

Develop 
A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

D: 

Develop 
A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 
Program Learning Outcomes Courses 3000 Level Continued 

Awareness of Limits of Knowledge  
 

COMN 

3517 

COMN 

3550 

COMN 

3551 

COMN 

3590 

COMN 

3591 

COMN 

3700 

COMN 

3701 

COMN 

3712 

COMN 

3713 

COMN 

3725 

COMN 

3729 



Identify the limits of current 

knowledge and approaches to 
media and communication and the 
ways in which communication and 

media practices are structured 
through relations of power locally, 

nationally and internationally. 

D: 

Develop 

D: 

Develop 

D: 

Develop 

D: 

Develop 

D: 

Develop 

D: 

Develop 

D: 

Develop 

Not 

applicable 

to the 

course 

 

D: 

Develop 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 
Program Learning Outcomes Courses 3000 Level Continued 

Awareness of Limits of Knowledge  
 

COMN 

3750 

COMN 

3751 

COMN 

3770 

COMN 

3781 

COMN 

3900 

Identify the limits of current knowledge 

and approaches to media and 
communication and the ways in which 
communication and media practices are 

structured through relations of power 
locally, nationally and internationally. 

A: 
Achieve/ 

Assess 
 

A: 
Achieve/ 

Assess 
 

A: 
Achieve/ 

Assess 
 

D: 
Develop 

D: 
Develop 

Courses 4000 Level  
 
Program Learning Outcomes Courses 4000 Level 

Awareness of Limits of 

Knowledge  

COMN 

4115 

COMN 

4130 

COMN 

4201 

COMN 

4202 

COMN 

4204 

COMN 

4206 

COMN 

4210 

COMN 

4212 

COMN 

4214 

COMN 

4217 

COMN 

4222 

Identify the limits of current 

knowledge and approaches to 
media and communication and 
the ways in which 

communication and media 
practices are structured through 

relations of power locally, 
nationally and internationally. 

D: 

Develop 

D: 

Develop 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 
 

D: 

Develop 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 
 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 
 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 
 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 
 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 
 

 

Not 

applicable 

to the 

course 

Program Learning Outcomes Courses 4000 Level 



 

Autonomy & Professional Capacity  
Courses 1000-2000 Level  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Awareness of Limits of 

Knowledge  
 

COMN 

4270 

COMN 

4275 

COMN 

4306 

COMN 

4327 

COMN 

4505 

COMN 

4507 

COMN 

4520 

COMN 

4703 

COMN 

4707 

COMN 

4708 

COMN 

4721 

Identify the limits of current 
knowledge and approaches to 

media and communication and 
the ways in which 
communication and media 

practices are structured through 
relations of power locally, 

nationally and internationally. 

Not 

applicable 

to the 

course 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

I: 

Introduce 

 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

D: 

Develop 
A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

Program Learning Outcomes 

 
Courses 4000 Level 

Awareness of Limits of Knowledge  

 

COMN 

4725 

COMN 

4726 

COMN  

4740 

COMN 

4741 

COMN 

4742 

COMN 

4750 

COMN 

4755 

Identify the limits of current knowledge and approaches to media and 
communication and the ways in which communication and media 
practices are structured through relations of power locally, nationally 

and internationally. 

D: 

Develop 
A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

D: 

Develop 
A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 



  

 

Courses 3000 Level  
 
Program Learning Outcomes Courses 3000 Level 

Autonomy and Professional Capacity COMN 

3101 

COMN 

3111 

COMN 

3112 

COMN 

3151 

COMN 

3204 

COMN 

3210 

COMN 

3252 

COMN 

3510 

COMN 

3511 

Autonomy and 

Professional Capacity 

Courses 1000-2000 Level 

Autonomy & 
Professional Capacity  

 

COMN 

1000 

COMN 

1001 

COMN 

1401 

COMN 

1410 

COMN 

1425 

COMN 

2100 

COMN 

2111 

COMN 

2150 

COMN 

2200 

COMN 

2500 

COMN 

2700 

COMN 

2830 

 Deploy ethical 
awareness, initiative 
and accountability in 

assessing and 
employing 
communication and 

media practices, uses 
and technologies, in 

both personal and 
group contexts.  
 

Not 
applicable 

to the 

course 

I: 
Introduce 

Not 
applicable 

to the 

course 

I: 
Introduce 

I: 
Introduce 

Not 
applicable 

to the 

course 

Not 
applicable 

to the 

course 

I: 
Introduce 

Not 
applicable 

to the 

course 

Not 
applicable 

to the 

course 

Not 
applicable 

to the 

course 
 

Not 
applicable 

to the 

course 
 

Acquire transferrable 
critical and 
professional skills for 

academic and 
professional careers in 
communication and 

media in a wide variety 
of industries and 

contexts (public, 
corporate, not-for-
profit, advocacy).   

Not 
applicable 

to the 

course 

Not 
applicable 

to the 

course 

I: 
Introduce 

I: 
Introduce 

 

I: 
Introduce 

I: 
Introduce 

I: 
Introduce 

I: 
Introduce 

I: 
Introduce 

I: 
Introduce 

I: 
Introduce 

 

 
Not 

applicable 

to the 
course 

 



Deploy ethical awareness, initiative and 

accountability in assessing and employing 
communication and media practices, uses and 
technologies, in both personal and group 

contexts.; 

Not 

applicable to 
the course 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 
Assess 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 
Assess 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 
Assess 

D: 

Develop 

D: 

Develop 

D: 

Develop 

I: 

Introduce 
 
 

 
 

D: 

Develop 

Acquire transferrable critical and professional skills 
for academic and professional careers in 

communication and media in a wide variety of 
industries and contexts (public, corporate, not-for-

profit, advocacy).   

Not 
applicable to 

the course 

A: 
Achieve/ 

Assess 
 

A: 
Achieve/ 

Assess 
 

A: 
Achieve/ 

Assess 

D: 
Develop 

D: 
Develop 

D: 
Develop 

I: 
Introduce 

D: 
Develop 

Program Learning Outcomes Courses 3000 Level Continued 

Autonomy and Professional Capacity COMN 

3517 

COMN 

3550 

COMN 

3551 

COMN 

3590 

COMN 

3591 

COMN 

3700 

COMN 

3701 

COMN 

3712 

COMN 

3713 

COMN 

3725 

COMN 

3729 

 

Deploy ethical awareness, initiative and 

accountability in assessing and employing 
communication and media practices, uses and 
technologies, in both personal and group 

contexts.; 

D: 

Develop 
Not 

applicable 

to the 

course 

Not 

applicable 

to the 

course 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

 

Not 

applicable 

to the 

course 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develop 

 

 

 

 

 

D: 

Develop 
A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 
 

Acquire transferrable critical and professional 
skills for academic and professional careers in 

communication and media in a wide variety of 
industries and contexts (public, corporate, not-

for-profit, advocacy).   

D: 
Develop 

Not 
applicable 

to the 
course 

Not 
applicable 

to the 
course 

D: 
Develop 

I: 
Introduce 

D: 
Develop 

D: 
Develop 

Not 
applicable 

to the 
course 

Not 
applicable 

to the 
course 

A: 
Achieve/ 

Assess 
 

Not 
applicable 

to the 
course 

Program Learning Outcomes Courses 3000 Level Continued 

Autonomy and Professional Capacity COMN 

3750 

COMN 

3751 

 

COMN 

3770 

 

COMN 

3781 

COMN 

3900 



 

Courses 4000 Level  
 
Program Learning Outcomes Courses 4000 Level 

Autonomy and Professional 

Capacity 

COMN 

4115 

COMN 

4130 

COMN 

4201 

COMN 

4202 

COMN 

4204 

COMN 

4206 

COMN 

4210 

COMN 

4212 

COMN 
4214 

COMN 

4217 

COMN 

4222 

 

Deploy ethical awareness, 

initiative and accountability in 
assessing and employing 

communication and media 
practices, uses and 
technologies, in both personal 

and group contexts.; 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 
 

D: 

Develop 
A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 
 

A: Achieve/ 

Assess 
D: 

Develop 
Not 

applicable 

to the 

course 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

D: 

Develop 
D: 

Develop 
A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

Acquire transferrable critical 
and professional skills for 

academic and professional 
careers in communication and 
media in a wide variety of 

industries and contexts (public, 
corporate, not-for-profit, 

advocacy).   

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 
 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 
 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 
 

Not 

applicable 

to the 

course 

Not 

applicable 

to the 

course 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 
 

D: 

Develop 
Not 

applicable 

to the 

course 

D: 

Develop 
I: 

Introduce 
A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 
 

 
Program Learning Outcomes Courses 4000 Level Continued 

Autonomy and Professional Capacity COMN 
4270 

COMN 
4275 

COMN 
4306 

COMN 
4327 

 

COMN 
4505 

COMN 
4507 

COMN 
4520 

COMN 
4703 

COMN 
4707 

COMN 
4708 

COMN 
4721 

 

Deploy ethical awareness, initiative and accountability in assessing and employing 

communication and media practices, uses and technologies, in both personal and 
group contexts.; 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 
 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 
 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 
 

Not 

applicable 

to the 

course 

D: 

Develop 

Acquire transferrable critical and professional skills for academic and professional 
careers in communication and media in a wide variety of industries and contexts 

(public, corporate, not-for-profit, advocacy).   

Not applicable 

to the course 
Not applicable 

to the course 
A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

I: 

Introduce 
D: 

Develop 



Deploy ethical awareness, initiative and 

accountability in assessing and 
employing communication and media 
practices, uses and technologies, in both 

personal and group contexts.; 

I: 
Introduce 

A: 
Achieve/ 
Assess 

A: 
Achieve/ 
Assess 

I: 
Introduce 

A: 
Achieve/ 
Assess 

A: 
Achieve/ 
Assess 

A: 
Achieve/ 
Assess 

A: 
Achieve/ 
Assess 

Not 
applicable 

to the 
course 

D: 
Develop 

Not applicable to the 
course 

Acquire transferrable critical and 
professional skills for academic and 

professional careers in communication 
and media in a wide variety of industries 

and contexts (public, corporate, not-for-
profit, advocacy).   

I: 
Introduce 

 
 

A: 
Achieve/ 
Assess 

 
 

A: 
Achieve/ 
Assess 

 
 

Not 
applicable 

to the 
course 

 
 

A: 
Achieve/ 
Assess 

 
 

A: 
Achieve/ 
Assess 

 
 

A: 
Achieve/ 
Assess 

 
 
 

A: 
Achieve/ 
Assess 

 
 

Not 
applicable 

to the 
course 

 

D: 
Develop 

Not applicable to the 
course 

 
Program Learning Outcomes Courses 4000 Level Continued 

Autonomy and Professional Capacity COMN 

4725 

COMN 

4726 

 

COMN 

4740 

 

COMN 

4741 

 

COMN 

4742 

COMN 

4750 

COMN 

4755 

Deploy ethical awareness, initiative and 
accountability in assessing and employing 
communication and media practices, uses and 
technologies, in both personal and group contexts.; 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

Not applicable 

to the course 
D: 

Develop 
A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

Not applicable 

to the course 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

Acquire transferrable critical and professional skills 
for academic and professional careers in 
communication and media in a wide variety of 
industries and contexts (public, corporate, not-for-
profit, advocacy).   

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

 

 

 

Not applicable 

to the course 

 

 

 

 

 

Not applicable 

to the course 

 

 

 

 

 

Not applicable 

to the course 

 

 

 

 

A: 

Achieve/ 

Assess 

 

 

 

 

Not applicable 

to the course 
Not applicable 

to the course 

 





 



 
 
 

 

Appendix C 

 

Program Learning Outcomes 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 
 

A Comparative Map of BA Honours (120) and BA (90) PlOs with UDDLE 

BA Honours (120 Credit) 

 

BA (90 Degree Credit) 

 UDDLE  Program Learning 

Outcomes 

UDDLE Program Learning 

Outcomes 

1. Depth and 

Breadth of 

Knowledge  

 

a) Developed knowledge and 

critical understanding of the key 

concepts, methodologies, current 

advances, theoretical approaches 

and assumptions in a discipline 

overall, as well as in a 

specialized area of a discipline;   

b) Developed understanding of 

many of the major fields in a 

discipline, including, where 

appropriate, from an 

interdisciplinary perspective, and 

how the fields may intersect with 

fields in related disciplines;  

c) Developed ability to:   

i) gather, review, evaluate and 

interpret information; and   

ii) compare the merits of 

alternate hypotheses or creative 

options, relevant to one or more 

of the major fields in a 

discipline;  

d) Developed, detailed 

knowledge of and experience in 

1. Identify and explain 

relevant historical and 

contemporary approaches to, 

issues and debates in 

communication and media 

studies, including critical, 

ethical and social justice-

oriented perspectives.    

2.  Demonstrate an 

understanding of the socio-

cultural, political economic, 

technological and 

environmental roles played 

by communication and 

media in local and global 

contexts.  

 

  

 

a) General knowledge and  

understanding of many 

key concepts, 

methodologies, theoretical 

approaches and 

assumptions in a 

discipline;  

 

b) Broad understanding of 

some of the major fields in 

a discipline, including,  

where appropriate, from 

an interdisciplinary 

perspective, and how the 

fields may intersect with 

fields in related 

disciplines;   

 

c) Ability to gather, 

review, evaluate and 

interpret information 

relevant to  

one or more of the major 

fields in a discipline;   

 

d) Some detailed 

knowledge in an area  

of the discipline;   

  

 

1.Identify and Explain 

relevant historical and 

contemporary approaches 

to, issues and debates in 

communication and media 

studies, including critical, 

ethical and social justice-

oriented perspectives.    

 

2.  Demonstrate an 

understanding of the socio-

cultural, political economic, 

technological and 

environmental roles played 

by communication and 

media in local and global 

contexts.  

 



 
 
 

 

 

BA Honours (120 Credit) 

 

BA (90 Degree Credit) 

 UDDLE  Program Learning 

Outcomes 

UDDLE Program Learning 

Outcomes 

research in an area of the 

discipline;   

 

2. Knowledge of 

Methodologies  

 

An understanding of methods of 

enquiry or creative activity, or 

both, in their primary area of 

study that enables the student to: 

a. Evaluate the appropriateness 

of different approaches to 

solving problems using well 

established ideas and 

techniques; 

b.  devise and sustain 

arguments or solve problems 

using these methods; and 

 

3. Identify and apply a 

variety of qualitative and 

quantitative research 

methodologies relevant to 

the complex study of 

communication and media 

in course-led and 

independent individual and 

group projects 

An understanding of 

methods of enquiry or 

creative activity, or both, 

in  

their primary area of study 

that enables the student to:   

 

a. evaluate the 

appropriateness of  

different approaches 

to solving problems 

using well established 

ideas  

and techniques; and  

b. devise and sustain 

arguments or solve 

problems using these 

methods 

3. Identify a variety of 

qualitative and quantitative 

research methodologies 

relevant to the complex 

study of communication and 

media in course-led 

projects.  

 



 
 
 

3. Application of 

Knowledge  

 

The ability to review, 

present and critically 

evaluate qualitative and 

quantitative information to:  

a. develop lines of 

argument;  

b.  make sound judgments 

in accordance with the 

major theories, 

concepts and methods 

of the subject(s) of 

study;  

c.  apply underlying 

concepts, principles, 

and techniques of 

analysis, both within 

and outside the 

discipline;  

d.  where appropriate use 

this knowledge in the 

creative process; and  

The ability to use a range of 

established techniques to:  

a. initiate and undertake 

critical evaluation of 

arguments, 

assumptions, abstract 

concepts and 

information;   

b.  propose solutions;   

c. frame appropriate 

questions for the 

4. Integrate appropriate 

communication and media 

theories and conceptual 

frameworks with critical 

analyses of key historical and 

current case studies, practices, 

policies and/or institutions of 

media and communication in 

Canada and internationally. 

5. Develop and execute 

research projects 

independently and in teams, 

including in academic, 

community-focused and/or 

workplace contexts 

The ability to review, 

present, and interpret 

quantitative and qualitative 

information to:   

a. develop lines of 

argument;   

b. make sound judgments 

in accordance with the 

major theories, 

concepts and methods 

of the subject(s) of 

study; and   

 

The ability to use a basic 

range of established 

techniques to:  

 

b.  analyze information;   

c. evaluate 

appropriateness of 

different approaches to 

solving problems 

related to their area(s) 

of study;   

d. propose solutions; and   

e. make use of scholarly 

reviews and primary 

sources. 

 

4. Integrate appropriate 

communication and media 

theories and conceptual 

frameworks with critical 

analyses of key historical and 

current case studies, 

practices, policies and/or 

institutions of media and 

communication in Canada 

and internationally.  



 
 
 

purpose of solving a 

problem;  

d. solve a problem or 

create a new work; and  

e. make critical use of 

scholarly reviews and 

primary sources. 



 
 
 

     

4. 

Communication 

Skills 

The ability to communicate 

information, arguments, 

and analyses accurately and 

reliably, orally and in 

writing to a range of 

audiences. 

6. Produce effective 

communication skills in a 

range of academic and/or non-

academic formats, and for 

diverse audiences, with an 

awareness of the possibilities 

and limits of different media 

technologies and formats.  

 

The ability to 

communicate accurately 

and reliably, orally and in 

writing to a range of 

audiences. 

5. Produce effective 

communication skills in a 

range of academic and/or 

non-academic formats, and 

for diverse audiences, with an 

awareness of the possibilities 

and limits of different media 

technologies and formats.  

 

5. Awareness of 

Limits of 

Knowledge  

 

An understanding of the 

limits to their own 

knowledge and ability, and 

an appreciation of the 

uncertainty, ambiguity and 

limits to knowledge and 

how this might influence 

analyses and 

interpretations. 

7. Apply a diversity of 

epistemologies to assess the 

limits of current knowledge 

and approaches to media and 

communication and analyze 

the ways in which 

communication and media 

practices are structured through 

relations of power locally, 

nationally and internationally.  

 

 

 

An understanding of the 

limits to their own 

knowledge and how this 

might influence their 

analyses and 

interpretations. 

6. Identify the limits of 

current knowledge and 

approaches to media and 

communication and analyze 

the ways in which 

communication and media 

practices are structured 

through relations of power 

locally, nationally and 

internationally. 



 
 
 

6. Autonomy and 

Professional 

Capacity  

 

Qualities and transferable 

skills necessary for further 

study, employment, 

community involvement 

and other activities 

requiring:   

a) the exercise of initiative, 

personal responsibility and 

accountability in both 

personal and group 

contexts;   

b) working effectively with 

others;   

c) decision-making in 

complex contexts;   

d) ability to manage their 

own learning in changing 

circumstances, both within 

and outside the discipline 

and to select an appropriate 

program of further study;  

and 

e) behaviour consistent with 

academic integrity and 

social responsibility.   

8. Deploy ethical awareness, 

initiative and accountability in 

assessing and employing 

communication and media 

practices, research, uses and 

technologies, in both personal 

and group contexts.  

 

9.  Acquire transferrable 

critical and professional skills 

for academic and professional 

careers in communication and 

media in a wide variety of 

industries and contexts (public, 

corporate, not-for-profit, 

advocacy).   

Qualities and transferable 

skills necessary for further 

study, employment, 

community involvement  

and other activities 

requiring:  

   

a) the exercise of personal 

responsibility and 

decision-making;   

b) working effectively 

with others;   

c) the ability to identify 

and address their own 

learning needs in changing 

circumstances and to select 

an appropriate program of 

further study;  

and   

d) behaviour consistent 

with academic integrity 

and social responsibility.   

7. Deploy ethical awareness, 

initiative and accountability 

in assessing and employing 

communication and media 

practices, uses and 

technologies, in both personal 

and group contexts.  

8. Acquire transferrable 

critical and professional skills 

for academic and professional 

careers in communication and 

media in a wide variety of 

industries and contexts 

(public, corporate, not-for-

profit, advocacy).   



 
 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Map of PLOs (BA 90 Degree Option) to Ontario’s UG Degree Level Expectations 

 

Map of PLOs (90 degree Option) to Ontario’s UG Degree Level Expectations 

  

Depth and breadth 

of knowledge 

Knowledge of 

methodologies 

Application of 

knowledge 

Communication 

skills 

Awareness of 

limits of 

knowledge 

Autonomy and 

professional 

capacity 

PLO 1 

  
X    X        

PLO 2 X    X       



 
 
 

  

PLO 3 

  
X X        

PLO 4 

  
  X X  X      

PLO 5 

  
   X X   X   

PLO 6 

  
   X   X    

PLO 7 

  
    X      X 

PLO 8 

  
        X  

 

 

 

 

 

 



The Senate of York University  

Meeting Synopsis 

The 703rd Meeting of Senate 
Held on Thursday, 15 February 2024, via Zoom  

Remarks 

The Chair, Poonam Puri, welcomed Senators to the 703rd meeting of Senate, and noted 
that Senator Alison Macpherson would act as Vice-Chair for the meeting.  

The President spoke to the challenges posed by the reduction in international study 
permits and ensuing confusion for applicants, the implications on university enrolment 
and strategic planning, the necessity for cost reduction and strategic enrolment 
management, alongside opportunities for innovation in pedagogy and AI initiatives.  

Approvals 

Senate approved the recommendations of the Executive Committee to: 

• amend the Rules of Senate to integrate representation from the Markham campus 
in the Senate membership and make editorial updates to reflect recent changes in 
titles of senior administration positions; and 

• confirm the membership of Senate for the period 1 July 2024 - 30 June 2026 with 
a maximum of 169 and allocations by Faculty, with the School of Arts, Media, 
Performance & Design, the Faculty of Liberal Arts & Professional Studies, the 
Lassonde School of Engineering and the Faculty of Science, as the anchor Faculties 
delivering Markham campus programming. 

Senate approved the recommendation of the Academic Policy, Planning and Research 
Committee to recommend to the Board of Governors the establishment of 4 academic 
units and disestablishment of 14 existing units at Glendon; and relatedly, Senate 
approved the transfer of the constituent academic programs and curricula from the 14 
existing units to the 4 new departments at Glendon, effective 1 September 2024. 

Senate approved the recommendations of the Academic Standards, Curriculum and 
Pedagogy Committee to amend Faculty-wide Regulations at Glendon College applicable 
to all BA and Honours BA/iBA degree programs to: 

• remove major grade point average (GPA) requirements for graduation, effective 
FW2024; and 

• remove the Failed to Gain Standing Academic Decision sanction. 



 

 
yorku.ca/laps 

 

 

Graduate Committee  
Consent Agenda 

March 2024 
 
ITEMS FOR INFORMATION (4): 

The Graduate Committee recommends that Council approve the following 
proposals: 

New Course Proposals 
 
GS/HUMA 6169 3.00 Writing Black Life: Black Life Writing  
GS/FACC 6865 3.00 Governance Over Internal Audit  
GS/EN 6575 3.00 Studies in Postcolonial Literature 
 
Change to Existing Course Proposal
 
GS/POLS 6086 3.00 Thinking Power and Violence: from Nietzsche to Agamben 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A consent agenda item does not involve new programs, significant new principles, or 
new policies. These proposals are clearly identified on the notice of the meeting as 
consent agenda items.  Full proposal text is not reproduced in the hardcopy agenda 
package. Proposal texts are available upon request. 
 
A consent agenda item is deemed to be approved unless, prior to the commencement 
of a meeting, one or more members of Council advises the chair of a request to debate 
it. Please contact the Graduate Manager (lgonder@yorku.ca) if you have any questions 
regarding the changes to existing courses section. 

https://yuoffice-my.sharepoint.com/personal/evmcd_yorku_ca/Documents/Desktop/lgonder@yorku.ca


York University Senate 

 
 

Committee Information Items 

Executive  

The Executive Committee’s information items included the following: 

• Summary of suggestions, questions and comments raised at the 18 January 2024 
special meeting of Senate on the report of the Auditor General of Ontario 

• Ruling on a hortative motion submitted for consideration of Senate  

• Additions to the pool of prospective honorary degree recipients as recommended 
by the Honorary Degrees and Ceremonials Sub-Committee 

Academic Policy, Planning and Research (APPRC) 

APPRC reported on the following items: 

• report from the Interim Deputy Provost on FW’24 applications at Markham 
Campus  

• Its preliminary discussion of the report of the APPRC-ASCP Task Force on the 
Future of Pedagogy 

• Horizon Europe Research Program 

Academic Standards, Curriculum and Pedagogy (ASCP) 

ASCP reported on the following items: 

• Minor modifications to degree requirements in programs housed in AMPD, FGS, 
Health, LA&PS and Lassonde, effective FW 2024 

• Status update on the Attending Physician Statement and Academic Conduct 
policies 

Academic Policy, Planning and Research / Academic Standards, Curriculum and 
Pedagogy  

APPRC and ASCP conveyed a report from the Joint Sub-Committee on Quality Assurance 
which included Final Assessment Reports for completed Cyclical Program Reviews and 
advised of enhancements to process matters. 

Additional Information about this Meeting 

Please refer to the full Senate agenda and supplementary material posted online with the 
15 February 2024 meeting for details about the items reported.  

Senate’s next meeting will be held at 3:00 pm on Thursday, 28 March 2024.  

https://www.yorku.ca/secretariat/senate/meeting-agendas-and-synopses/


Joint Sub-committee on Quality Assurance 
Report to the Full Committees 

Academic Policy, Planning and Research Committee 
Academic Standards, Curriculum and Pedagogy 

The Subcommittee met on 6 November 2023 and submits the following report to the full 
Committees. 

1. Membership and Chair for 2023-2024

Marcia Annisette, Vice-Provost Academic (ex officio) 
Alice MacLachlan, Dean and Vice-Provost Graduate, Graduate Studies (ex officio) 
Regina Lee, Lassonde 
Theodore Peridis, Schulich (Chair) 
Mina Singh, Health 
Paul Szeptycki, Science 
Qiang Zha, Education 

Cheryl Underhill (APPRC) and Pamela Persaud (ASCP) serve as the Subcommittee’s 
secretaries.  Additional support is provided by Jennifer Bethune and Nina Unantenne 
(Office of the Vice-Provost Academic).   

2. Designation of Chair

Being the sole volunteer for the Chair’s position, Theodore Peridis was acclaimed. 

3. Overview of the Sub-Committee’s mandate and composition

The Chair provided an overview of the subcommittee's mandate, including the 
responsibility to ensure that established government and University related guidelines 
are followed in the review of Final Assessment Reports (FARs).  

Legislative and Administrative Matters 

4. Revisions to York University Quality Assurance Procedures (YUQAP) in response
to Quality Assurance Framework updates

Following are changes made to the YUQAP to align with Quality Assurance Framework 
updates.  

Virtual site visits that were limited to certain programs will now be institutionalized as an 
option for all programs.  Under the new arrangement, a virtual visit can only take place if 



Joint Sub-committee on Quality Assurance 
Report to the Full Committees  

both the vice-provost academic and the external reviewers agree to it. The vice-provost 
academic is required to document clear written justification for virtual visits. 

Another material amendment is the requirement for a “monitoring report” between a 
new program launch and the related cyclical program review, which typically takes place 
in the first four years of a program.  York will institute monitoring reports starting this 
fall/2023.  The reports will not progress to JSQA. 

A final editorial change was made for clarification purposes.  References to “desk audit” 
were replaced with “desk review”, to address the interchangeable use of the terms 
throughout the YUQAP. 

5. Annual Reports to Quality Council 

The 2022-2023 Report on Major Modifications was submitted in July, and the 2022-
2023 Report on Final Assessment Reports and Follow-up Assessment Reports were 
submitted in August.  Quality Council had no follow-up questions on the Reports. 

Completed Cyclical Program Reviews (CPRs) 

6. Final Assessment Reports (FARs) 

Once review documentation is assembled, and the Vice-Provost has provided a draft 
Final Assessment Report along with an Implementation Plan, full dossiers are assigned 
to individual members (and the secretaries) who are then responsible for attesting to the 
completion of the review in accordance with the YUQAP, identifying issues of specific 
relevance, and making recommendations as to whether it is necessary or appropriate to 
convene a meeting with representatives of a program and the relevant Dean(s) / 
Principal to address concerns. This delegated approach has worked well, and it is 
normally not necessary to arrange face-to-face encounters. 

The Subcommittee received documentation for the following CPRs: 

Nursing (Graduate): Resumed from 2022-2023 
Music (Undergraduate and Graduate) 

The Sub-Committee determined it not necessary to invite members of the programs to 
discuss the CPRs. The FARs, including Implementation Plans for the Nursing Practitioner 
program and the undergraduate Music program, have now been finalized to reflect 
discussions at the meeting and are appended to this report.  



Joint Sub-committee on Quality Assurance 
Report to the Full Committees  

Given that the FAR review and resulting recommendations for the graduate Nursing 
program were completed by the interim Dean of Health, the new Dean was afforded the 
opportunity to review the documentation.  The Dean concurred with the report and 
recommendations of the interim Dean, resulting in no required alterations to the FAR. 
The Subcommittee concurred with the responses provided by the unit and the Faculty. 

The Subcommittee concurred with the responses provided by the undergraduate Music 
program but noted the need for the program to streamline its offerings while maintaining 
distinctiveness. 

The Subcommittee determined that the FAR should be returned to the Graduate Music 
program unit for further discussion and clarification on the program’s implementation 
plan.  The vice-provost academic’s office will follow up with the program. 

7. Follow-up Reports 

The Sub-Committee received and reviewed the 18-month follow-up report from: 

Science and Technology Studies (undergraduate) 

The Sub-committee is satisfied that the program paid due regard to recommendations 
arising from the CPR process and is making good progress toward implementation.  

T. Peridis, Chair 

 

 



Joint Sub-committee on Quality Assurance 
Report to the Full Committees 

Academic Policy, Planning and Research Committee 
Academic Standards, Curriculum and Pedagogy 

 

  
 

The Sub-Committee met on 4 December 2023 and submits the following report to the full 
Committees. 

1. Completed Cyclical Program Reviews (CPRs) 

At this meeting, the Sub-Committee received documentation for the following CPRs: 

Music (Graduate) 
Chemistry and Biochemistry (Undergraduate and Graduate)  
Social Work (Undergraduate and Graduate)) 

At its prior meeting, on 6 November, the Sub-committee determined that clarification of 
some aspects of the Implementation Plan for the graduate program in Music was 
needed. A revised Plan and Final Assessment Report was received and finalized by the 
Sub-committee at the 4 December meeting. 

The Sub-Committee determined it not necessary to invite members of the 
Chemistry/Biochemistry and Social Work programs to discuss the CPRs. The FARs, 
including Implementation Plans, have now been finalized to reflect discussions at the 
meeting and are appended to this report.  

With several program review reports scheduled to come forward this year, a focus for 
the Sub-committee will be to reflect on emerging or recuring trends observed and 
recommendations made that have academic planning and / or resource dimensions to 
share with the parent Senate committees. 

2. Legislative and Administrative Matters 

Over the course of both meetings this term, the Sub-Committee received and discussed 
an orientation presentation on its mandate and the Quality Assurance processes. It also 
reviewed and provided feedback on a new template for the external reviewers’ report 
being implemented on a trial basis this year to enhance this aspect of the program 
review process. The template draws on best practices in use at peer universities. 
Together with the Vice-Provost Academic, the Sub-committee will monitor its 
effectiveness in subsequent program review assessment reports. 

T. Peridis, Chair 



1 
 

 
YORK UNIVERSITY  
Final Assessment Report 
 
 
Nursing, MScN & MScN Primary Health Care 
Nurse Practitioner (PHCNP)  
 
Faculty of Health 
 
 
Cyclical Program Review – 2013 to 2020 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, GRADUATE PROGRAMS IN NURSING 
 

2 

This Final Assessment Report (FAR) provides a synthesis of the cyclical review of the 
programs listed below. 
 
Program(s) Reviewed 
 
MScN 
MScN-Primary Health Care Nurse Practitioner (PHCNP) 
 
 
Reviewers appointed by the Vice-Provost Academic  
 
Dr. Nancy Carter, Assistant Dean, Associate Professor, Graduate Nursing Program, 
School of Nursing, Faculty of Health Sciences, McMaster University 
Dr. Judith Scanlan, Associate Professor, College of Nursing, Faculty of Health Sciences, 
University of Manitoba  
Dr. Joel Katz, Professor, Canada Research Chair, Department of Psychology, Faculty 
of Health, York University 
 
Cyclical Program Review Key Milestones 
 
Cyclical Program Review launch: September 16, 2020  
Self-study submitted to Vice-Provost Academic: October 27-28, 2021 
Date of the Site Visit: March 25, 2022  
Review Report received: May 30, 2022 
Program Response received: July 15, 2022  
Dean’s Response received: July 29, 2022  
 
 
Implementation Plan and FAR received by Joint Sub-Committee on Quality Assurance, 
May 2023. 
 
 

 
Submitted by Lyndon Martin, Vice-Provost Academic, York University 
 
 
This review was conducted under the York University Quality Assurance Protocol,  
August 2020.  
  



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, GRADUATE PROGRAMS IN NURSING 
 

3 

SITE VISIT: March 25, 2022 
  
The virtual site visit for the graduate programs in Nursing at York University included 
meetings with the following individuals and groups:  
 
• Vice-Provost Academic, Lyndon Martin 
• Dean and AVP Graduate, Thomas Loebel  
• Interim Dean, Susan Murtha 
• Director of the School of Nursing (SON), Shahirose Premji 
• Graduate Program Director, Jacqueline Choiniere 
• Nurse Practitioner Coordinator, Mavoy Bertram 
• Clinical Partnership Development and Practicum Coordinator, Nurse Practitioner 

Program, Rebecca Metcalfe 
• Full-time faculty members  
• Nurse Practitioner Clinical Faculty (part-time) 
• Students in the MScN and MScN-PHCNP programs 
• Administrative staff  
• Learning Technologies Manager, Rob Finlayson  
• York Libraries Associate Dean, Research and Open Scholarship, Jack Leon, and Ilo-

Katryn Maimets, Health and Science Librarian. 
 
 
OUTCOME:   
 
The Joint Sub-Committee on Quality Assurance received the Program and Decanal 
responses to the recommendations and has approved an implementation plan.  
A report on the progress of the initiatives undertaken in response to recommendations 
in general and as specified in the implementation plan will be provided in the Follow-up 
Report which will be due 18 months after the review of this report by the York University 
Joint Sub-Committee on Quality Assurance (in May 2025). 
The next Cyclical Program Review will begin in the Fall of 2028 with a site visit expected 
in the Fall of 2029 or Winter of 2030. 
 
 
PROGRAM DESCRIPTION: 
 
In 2005 the first students were admitted to the Master of Science in Nursing (MScN) at 
York University. The program describes its focus as follows: 
“At its inception, the program integrated human science and relational principles with 
theoretical knowledge on transformational and organizational leadership, caring and 
narrative pedagogies, global and local health policies, and human health experiences. 
The core of this comprehensive perspective remains, but in response to 
recommendations during the 2012-2013 Cyclical Review, and strong faculty support, we 
have broadened beyond specifying Human Science as the primary, 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, GRADUATE PROGRAMS IN NURSING 
 

4 

philosophical/theoretical core of the program, and instead recognize it as one of many, 
relevant philosophical/theoretical perspectives. “ 
 
The MScN - Primary Health Care Nurse Practitioner (PHCNP) program was established 
in 2007 and offers both a part-time and full-time option for students. The program is one 
of nine universities belonging to the PHCNP consortium that has a mission, described in 
the self-study document, to “contribute to quality health care for Ontarians by educating 
and preparing Registered Nurses across Ontario for advanced practice as Nurse 
Practitioners and leaders in Primary Health Care, in English or French, through a 
student focused, blended teaching and learning model.”  A common, provincial-level 
curriculum of seven courses, developed in French and English, covers the full range of 
PHCNP competencies at the entry-to-practice level as required by the nursing 
regulatory body (the College of Nurses of Ontario).  
 
The School of Nursing approved a new vision, mission and core values document in 
September 2020, for both the undergraduate and graduate nursing programs, that 
underscores the core values of Relational Practice, Transformational Leadership, and 
Diversity.   
 
Based on a review of the self-study report, materials, meetings with students, faculty 
and administration, and their experience in other Canadian graduate nursing programs, 
the reviewers made the following recommendations. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS AND RESPONSES: 
 
Recommendation 1 
 
Student Communication and Engagement: Students want more communication and 
engagement with faculty members, and clearer communication from the program. 
Synchronous communication is particularly important for students in on-line programs 
who often feel disconnected to their fellow students and their faculty. The reviewers 
made five specific suggestions: 
 
a) Virtual orientation sessions including staff and faculty; 
b) Synchronous class time at the start, mid-way point and end of term for all classes; 
c) Posted live office hours; 
d) Assignment of faculty advisors for all students with requirement for initial meetings 

prior to start of the program, as well as ongoing communication between faculty 
advisors and students throughout the program; 

e) More regular and timely communication from the Program Office, including live “town 
hall” type meetings and program orientations. 

 
 
Recommendation 1a: Virtual orientation sessions including staff and faculty 
 
Program Response  
 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, GRADUATE PROGRAMS IN NURSING 
 

5 

Mandatory orientations for all graduate programs have been in place since 2013. Prior 
to Covid-19, orientations were face-to-face two-day sessions, which was particularly 
important for MScN programs given the largely online asynchronous nature of the 
courses. Since Covid-19, these mandatory sessions have been held synchronously 
online. In Fall 2022 the orientations will return to the face-to face format. Faculty, staff 
and the students already in the program are included in the sessions. The first-year 
student survey results in 2021 evaluated the online orientation very highly. 
 
Dean’s Response 
 
The Interim Dean agrees with the recommendation for orientation sessions and 
suggests that the materials from the sessions be made available to students throughout 
the program.   
 
Recommendation 1b: Synchronous class time at the start, mid-way point and end 
of term for all classes  
 
Program Response 
 
The program notes that since the introduction of Zoom at York, most of faculty members 
include synchronous online classes during their courses. Some faculty members offer 
the same synchronous course twice in the same week to accommodate students who 
do full and part-time nursing shifts in hospitals while also attending the Master’s 
program. Prior to Covid-19, some faculty worked with students’ schedules to arrange 
one or two face-to-face classes and/ or live online classes to support students in 
learning of more complex course concepts. The program continues to encourage 
synchronous sessions at the beginning, mid-way and at the end of all classes. 
 
Dean’s Response 
 
It is important to consider what may be done during these synchronous class times to 
encourage student engagement with faculty and peers. The program is encouraged to 
work with educational developers to enhance online engagement. 
 
Recommendation 1c: Post live office hours 
 
Program Response  
 
Several faculty members have already adopted the practice of holding live office hours 
and the program will encourage faculty members to continue with this practice. In 
addition, faculty offer to meet with students by appointment to accommodate the many 
students who do nursing shift work and for whom set office hours are not always 
accessible.   
 
Dean’s Response 
 
The Interim Dean agrees with this recommendation as students desire a connection 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, GRADUATE PROGRAMS IN NURSING 
 

6 

with faculty members. Every course director should post regular/by-appointment virtual 
office hours or information for how to make an appointment in the course materials. It 
may be helpful to inform students that in addition to course content, students may also 
discuss academic goals, career options or ways to collaborate on projects, for example. 
 
Recommendation 1d: Assignment of faculty advisors for all students with 
requirement for initial meetings prior to start of the program; as well as ongoing 
communication between faculty advisors and students throughout the program.  
 
Program Response 
 
The program identifies advisors for incoming graduate students in September each year 
and notifies those continuing graduate students who are linked to new advisors (in the 
case of faculty retirement or, in some cases, sabbatical). The program works to 
maintain advisor continuity. For this coming year (2022-23), the program will inform 
students about their advisors (and faculty about their advisees) prior to the start of the 
term. The program has prepared and circulated the document Faculty Guidelines for 
Advising MScN Students among faculty, which outlines effective approaches for 
advising students. Specific strategies for advising will be discussed during the Fall 2022 
retreat. 
 
Student engagement is an ongoing key issue for this primarily asynchronous online 
program. The program notes that students did rate the quality of graduate student-
faculty relationships as good to excellent.  Although it appears that the students who 
met with the reviewers were less satisfied, the program wonders if the pressures and 
stresses of the pandemic may be one reason for the difference. These differences in 
satisfaction are noted not to counter the recommendation but rather as important 
context to offer a complete picture of student opinion. 
 
Dean’s Response 
 
The Interim Dean agrees in principle with this recommendation. It is a good idea to 
provide opportunities at least once a term to meet with the advisors to go over progress 
and address questions, challenges, and concerns. In addition to faculty advisors, 
engagement and a feeling of belonging for students may be augmented as well through 
having opportunities to connect with peers. Educational developers in the teaching 
Commons and in Health have created a graduate student peer mentorship group that 
could be used for nursing, and the School might further benefit from having a 
designated nursing graduate faculty liaison who may connect needs of students to what 
faculty advisors can offer. Education developers may be able to suggest other ways to 
facilitate student engagement and connection.  Evaluation of the impact of regular 
advisor meetings or other initiatives can provide important insights. 
 
Recommendation 1e: More regular and timely communication from the Program 
Office, including live “town hall” type meetings and program orientations  
 
Program Response 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, GRADUATE PROGRAMS IN NURSING 
 

7 

 
The program has held several town halls over the past 2-3 years, some of which have 
been related to Covid-19-induced program changes or shifts in the program as well as 
meetings in the lead up to the practicum for students entering into this last phase of the 
program.  
 
For MScN students, synchronous online town hall sessions are held to assist them in 
preparing for advanced nursing practice placements. Additional sessions were held 
during the pandemic. 
 
The program intends to continue with live online town hall meetings as students are 
situated across Canada and internationally.   
 
Dean’s Response 
 
The Interim Dean agrees with the recommendation and with the Schools’ plan and 
suggests recordings of sessions may be made available to students who were not 
available to attend. 
 
Recommendation 2 
 
Review of Program Requirements and Courses Offerings. Some modifications are 
needed to program requirements and course offerings as indicated below. 
 
Recommendation 2a: Undertake purposeful strategizing to respond to Calls to 
Action of Canada’s Truth and Reconciliation Commission (TRC) and incorporate 
concepts about Indigenous health throughout the curriculum. 
 
Program Response 
 
This critically important issue has been under discussion in the School of Nursing (SoN) 
over the last few years. In fulfillment of the program learning outcome “Model diversity, 
equity, inclusivity and social justice practices to enhance health and quality of life,” 
several MScN courses have incorporated a focus on Indigenous health concepts, 
including how to think differently about how to do research. For example, instead of 
conceptualizing research as conducted "on" people, research is done "with" people 
(community based, participatory action research, etc.). Other topic areas include the 
reciprocal relationship between researcher and participant, the goals of self-
determination, decolonization, the direct benefit to the community, and the potential for 
learning and healing.   
 
In addition, and in fulfillment of the program outcome “Critically examine institutional 
practices, challenge systemic values, assumptions and structures that limit human 
health”, Indigenous health issues and their upstream foundations, are incorporated into 
several of elective courses. 
 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, GRADUATE PROGRAMS IN NURSING 
 

8 

The SoN has been trying to hire a professorial Indigenous nurse scholar and has 
experienced three failed hiring cycle searches over the past three years. At the next 
program retreat, strategies to incorporate more concepts about Indigenous health 
throughout the curriculum will be a key topic. 
 
Dean’s Response 
 
The Interim Dean agrees with the recommendation and notes that the School is making 
every effort to hire an Indigenous scholar. In light of the issue of there being few highly 
qualified PhD RN candidates available, the program should carefully consider the 
qualifications for an Indigenous nursing position and whether the requirement of formal 
educational credentials are required when excellence in research can be demonstrated. 
Support and mentorship for any individual hired will be essential as will be creating 
ways of teaching suitable for decolonizing the curriculum.  
 
Recommendation 2b: Review intensive research courses for NP students; 
consider development of an applied research course, which includes quality 
improvement and program evaluation in place of quantitative and qualitative 
research. These changes will better reflect PHC NP practice. 
 
Program Response 
 
One of the final core courses taken by PHCNP students, just prior to the Integrated 
Practicum (IP) 5880 (Nurse Practitioner Research Development & Knowledge 
Mobilization) is an applied research course. The focus is on preparing nurse practitioner 
students to undertake clinical-researcher functions in the health-care system, and it 
builds on the research methodologies and theoretical inquiries taken in earlier courses 
to facilitate students’ exploration, analysis, synthesis, and discussion of research 
questions and proposal development.  

 
The School considers knowledge of the research process to be essential to evidence-
informed PHCNP advanced clinical practice, and critical to effectively engaging in 
program evaluation and quality improvement in PHCNP professional practice. This 
expertise cannot be reserved for only those wanting to proceed into a PhD program as 
the knowledge and skills are key for a MScN program, and expected at the ‘advanced 
nursing practice level’ (Master’s level) as specifically identified in the Canadian Nursing 
Association’s document Advanced Nursing Practice: A Pan-Canadian Framework 
(CNA, 2019).  

 
An issue that has arisen over the past few years is related to a few MScN - PHCNP 
students wanting to complete a thesis. Given the requirements and time constraints of 
the MScN-PHCNP program, this has not been feasible but the School plans to discuss 
and propose ways the program could accommodate pursuit of a thesis. This will include 
a review of the overall research methods courses within the MScN-PHCNP stream.  
 
Dean’s Response 
 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, GRADUATE PROGRAMS IN NURSING 
 

9 

The Interim Dean agrees with the reviewers that the School needs to review the focus 
on research for NP students and how these skills can be achieved in the program. In 
order to remain sustainable and competitive against other graduate nursing programs in 
the catchment area and continue to attract great students, the MScN-PHCNP program 
must evolve and adapt to the needs and demands of students. The program could 
consider which NP students are interested in building statistical and research skills, then 
instead of a program requirement for all, those select students could mentor with 
research faculty and enrol in different research/statistics courses electives, perhaps 
those offered in other graduate programs. 
 
Recommendation 2c: Add a capstone project to the coursework option in the 
MScN program 
 
Program Response 
 
The capstone course in the course-based MScN program is NURS 5500 and it requires 
students to synthesize the knowledge and skills learned in the previous required and 
elective courses (theory, research methodology and advanced nursing practice 
practicum) to prepare them for advanced clinical practice, further education, 
professional roles they will have in health administration/leadership, and ongoing health 
and health care knowledge production. Discussion of this course and any potential 
changes will be included in the graduate program retreat to be held in Fall 2022. 
 
Dean’s Response 
 
The Interim Dean acknowledges that it is good to have a capstone course for the MScN 
non-thesis students, and related to recommendation 2b), consideration has to be given 
to how students may be best prepared for this capstone experience.  
 
Recommendation 2d: Consider the creation of a leadership course in lieu of 
several underutilized nursing electives 
 
Program Response  
 
The School of Nursing notes that leadership includes both administration/management 
as well as policy and advocacy as key leadership concepts. The School offers a number 
of leadership courses and leadership concepts are also incorporated into a number of 
core courses.  

 
The program has reduced the number of MScN electives offered each year and will 
monitor the uptake of electives going forward to ensure adequate electives are offered 
so students can complete their programs on time.  
 
Dean’s Response 
 
The SoN has provided evidence of their offering of leadership skill development across 
a variety of courses, so there is no need for an additional for credit course.  



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, GRADUATE PROGRAMS IN NURSING 
 

10 

 
Recommendation 2e: Encourage students to take electives from other 
units/faculties in lieu of underutilized nursing electives 
 
Program Response  
 
Students are encouraged to to review the electives that are offered by other units in the 
Faculty of Health as well as other faculties. However, in light of student preference for 
online courses, there have been limited options. This situation changed during the 
pandemic. 
  
Dean’s Response 
 
The Interim Dean agrees with the concept of giving students an option to enroll in 
electives outside of the School of Nursing and reducing the number of electives offered 
in the program. However, the Interim Dean also acknowledges the preference for online 
courses and notes that there may be more hybrid offerings post-pandemic.   
 
Recommendation 2f: Increase class sizes and reduce total number of both 
sections and courses offered 
 
Program Response 
 
Nursing is a heavy program with multiple courses. Students are required to learn the 
knowledge, critical decision-making and psychomotor skills to provide effective health 
care for communities, and patients and their families across the life span (preconception 
to after death). Large classes with hundreds of students are not conducive, often not 
feasible (such as in clinical teaching at the bedside), nor effective for the type of 
experiential education that is needed. Nursing education, like most professional 
programs, is more expensive to deliver than most BA and BSc non-professional 
programs.   

 
Dean’s Response 
 
The Interim Dean agrees with the reviewer’s recommendation to increase graduate 
class size and reduce multiple sections, where possible for five reasons.  
1) These class size caps are much smaller than other nursing programs in the 
catchment area. 2) Enrollment in the courses are not meeting their cap, and in fact 
enrollments are decreasing. Instead of having two sections of low enrolled courses, 
offer one section of slightly higher enrollment. 3) There is no evidence provided to 
support the statement that research will be impacted negatively by increasing 
enrollments by small numbers in the graduate courses. 4) Where there is concern about 
having to complete more grading, faculty could consider alternate assessment methods. 
This concern could also be addressed in other ways such as by using grading rubrics 
and peer to peer assessment for feedback on early drafts, etc. 5) There may be issues 
other than class size that are impacting research capacity of faculty members that can 
be mitigated in other ways.   



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, GRADUATE PROGRAMS IN NURSING 
 

11 

 
At the Fall 2022 retreat, the program should discuss ways to increase class size and 
reduce sections. Advice may be sought from the Associate Dean of Learning, Teaching, 
Academic programs and educational developers can provide suggestions regarding 
alternate assessment methods. To augment enrollments, the program should consider 
opening courses to other programs as much as possible. The program may also wish to 
consider team teaching to allow researchers to teach the same components for multiple 
sections of a course and free up teaching preparation time for research.  
 
Recommendation 3 
 
Develop strategies to increase research productivity of faculty and students: 
More funding success and research productivity is needed to attract successful 
graduate students and fulfill requirements for faculty. 
 
Recommendation 3a: Reduce courses and sections offered, and redirect 
resources to research development  
 
Program Response 
 
As discussed in the previous section, increasing class sizes without reducing the 
number of courses assigned would not in itself increase research productivity. 
  
Dean’s Response 
 
See responses to 2f, 3b, and 3c. 
 
Recommendation 3b: Develop a “research culture” within the School and the 
Faculty to take advantage of all opportunities and partnerships offered at the 
University and externally.   
  
• Do strategic planning and involve other disciplines and schools 
• Develop and mentor new faculty 
• Engage with York and national funding competition structures 
 
Program Response 
 
The program is developing a three-year strategic plan and research intensification is 
included in these plans. Most graduate faculty members are involved in interdisciplinary 
research. The Fall 2022 graduate program retreat will identify and prioritize other 
research enhancing initiatives. 

 
The School’s Scholarship & Professional Development committee has mentoring 
initiatives as one responsibility. Additionally, the Tenure & Promotions Committee 
members mentor faculty regarding successful T&P actions. The Faculty Research & 
Awards Committee is undergoing changes in order to increase the profile of faculty 
research in the School as well as in the Faculty of Health. The School plans to 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, GRADUATE PROGRAMS IN NURSING 
 

12 

implement a mentor-mentee system to support new faculty.  
  
The School’s faculty members are involved in University research competition 
structures and the GPD is a member of the Graduate Program Committee, which 
adjudicates Faculty of Health funding competitions. Members of the School of Nursing 
also sit on CIHR funding review committees/decision bodies.    
 
Dean’s Response 
 
The Interim Dean notes that it is important to have a research culture that facilitates the 
development of faculty research programs. Through the Office of Research Services 
(ORS) in the Faculty of Health, a staff contingent is available to assist faculty to find 
funding sources and prepare and submit research proposals. The ORS offers a full 
training and orientation session for all new faculty members. Faculty members can often 
find supports by joining one or more Organized Research Units (ORUs) related to areas 
such as child and adolescent health, global health, vision, neuroscience, and healthy 
aging. The VP of Research and Innovation (VPRI) Office offers individual programs to 
assist researchers to prepare proposals for each of the Tri-Councils. The Research 
Commons offers a set of workshops that provides mentorship and collegial fellowship to 
assist faculty members with submitting a grant application to the appropriate Federal 
Research Council - SSHRC, NSERC or CIHR (or similar caliber external agency where 
more appropriate). See for details at researchcommons.yorku.ca.  
 
Research culture would also be enhanced by recruiting more full-time students into the 
thesis stream (see 3c) and the requirements for the thesis stream should be 
reconsidered. 
 
The Interim Dean applauds the participation of nursing faculty in the Faculty of Health 
research related committees and suggests that other opportunities outside of the 
Faculty continue to be explored. 
 
Formalizing a mentor-mentee system to support new hires and early career researchers 
would help ensure that they understand their position requirements and develop 
understanding of expectations, which ultimately could also facilitate the new hires’ 
support of their graduate students. 
 
Recommendation 3c: Set goals for recruitment and retention of full-time Master’s 
thesis students 
   
Program Response 
 
Plans are underway for focused sessions to increase MScN student interest in pursuing 
the thesis stream, including making this an important aspect of the Open House and at 
the mandatory orientation in August/September where details regarding the faculty 
support that is available are described. Further strategies for recruitment and retention 
will be discussed at the graduate faculty retreat in Fall 2022. 
 

https://researchcommons.yorku.ca/


FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, GRADUATE PROGRAMS IN NURSING 
 

13 

Dean’s Response 
 
The Interim Dean agrees with this recommendation and notes that the School has plans 
to address this recommendation. The Interim Dean also supports continued exploration 
of other ways to recruit new high quality graduate students and retain them. As noted 
above, a review of program requirements for students in the thesis stream should be 
undertaken.   
 



 

IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 
The chart below lays out the implementation plan approved by the Joint Sub-Committee at its meeting in November 2023. 
 
 

 Recommendation Action Responsible for 
Follow-up 

Timeline 

1. That student 
communication and 
engagement with faculty 
members be enhanced 
through specific actions 
below. 

See 1a - 1e below.   

1a. Hold virtual orientation 
sessions that include staff 
and faculty. 

The program should continue with 
existing orientation sessions. 
Orientation materials should be 
made readily available to 
students online throughout their 
time in the program. 
 

Graduate Program 
Director 

Materials for next 
orientation sessions in 
2023 and ongoing to be 
made available to students.  

1b. Hold synchronous class 
sessions at the start, mid-, 
and end-of-term points for 
all classes. 

The program should continue 
offering synchronous sessions 
throughout the term and 
encourage this practice in 
courses not currently doing so. 
Encourage faculty to work with 
educational developers to 
consider how to enhance online 
student engagement. 
 

Graduate Program 
Director, Faculty 
members, 
educational 
developers 

Synchronous sessions to 
be offered for Fall 2023 
and ongoing 

1c. Post and hold live office 
hours. 

The program should continue 
posting and holding live office 
hours in addition to those held by 
appointment and encourage 

Graduate Program 
Director, faculty 
members 

In place for Fall 2023 and 
ongoing 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, GRADUATE PROGRAMS IN NURSING 
 

15 

adoption by faculty members not 
currently doing so.  
 

1d. Assignment of faculty 
advisors for all students 
with requirement for initial 
meetings prior to start of 
the program; as well as 
ongoing communication 
between faculty advisors 
and students throughout 
the program. 
 

Advisors should hold once-per-
term meetings with students, and 
the program should consider 
other ways to engage graduate 
students. Piloting and evaluation 
of these initiatives can provide 
additional insights.   

Graduate Program 
Director, faculty 
members, 
educational 
developers 

In place for academic year 
2023-2024 

1e. That regular 
communication come from 
the program through “town 
hall” type meetings. 

The program should continue with 
its meetings and make available 
recordings for those students who 
can’t attend. 
 

Graduate Program 
Director, 
Graduate Program 
Assistant 

In place for next meeting in 
2023 

2. That a review of program 
requirements and course 
offerings be undertaken. 

See 2a – 2f below.   

2a. That a purposeful strategy 
to respond to the Truth and 
Reconciliation Commission 
(TRC) be undertaken and 
that concepts about 
Indigenous health be 
incorporated throughout 
the curriculum. 

The program should continue the 
hiring process for an Indigenous 
scholar and enhance program 
curriculum with concepts and 
content related to Indigenous 
health. 

Director School of 
Nursing, 
Graduate Program 
Director, 
faculty members 

Hiring process is ongoing. 
Curricular work in place for 
Fall 2023 and Winter 2024.   

2b. That intensive research-
focused courses for NP 
students be reviewed and 
changes made to better 

The program should review the 
research courses in the PHCNP 
program to ensure an applied 
focus and consider alternatives to 

Director School of 
Nursing, 
Graduate Program 
Director, 

Review to be completed by 
end of 2023 and proposals 
for changes to be made in 
time for 2024-2025.  



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, GRADUATE PROGRAMS IN NURSING 
 

16 

reflect the PHCNP 
practice. 

its current requirements (e.g., 
research/statistical courses 
offered by other units or as 
electives, faculty mentorship in 
lieu of required courses, etc.)  

Associate Dean 
Learning Teaching & 
Academic programs, 
Associate Dean 
Research & 
Innovation, 
faculty members 

2c.  That a capstone 
requirement be added to 
the course-based MScN 
program 

The program already includes a 
capstone requirement which will 
be discussed at the graduate 
retreat in Fall 2022. 

Director School of 
Nursing, 
Graduate Program 
Director, 
faculty members 

Discussed in Fall 2022 - 
complete 

2d.  That a leadership course 
be incorporated into the 
MScN program. 

The program already offers a 
leadership course and 
incorporates leadership concepts 
in many electives. Students 
considering leadership positions 
should be made aware of courses 
and other networking 
opportunities.  

Director, School of 
Nursing, 
Graduate Program 
Director 

Increase awareness for 
Fall 2023 and ongoing 

2e.  That students be 
encouraged to take 
electives from other units. 

Students should be encouraged 
to consider electives outside of 
the School to reduce the number 
of low-enrolment nursing 
electives. For popular courses 
outside nursing, the program 
should investigate with the 
relevant GPDs whether offering 
the electives online is an option.   

Graduate Program 
Director  

Fall 2023 and ongoing 

2f. That class sizes be 
increased so sections and 
courses offered can be 
reduced. 

The program should consider 
ways to maximize enrolments in a 
smaller number of courses and/or 
sections and how to support 

Director School of 
Nursing, 
Graduate Program 
Director, 

Planning underway in 
Summer/Fall 2023 and 
ongoing. 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, GRADUATE PROGRAMS IN NURSING 
 

17 

faculty with increased enrolments.  Associate Dean 
Learning, Teaching, 
Academic Programs, 
educational 
developers, 
Faculty members 

3. That strategies be 
developed to increase 
research productivity of 
faculty and students. 

See 3a – 3c below.   

3a. That courses and sections 
offered be reduced and 
resources be redirected to 
research development. 

See 2f, 3b and 3c. See 2f, 3b and 3c. Discussions and planning 
underway in Summer/Fall 
2023 and ongoing. 

3b. That a “research culture” 
within the School be 
developed. 

The School should continue its 
participation in research-related 
committees and explore 
additional external opportunities. 
The School should also consider 
formalizing mentor/mentee 
support for new faculty and 
recruiting more full-time students 
into the thesis stream. 

Director School of 
Nursing, 
Graduate Program 
Director, 
Associate Dean 
Research & 
Innovation, 
faculty members 

Exploration underway in 
Summer/Fall 2023. 

3c. That goals for recruitment 
and retention of full-time 
thesis students be set.   

The program should continue to 
engage with recruitment and 
retention strategies for thesis 
students and review the stream 
requirements. 

Director School of 
Nursing, 
Graduate Program 
Director,  
Associate Dean 
Research & 
Innovation, 
faculty members 

Explore and implement 
new approaches in 
Summer/Fall 2023, and 
ongoing 

 
 



1 
 

 
YORK UNIVERSITY  
Final Assessment Report 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Social Work, Undergraduate (BSW), 2012 to 2021 
Social Work, Graduate (MSW & PhD), 2016 to 2022 
 
 
Faculty of Liberal Arts and Professional Studies 
 
 
Cyclical Program Review  



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, SOCIAL WORK, UNDERGRADUATE & GRADUATE PROGRAMS 
 

2 

This Final Assessment Report (FAR) provides a synthesis of the cyclical review of the 
programs listed below. 
 
Program(s) Reviewed: 
BSW 
MSW, PhD 
 
 
Reviewers appointed by the Vice-Provost Academic:  
 
Dr. Donna Hardy Cox, Associate Vice-President (Academic) and Dean of Students, 
Memorial University of Newfoundland, St. John’s, Newfoundland  
Dr. Mehmoona Moosa-Mitha, Associate Professor, School of Social Work, University of 
Victoria, Victoria, British Columbia,  
Dr. Jennifer Stephen, Associate Professor, Department of History, York University, 
Ontario 
 
Cyclical Program Review Key Milestones: 
Cyclical Program Review launch: September 15, 2021  
Self-study submitted to Vice-Provost Academic: August 17-26, 2022 
Date of the Site Visit: October 24-26, 2022  
Review Report received: December 21, 2022 
Program Response received: March 7, 2023  
Dean’s Response received: August 21, 2023  
 
 
Implementation Plan and FAR confirmed by Joint Sub-Committee on Quality Assurance, 
December 4, 2023. 
 
 
 
Submitted by Marcia Annisette, Vice-Provost Academic, York University 
 

 
 
This review was conducted under the York University Quality Assurance Protocol,  
August 2020.  
  



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, SOCIAL WORK, UNDERGRADUATE & GRADUATE PROGRAMS 
 

3 

SITE VISIT: October 24-26, 2022 

The virtual site visit included meetings with the Acting Vice-Provost Academic, Alice Pitt, 
Dean of Graduate Studies Thomas Loebel, JJ Mc Murtry, Dean, Faculty of Liberal Arts 
and Professional Studies (LAPS), as well as the LAPS Vice Dean and Associate Dean 
Programs, Sean Kheraj, Associate Dean, Teaching and Learning, Anita Lam, and 
Associate Dean Research and Graduate Studies, Ravi de Costa. School administrators 
met with the reviewers, including Interim Director, Chris Chapman, Graduate Program 
Director, Anne O’Connell, Associate Professor, Maurice Poon, and Undergraduate 
Program Director Ruth Green. The reviewers also met with two University Librarians, 
administrative staff, and field education staff. The reviewers held discussions with small 
groups of students at each level of study, undergraduate, master’s and doctoral. 
 
OUTCOME:  
 
The Joint Sub-Committee on Quality Assurance received the program and decanal 
responses to the recommendations and has approved an implementation plan.  
A report on the progress of the initiatives undertaken in response to recommendations 
in general and as specified in the implementation plan will be provided in the Follow-up 
Report which will be due 18 months (June, 2025) after the review of this report by the 
York University Joint Sub-Committee on Quality Assurance. 
The next Cyclical Program Review will begin in the Fall of 2029 with a site visit expected 
in the Fall of 2030 or Winter of 2031. 
 
PROGRAM DESCRIPTION AND STRENGTHS: 
 
The School of Social Work degree offerings include the BSW, the MSW and the PhD. It 
is committed to critical social work and has, noted the reviewers, “a national reputation 
of offering programs that are social justice-oriented and reflect cutting edge scholarship 
in the area of anti-oppressive, anti-racist theories that is consistent with the changing 
requirements of social work practice in the field.” However, in their report, the reviewers 
noted that that the School’s mission statement lacks any reference to decolonial 
analysis, something faculty would like to see included. The reviewers recommend that 
the School work towards developing an updated mission statement and that students, 
field education staff, and alumni be included in the process.  
 
The reviewers’ report notes that for faculty, field education staff, and students alike, the 
undergraduate curriculum is highly regarded and valued. A number of students 
indicated that they would appreciate more opportunities to practice skills in their 
courses, a common theme across all Schools of social work nationally. Similarly, 
graduate students expressed concerns about the insufficient number of supervisors for 
the practice research paper and doctoral research. The reviewers noted that a lack of 
resources contribute to challenges in retaining field skilled practicum coordinators. In 
order to retain accreditation standards and further develop global agreements for 
practicum opportunities, the reviewers noted that additional support is required in the 
School. The report states, “Further building curricular and co-curricular experiential 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, SOCIAL WORK, UNDERGRADUATE & GRADUATE PROGRAMS 
 

4 

learning activities into graduate and undergraduate courses will affirm to students --
through reflection -- the theory to practice connection: praxis.”  
 
The reviewers noted that increasing the number of faculty, particularly Black and 
Indigenous faculty, will enhance the quality of the programs and were, “heartened to 
hear that York University has appointed two individuals who could potentially support 
cluster hires in the School.”  
 
The reviewers made helpful suggestions for reducing perceived overlap in terms of 
course content for both the MSW and the BSW. Additionally, reviewers suggested that 
the School examine ways to address gaps in linking theory to practice, including 
formalizing the transition from classroom learning to the field practice experience. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
In addition to six formal recommendations in the final section of their report, the 
reviewers made several thoughtful suggestions and informal recommendations in 
various sections of the report.  The Department and the Dean have provided responses 
to these as part of the cyclical program review process; however, in this Final 
Assessment Report, only the program and decanal responses to the six formal 
recommendations are included. The Department and the Faculty are encouraged to 
continue their careful evaluation of the reviewers’ informal recommendations and 
suggestions and plan for implementation where feasible. The Implementation Plan 
identifies this as Recommendation A. 
 
The reviewers’ formal recommendations for program quality and sustainability are 
below, along with the responses from the program and the Dean.   
 
Recommendation 1 
 
Endorse the School’s plan to undertake the revision of the School’s mission statement 
and program objectives to further develop a collective vision of the School’s 
governance, teaching, and research. 
 
Program Response 
 
This recommendation was originally on the agenda for a faculty retreat scheduled for 
January 2023 but the agenda for the retreat was modified and this item deferred to the 
next academic year (2023/2024). This allows the incoming Director and any new hires 
to be involved and have input on the process. 
 
Dean’s Response 
 
The Dean supports the School’s plan to revise its mission statement. The School’s 
desire to better incorporate decolonial analysis into its curriculum aligns well with York’s 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, SOCIAL WORK, UNDERGRADUATE & GRADUATE PROGRAMS 
 

5 

Decolonizing, Equity, Diversity, and Inclusion Strategy, 2023-2028 (released May 2023), 
as well as earlier strategic documents, including the Indigenous Framework (2017). In 
addition to students, alumni, field education staff and faculty (tenured and contract, 
including new hires) outgoing and incoming Directors and UPDs should be involved.   
 
Recommendation 2 
 
Immediate hiring of cluster hire of 4 Indigenous and Black faculty. 
 
Program Response 
 
The School and the Dean’s office are currently in negotiation in relation to hires for this 
year and next. Given the mandatory Indigenous courses for all BSW and MSW 
students, it has been agreed that Indigenous hires are currently a priority. Other 
priorities are for faculty complement will be discussed at the March 2023 Faculty 
Meeting. 
 
Dean’s Response 
 
The Dean’s Office supports hiring in this area but notes that the Faculty’s capacity for 
new hires in Liberal Arts and Professional Studies (LAPS) in any given year is subject to 
approval by the Provost, current enrollment trends, and the budget realities of the 
Faculty and University.  
 
Recommendation 3 
 
Enhance the transparency of curriculum mapping and creation of prior learning 
assessment tools. 
 
Program Response 
 
In relation to enhanced transparency of curriculum mapping, the program plans to offer 
a two-tiered orientation process for new faculty: 

a. The director will meet with new contract faculty and provide an overview of the 
BSW and MSW curriculum and the place of specific courses in the general map 
of the curriculum. This will supplement the orientations that the director already 
does with new faculty. 

b. A senior faculty member who is either teaching a course or has taught the course 
in the past will be designated as course coordinator. The coordinator will orient 
new instructors on the learning expectations and general content of a course. 

 
The recommendation for prior learning assessment tools refers to students who request 
to be exempted from parts of the curriculum based on courses taken in previous 
programs. Requests of this kind are already addressed on a case-by-case basis by the 
BSW committee. The program does not feel a different process is needed at this time.  
These requests are assessed based on the specific requirements of a professional 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, SOCIAL WORK, UNDERGRADUATE & GRADUATE PROGRAMS 
 

6 

program like Social Work in which courses from other programs may seem similar but 
do not address the specific learning outcomes expected from a BSW course. 
 
Dean’s Response 
 
The Dean’s Office agrees that enhancing the transparency of curriculum mapping can 
help any program produce a coherent degree progress plan for students and provides 
comments on each “tier” of the plan. However, the external reviewers also 
recommended that the School explore software “to map curriculum and to support 
accreditation reporting.” The School is encouraged to consult with the Lassonde School 
of Engineering and the Faculty of Health to see what resources they may already be 
using to track program learning outcomes and accreditation requirements for 
engineering and nursing respectively. 
 

a. Director meetings with new faculty 
 

Orienting new faculty members to the logic, sequencing, and content of the BSW and 
MSW curriculum should be a priority in order to optimize the student experience in both 
programs. At the same time, the Dean’s Office notes that existing faculty should 
participate robustly in this exercise as well so that curricular overlap can be avoided and 
so that all members of the School understand the larger curricular vision of the two 
programs. Key documents like the curriculum maps for both programs should be shared 
on a departmental Teams site or other shared online space. For ideas about how to 
present curriculum mapping information in a user-friendly manner, assistance can be 
provided through the Associate Director, Faculty Curriculum in LA&PS, or the assigned 
Education Developer in Teaching Commons.   
 

b. Senior faculty members as course coordinators 
 

Given the reality that senior faculty members in the School have many demands on 
their time across the undergraduate and graduate programs, the Dean invites Social 
Work colleagues to consider other responses to ensuring the enhanced transparency of 
curriculum mapping. These could include using the established curriculum map for the 
Social Work program as a guiding document. Additionally, Course Directors who teach 
the required courses in the program can meet prior to the start of each term to 
coordinate lesson plans and ensure consistency of course learning objectives across all 
mountings of the course in question, relative to the established program learning 
outcomes and accreditation requirements.  
 
On the question of prior learning assessment, the Dean's Office agrees that the School 
is positioned to review an applicant’s previous academic experience in relation to the 
Social Work program. The reviewers suggest a thorough assessment of transfers from 
other Social Work programs. It is understood that the School reviews all transfer 
applications on a case-by-case basis and the Dean is assured that each applicant is 
provided with the maximum transfer credit possible (for both core and non-program 
courses), while upholding the academic integrity of the program and the student’s 
chances for success. 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, SOCIAL WORK, UNDERGRADUATE & GRADUATE PROGRAMS 
 

7 

 
Recommendation 4 
 
Collaboration with the Office of the Vice Provost to undertake global agreements with 
practice agencies. 
 
Program Response 
 
Many of MSW students’ desired placement sites, especially those in direct practice, 
school board or hospital settings, have established relationships with other MSW 
programs in the city which offer incentives such as research funding, professional 
development funds, adjunct professorships and so on. A University-wide strategy and 
integrated approach for establishing global affiliation agreements with placements in the 
City of Toronto or other government or provincial divisions, school boards, hospitals, 
and counselling agencies would absolutely enhance placement opportunities for York 
social work students. 
 
The School has met with and requested support from the Provost’s Office to develop 
pan-university global agreements for hospital partnerships; however, it is unclear who 
would take the lead in negotiating these global partnerships as they would involve more 
programs than the School of Social Work. The School recommends that a centralized 
division such as the YU Hub support the negotiation, development, and tracking of 
global agreements. The program further suggests a centralized system/database to 
track global agreements.  
 
The School’s Field Education Office continues to expand innovative and unconventional 
placement opportunities for students. In fact, at the height of the COVID-19 pandemic 
(July of 2020), the Field Education Office received support from the Vice-Provost 
Academic for a pan-University placement strategy with internal York service providers to 
respond to the pandemic-related challenges in securing external degree-required 
placements. It is hoped this support can continue. 
 
Dean’s Response 
 
The Dean’s Office supports the development of practicum opportunities and notes that 
the LA&PS Office of Experiential Education can be an additional resource as the School 
develops its work-focused placements. In addition to the internal placements secured 
during the pandemic, external opportunities for students should be explored, bearing in 
mind the requirements under accreditation of field placement supervisors to hold a BSW 
at a minimum. 
 
Recommendation 5 
 
Build stronger affiliations with centralized University student support resources. 
 
Program Response 
 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, SOCIAL WORK, UNDERGRADUATE & GRADUATE PROGRAMS 
 

8 

Representatives of the Office of Student Community Relations (OSCR) and the Centre 
for Sexual Violence Response, Support and Education, as well as a representative from 
the Writing Centre, attended the School’s Faculty Meetings in 2022-2023. In addition, 
the School has been developing stronger ties with Central Advising and now has a 
dedicated person in both Advising and the Student Accessibility Office for Social Work. 
This is an area that the School is actively working to strengthen. 
 
Dean’s Response 
 
The Dean’s Office supports the School’s outreach to student support services to 
improve the integration of existing resources and suggests that a process for sharing 
information with students on a regular basis be established.  
 
Recommendation 6 
 
The School’s leadership team to work with the University’s Division of Equity, People 
and Culture to support the School’s commitments to equity and diversity. 
 
Program Response 
 
The School welcomes support and additional resources that could assist with a 
curricular review. There are three new groups are envisioned at the School: a Black 
Social Work Alumni Network (BSWAN), a group of Black social work graduate students, 
and a working group to explore and address anti-Black racism. This last group will 
initially be composed of full-time faculty with a likelihood of involving students once 
initial plans are established. The School has been supporting BSWAN’s development 
for the past year (2022-2023) and has offered to provide some initial funding to the 
student group while they do the work to become incorporated and therefore  
access funding as a York student group.  
 
The School hopes that collaboration between these three groups will lead to important 
steps to address issues identified.   
 
Dean’s Response 
 
This recommendation appears to be in response to concerns expressed by students 
about systemic racism and a lack of diverse representation among the School’s faculty. 
Recognizing that universities in general are spaces that tend to replicate white, able 
bodied, heteronormative privilege, The Dean’s Office supports the School’s formation of 
a working group to address anti-Black racism. This aligns with similar responses at the 
Faculty and University-level, including the creation of a LA&PS Special Advisor on Black 
Inclusion. Social Work colleagues are encouraged to avail themselves of resources 
established and shared via these initiatives. 
 
University-wide, Social Work colleagues are encouraged to draw on the resources of 
the Centre for Rights, Equity, and Inclusion (REI) within the portfolio of the Vice 
President of Equity, People and Culture. REI offers online and in-person professional 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, SOCIAL WORK, UNDERGRADUATE & GRADUATE PROGRAMS 
 

9 

development, including the REDDI workshop series. Training is also offered through the 
Place of Online Learning for the Adjudication of Researchers Inclusively and 
Supportively (POLARIS) initiative. Successful completion of the six core modules of 
POLARIS is now required of all hiring committee appointees, but the portal is also open 
to all members of the York community seeking more information on promoting 
inclusivity. 



 

IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 
The chart below lays out the implementation plan approved by the Joint Sub-Committee at its meeting in December 2023. 
 
 

 Recommendation Action Responsible for Follow-up Timeline 
A. That the School of Social 

Work, as part of their 
ongoing plans for 
enhancement of programs, 
consider the thoughtful 
additional suggestions 
provided by the reviewers 
throughout the body of their 
report. 

The School will consider and 
act upon on these 
suggestions, as feasible.  
The Follow-up Report should 
summarize actions taken on 
these items. 

Chair, Undergraduate 
Program Director, 
Graduate Program 
Director 
 
 

Summary of actions 
undertaken to be included 
in the Follow-up Report due 
in May 2025. 

1. That the School’s mission 
statement and program 
objectives be revised. 

The School will revise its 
mission statement, 
incorporating decolonial 
analysis and referencing the 
University’s strategic 
documents. Staff, students 
and faculty members will be 
included in the process and 
input from the outgoing 
director and program level 
directors will be sought. 

Director, School of Social 
Work 

Consultations should be 
undertaken through 
Fall/Winter 2023/24 with 
consultation and discussion 
completed by Fall 2024.  



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, SOCIAL WORK, UNDERGRADUATE & GRADUATE PROGRAMS 
 

11 

2.  That there be an immediate 
hiring of four faculty Black 
and/or Indigenous faculty 
members (ideally two Black 
faculty members and two 
Indigenous faculty 
members). 

The School will continue to 
prioritize the recruitment of 
Indigenous and Black faculty 
as positions are authorized, 
including cluster hires. 

Director, School of Social 
Work 
Associate Dean, Faculty 
Affairs, LAPS 

Ongoing 

3.  That the curriculum map for 
programs be updated, prior 
learning assessment tools 
be created and 
mechanisms for 
communicating program 
learning outcomes and 
program maps be 
implemented. 

The School will explore 
working with curriculum 
developers to review and 
revise programs learning 
outcomes and maps for the 
BSW and MSW, as well as 
establishing fixed course 
objectives for all core 
courses in alignment with 
accreditation requirements of 
the Canadian Association for 
Social Work Education 
(CASWE). The School will 
explore tools for tracking 
accreditation requirements, 
in consultation with other 
Faculties as appropriate. The 
School will continue its 
practice of assessing prior 
learning to ensure that 
maximum transfer value is 
awarded.  
The School will develop 
mechanisms for ensuring 

Undergraduate Program 
Director, BSW committee, 
Course Directors, 
 
Associate Dean Programs 
(for consultations with 
Lassonde and Health) 

Curriculum mapping and 
program learning outcomes 
to be revised by the Fall 
2024, after new mission 
statement is finalized. 
 
Consultations about 
accreditation tracking 
through to Fall/Winter 
2024/2025. 
 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, SOCIAL WORK, UNDERGRADUATE & GRADUATE PROGRAMS 
 

12 

that program learning 
outcomes and curriculum 
mapping are shared with all 
faculty.  

4.  That global agreements 
with practice agencies be 
established. 

The School will continue to 
work with the relevant offices 
to secure work-focused 
placements, bearing in mind 
the accreditation 
requirements that 
supervisors hold a BSW at a 
minimum. 

Director, School of Social 
Work 
BSW and MSW Field 
Education Coordinators 

Fall 2023/204 and ongoing. 

5.  That stronger affiliations 
with centralized University 
student support resources 
be built. 

The School will continue to 
educate colleagues about the 
range of support services 
available at the university. 
The School will explore 
processes for sharing 
information about available 
services with students and 
establish a mechanism for 
this by Fall/Winter 2023/24. 

Director, School of Social 
Work 
Undergraduate Program 
Assistant  
Individual Faculty 
Members  

Fall/Winter 2023/2024 
establish information 
sharing process for 
students. 
Education of faculty and 
students about available 
services is ongoing.  

6.  That the School’s 
leadership team work with 
the Division of Equity, 
People and Culture to 
support commitments to 
equity and diversity. 

The School will continue with 
the establishment of equity 
and diversity-oriented groups 
identified, drawing on the 
resources provided at the 
Faculty level as well as 
university-wide services, as 
appropriate. The School’s 
Executive Committee and 
student representatives will 
meet with the LAPS Special 

Director, School of Social 
Work 
Executive Committee, 
School of Social Work. 

Fall/Winter 2023-2024 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, SOCIAL WORK, UNDERGRADUATE & GRADUATE PROGRAMS 
 

13 

Advisor on Black Inclusion. 
All faculty members will 
complete Place of Online 
Learning for the Adjudication 
of Researchers Inclusively 
and Supportively (POLARIS) 
modules.  

 
 



1 
 

 
YORK UNIVERSITY  
Final Assessment Report 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Music, Graduate (MA, PhD)  
 
School of the Arts, Media, Performance and 
Design 
 

 
 
 
Cyclical Program Review – 2012 to 2022 



 

This Final Assessment Report (FAR) provides a synthesis of the cyclical review of the 
programs listed below. 
 
Program(s) Reviewed: 
MA 
PhD 
 
 
Reviewers appointed by the Vice-Provost Academic:  
 

Dr. Kevin Swinden, Associate Dean, Faculty of Music-Planning and Curriculum, 
Associate Professor, Music Theory, Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Ontario  

Dr. Lori Burns, Full Professor, School of Music, Faculty of Arts, University of Ottawa, 
Ontario  

Dr. Molly Ladd-Taylor, Full Professor, Department of History, Faculty of Liberal Arts and 
Professional Studies, York University, Ontario 

 
Cyclical Program Review Key Milestones: 
Cyclical Program Review launch: September 15, 2021  
Self-study submitted to Vice-Provost Academic: January 17, 2023 
Date of the Site Visit: April 10-11, 2023  
Review Report received: May 17, 2023 
Program Response received: July 20, 2023  
Dean’s Response received: August 23, 2023  
 
 
Implementation Plan and FAR received by Joint Sub-Committee on Quality Assurance, 
November 6, 2023’ revised version confirmed on December 4, 2023. 
 
 
 
Submitted by Marcia Anisette, Vice-Provost Academic, York University 
 

 
 
This review was conducted under the York University Quality Assurance Protocol,  
August 2020.  
  



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, MUSIC GRADUATE PROGRAM 
 

3 

SITE VISIT: April 10-11, 2023 

The virtual visit was organized around a set of interviews with the following individuals:  
Vice-Provost Academic, Lyndon Martin, Dean, Faculty of Graduate Studies, Thomas 
Lobel, AMPD Dean, Sarah Bay-Cheng, AMPD Associate Dean Academic Michael 
Darroch and Associate Dean Research, Laura Levi, Music Chair, Karen Burke, 
Graduate Program Director, Stephanie Martin, and two University librarians. The 
reviewers met with full-time faculty in the undergraduate and graduate programs, a 
group of part-time (contract) faculty, undergraduate students and a group of MA and 
PhD students.  Discussions were also held with departmental administrative staff.   

The reviewers were not able to tour the physical spaces for ensemble rehearsals, 
teaching studios, labs or performance spaces.   
 
OUTCOME:  
 
The Joint Sub-Committee on Quality Assurance received the Program and Decanal 
responses to the recommendations and has approved an implementation plan.  
A report on the progress of the initiatives undertaken in response to recommendations 
in general and as specified in the implementation plan will be provided in the Follow-up 
Report which will be due 18 months (June, 2025) after the review of this report by the 
York University Joint Sub-Committee on Quality Assurance. 
The next Cyclical Program Review will begin in the Fall of 2029 with a site visit expected 
in the Fall of 2030 or Winter of 2031. 
 
PROGRAM DESCRIPTION AND STRENGTHS 
 
The Department of Music is one of seven academic units within the School of Arts, 
Media, Performance and Design (Dance; Design; Digital Media; Film; Theatre; Visual 
Arts and Art History). The Music Department was formed in 1969 and the 
undergraduate program operates interdependently with the Graduate Program in Music. 
The Graduate Program in Music offers an MA and a PhD with six fields: Composition, 
Ethnomusicology, Jazz, Musicology, Performance, and Popular Music Studies. 
However, the program currently understands its offerings as falling into two major 
thematic strands: composition and studies (musicology/ethnomusicology) The MA was 
first offered in 1975 and the PhD was implemented in 1993. Students may also pursue a 
joint MA/MBA with the Schulich School of Business. 
 
The reviewers highlight several strengths, noting that “One of York’s most distinguishing 
and differentiating opportunities is the enviable collection of world music instruments 
and access to authentic instruction on these instruments.” As well, the reviewers also 
note that the Department very clearly supports EDI initiatives. 
 
The reviewers’ report also included some opportunities for improvement. The reviewers 
note that that the programs reflect an interest in the social and cultural aspects of music 
as well as the capacity for advanced technologies; however, they suggest that clarity is 
required for how the formally approved streams, pathways, thematic strands, and 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, MUSIC GRADUATE PROGRAM 
 

4 

concentrations are connected. The reviewers recommend that the program’s “graduate 
fields should be consolidated and perhaps reimagined based on professorial expertise 
of the current faculty complement.” Future hiring plans would consider how to bolster 
and support these fields. The reviewers' report also provides insight into potential 
clusters to which all current faculty could contribute. 
 
 
There is an opportunity to review enrolment data and establish a list of courses that are 
grounded in strategic clusters. The reviewers suggest course offerings could be 
concept-or method-driven and draw on a variety of repertoires. This approach may 
reduce the reliance on independent studies to complete program requirements. Clarity 
about the fields of study would also alleviate this strain which, while providing flexibility 
for students, is not sustainable. 
 
While the reviewers note that the Major Research Paper (MRP), “is well conceived as a 
common requirement for all MA students,” clearer communication about the timelines for 
completion for students would be helpful. The reviewers further note that PhD students 
appear to be challenged to complete the program within 6 years.  
 
Noting that “it is not reasonable for all courses to accomplish all outcomes,” the 
reviewers encourage the graduate program to review the graduate program learning 
outcomes and analyse how actual courses and course assessments contribute to the 
learning outcomes.  
 
The reviewers suggest the Department explore additional links to performance and 
composition-based organizations in the GTA. They state, “Alliances with external 
partners could lead to an enhance series of visitors to the program,” and note that this 
may enhance the recruitment of students. 
 
Noting the downwards trend in admissions for both programs, the reviewers indicate 
that admission requirements for both the MA and PhD are well defined and standard.  
Admission to the PhD has been paused for 2023 and 2024 and is of concern to some 
students in the MA program.  
 
In terms of staffing and workload, the reviewers note in their report that, “supervision is 
not evenly distributed across faculty members and there are many early career scholars 
who should be given the opportunity to begin supervision.” While the administrative staff 
appear to operate as a strong collegial unit, the reviewers note a gap in the support for 
the recent growth in intersecting labs for the performing Arts courses, Digital Music and 
Music for Media. The report suggests that consistent support should be provided by a 
technologist rather than faculty if this is a direction that is to be maintained and 
expanded.   
 
Finally, the review report notes the difficult budgetary situation that forces the 
department to mount concerts in “an acoustically impoverished lounge space,” because 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, MUSIC GRADUATE PROGRAM 
 

5 

the Department’s finances do not allow for the cost of using the Faculty recital hall for 
faculty and student performances.  
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
As a preface to the list of formal recommendations below, the external reviewers make 
the following observation:  
 
“The York graduate music programs attract a diverse and engaged student body that is 
supported by highly motivated faculty members. Students strive for expertise in 
specialized areas and the professors rise to the challenge by offering unique 
independent studies in order to meet student interests. For the sustainability of this 
important graduate department, the following recommendations call for a streamlining of 
the concentrations as well as the course offering. Common experience rather than 
highly individualized studies would contribute to a stronger sense of community, bolster 
peer support, and enhance research culture.” 
 
Recommendation 1 
 
The concentrations and pathways identified for the graduate programs should be 
revisited to maximize the unique potential of York’s faculty and areas of excellence. This 
should mean that all resources are galvanized around the strategic concentrations. The 
current scope of the areas of study is vast, and consequently, some areas are ill-defined 
and lacking in course and supervisory support. Future hiring should strategically 
consider how these reimagined fields should be bolstered and supported. 
 
Program Response: 
  
The current graduate executive understands the program to have two major fields of 
concentration: ethno/musicology and composition.  
 
Within the concentration of ethno/musicology, and consistent with how the disciplines 
are understood more broadly, students can further focus on jazz studies and popular 
music studies. Community music has also been considered under the larger title of 
ethno/musicology until recently and considers many similar issues. The composition 
concentration includes an emphasis on contemporary composition, including digital 
activities, sonic studies, production, and film music composition. Moving forward with 
curricular revision (see recommendation 2), all courses will work towards preparing 
graduate students to complete their degrees and engage in post-graduation 
opportunities in these two concentrations. 
 
Faculty support in composition and ethno/musicology has always been strong at York. 
The program currently has eleven faculty who can support students in composition and 
eight who can support students in ethno/musicology. Given the very recent loss of two 
ethnomusicologists, as well as two part-time popular music scholars, the graduate 
program is pleased that the department has indicated that the next hire will be an 
ethnomusicologist, which has traditionally been a strength of the department. 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, MUSIC GRADUATE PROGRAM 
 

6 

 
Increased support for graduate students in grant-writing, conference presentations and 
publications and a thorough revision of all public documentation about the program will 
further cement an understanding of a York University Graduate Program in Music with 
concentrations in ethno/musicology and composition within the broader scholarly 
communities. 
 
Dean’s Response: 
 
The Dean recommends that the first step for the Department is to develop a high-level 
strategic plan and vision, including the distinctions of its graduate program among other 
programs, with a clear focus on professional outcomes for its graduates. This will also 
set the context for future faculty complement requests in the priority areas. The Dean 
fully supports the development of additional supports, including a focus on grant-writing, 
and suggests that these be priorities in future hiring.  
 
 
Recommendation 2 
 
Revisit the graduate course offerings to streamline them according to the announced 
concentrations, which are currently ethno/musicology and composition. Enrolments 
should improve based on this consolidation. Some courses should be reconceptualised 
to speak across themes and approaches in scholarly discourse; some should be offered 
in rotation. Independent studies should be reserved for very specific cases. Students 
should be encouraged to have common experiences in a cluster of courses that build 
skills and critical tools. Learning outcomes should be more clearly established for the 
graduate programs, with courses serving specific purposes in achieving those 
outcomes. 
 
Program Response: 
 
The Graduate program agrees that a curricular review of graduate course offerings is 
necessary, and the plan is to implement this review in the academic year 2023/24. At 
the same time, the program believes that the observations of the reviewers do not 
necessarily reflect the reality of the course offerings for various reasons: some course 
descriptions are out of date and do not reflect the way they are currently being taught, 
and some foundational courses were thought to be optional. In addition, course 
enrollments have fluctuated along with the graduate student intake.  
 
The two newest graduate courses (Music for Social Change, Transcultural Jazz), 
created and offered by recent hires and young rising scholars reflect a new trend in 
course offerings within the department, which is towards courses that are 
concept/method driven and support our two concentrations in ethno/musicology and 
composition. 
 
The graduate program commits to the following courses of action, even before the 
curriculum review is completed: 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, MUSIC GRADUATE PROGRAM 
 

7 

 
• ensure that course descriptions available are up-to-date; 
• work with a pedagogy specialist from the Teaching Commons to align the 

program’s learning outcomes and the courses; 
• retire some courses that are no longer relevant; and  
• create a 5000 level 3.0 methodology course that will be offered every other year 

to fill a gap in the students’ preparations for their MRP and dissertation.  
 
The review committee recommends that the program reduce as much as possible the 
number of independent studies that are offered in the graduate program. The Graduate 
program believes that by revising the course offerings, encouraging students to seek 
relevant courses in other departments (within AMPD and beyond), and developing 
interdisciplinary courses in collaboration with other departments, the need for 
independent studies courses can be reduced. At the same time, the program realizes 
that some students will need to go deeper on some music topics for their dissertation 
research than we are able to accommodate within the course offerings, and so 
independent studies remain a final option for meeting students’ needs. 
 
Dean’s Response 
 
The Dean supports the Department’s response and some of the proposed courses of 
action, noting that the curricular revisions and any new courses need to be considered 
in the context over a larger framework, i.e., total course offerings. Aligning new courses 
with enrolment and faculty is important, as is the identification of courses that are to be 
discontinued. Setting clear priorities in the context of a Department vision and strategic 
plan will support this process.  
 
The Dean does not support creating a new MA methodology course offered in 
alternating years. This will not be efficient for supporting the major research paper 
(MRP) preparation and could risk disadvantaging some students. Rather, the program is 
encouraged to consult the Graduate Council and Associate Dean, Research, who have 
developed a pan-AMPD PhD course/colloquium. It may be that a shared graduate 
methods course or courses could support the MA studies and address the need to 
reduce independent studies, consolidate course offerings and provide greater 
community and collaboration among graduate students in Music and other programs in 
AMPD.   
 
Recommendation 3 
 
Consolidate the graduate requirements around the MRP, comprehensive exams, and 
dissertation, and revise the language requirements. Communications should be 
consolidated into a graduate student handbook and orientation/town hall sessions 
should be offered each term. 
 
Program Response: 
 
There is considerable support within the department for removing the language 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, MUSIC GRADUATE PROGRAM 
 

8 

requirements in the graduate program. This change will be processed as soon as 
possible. 
 
The GPD is currently working with FGS to make the requirements for the MRP, 
dissertation and comprehensive exams clearer for students, including more detailed 
written documents as well as open meetings with students to discuss the requirements.   
 
Finally, the program plans to create a Graduate Student Handbook (online) and resume 
the Graduate Student Newsletter (online) that will go to all current students and alumni.   
 
Dean’s Response: 
 
The Dean fully supports the reviewers’ recommendation that “communications should 
be consolidated into a graduate student handbook and orientation/town hall sessions 
should be offered each term.” This recommendation should be implemented 
immediately with the goal to have a full graduate student handbook by the end of the 
2023/24 academic year. 
 
Recommendation 4 
 
Faculty engagement with the graduate program is evident in individualized supervision 
of students; however, a research culture for the Department could be further developed. 
A stronger emphasis should be placed on grant applications and research programs 
that further a vision for strategic research areas in the Department.  
 
Program Response: 
 
The current graduate executive is planning to provide grant writing workshops, 
encourage and support students’ attendance at academic conferences, and promote 
student writing and publication. The graduate program will encourage students to 
become associates of Organized Research Units (ORUs) at York (eg., CFR, YCAR, 
CERLAC, etc.), which will further support their research interests and exposure to 
scholarly opportunities. Colleagues within the department will be urged to include 
graduate students in their own scholarly and creative endeavors to provide students 
with experience, modeling and contacts. 
 
Dean’s Response: 
 
The Dean supports increased emphasis on collaborative and collective research 
activities in Music, as well as the commitment to increasing research intensity as 
models for graduate student. Student could also consider participating in the AMPD 
based ORU, Sensorium, where appropriate.   
 
 
Faculty members in Music can apply for internal research grants, as well as external 
grants, including tri-council funding, among others, and include graduate students in this 
process. These grants can be used to support graduate research development. The 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, MUSIC GRADUATE PROGRAM 
 

9 

Associate Dean Research can facilitate connection and collaboration in research 
activities.   
 
Recommendation 5 
 
More strategic partnerships could be developed with institutions and organizations 
within the GTA as well as with international university music programs so that students 
can select mobility options during their program.  
 
Program Response 
 
This recommendation is worth investigating; however, given the priority of and time 
commitment demanded by the first four recommendations, it is a longer term and less 
urgent action. The program’s connection with the Carswell Chair in Community Music 
has provided many opportunities for grad students to practice grant writing, developing 
and implementing projects with a particular stakeholder (Toronto Community Music 
Schools), managing of a budget, presenting their research to a less academically-
oriented audience and preparing out-going reports. Further relationships of this kind are 
welcomed and can become a longer-term goal for the program. 
 
Dean’s Response: 
 
The Dean supports this recommendation, and notes that it should be aligned with a 
clearer vision and identity for the Department as forthcoming in a vision and strategic 
plan. One this is completed, a list of potential partners and priority connections can be 
created. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS WITH RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (Department-wide, 
relating to both undergraduate and graduate programs) 

Recommendation 6a 
The relationship with the Tribute Communities Recital Hall represents a seriously 
underfunded element of the critical academic programming in the Department of Music. 
The review team recommends strongly that this shortfall be addressed as soon as 
possible, either from within university resources or a designated development campaign 
to raise ongoing funds to support concerts open to the students on the wider campus 
and general public. 
 
Program and Dean Response 
 
This is primarily a concern of the undergraduate program. See the Undergraduate 
Music FAR.   
 
Recommendation 6b 
 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, MUSIC GRADUATE PROGRAM 
 

10 

Until proper funding is secured to bring access to the Tribute Communities Recital Hall 
up to the bare minimum acceptable level of access, retrofitting the Martin Family 
Lounge for performance is a high priority. 
 
Program and Dean Response: 
 
This is primarily a concern of the undergraduate program. See the undergraduate Music 
FAR. 
 
Recommendation 7 
That appropriate resources be found to support the Digital Music initiative.   

Program Response: 
 
The program notes that this is primarily a concern for the undergraduate program. 
 
Dean’s Response: 
 
Digital Music is the focus of a Canadian Research Chair, jointly appointed in Music and 
Computational Arts. Further, with the significant changes in virtually every area of 
Music, a greater focus on digital distribution (beyond digital creation) would be of benefit 
to students seeking to understand and gain competence in this changing landscape 
music. Potential areas of inquiry include both contemporary music production (or many 
genre and styles) as well as historical analysis aligned with new research 
methodologies in the digital humanities. Indeed, the Department of Music greatly 
expanded its own capacity for digital recording, production and dissemination of music 
during the pandemic. New areas of expertise as needed can be incorporated into the 
Department’s vision and strategic plan and included in future complement planning.  
 
Recommendation 8 
 
The Reviewers recommend moving a position of academic advisor with music expertise 
into the department, to function alongside the music department staff, and to fully 
integrate this advisor into the fabric of the music department.  

Program Response: 
 
This is primarily a concern of the undergraduate program. The GPD advises graduate 
students and there is no need for an additional academic advisor. 
 
Dean’s Response: 
 
The Dean notes that for the graduate program there is a need for clearer 
communications, including a graduate student handbook and regular orientations and 
town hall sessions. 
  
Other Considerations: PhD Program Pause 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, MUSIC GRADUATE PROGRAM 
 

11 

 
The external reviewers’ report notes ongoing discussions in the Music Graduate 
Program about the current pause on the intake of new PhD students but did not include 
a formal recommendation. The program and Dean provided the following comments. 
 
Program Comments: 
 
The program proposes that the two-year pause on the intake of PhD students be 
reduced to one year, and that a small number of excellent PhD candidates be admitted 
for 2024-25. The program believes it is in a good position now to continue to develop 
the program. First, the completion times of PhD students will be reduced by eliminating 
the language requirement and by making sure that the process and requirements for 
comprehensive exams are made clearer to students in multiple ways. Secondly, 
enrollment in the undergraduate program in Music has increased substantially in the 
past year because of sustained effort from within the department and AMPD. As of 
2023-2024 there are not enough PhD students to fill all of the necessary TA positions. 
Finally, issues around imbalanced supervisory capacity are being addressed, as noted 
above. 
 
The Department is concerned that two-year pause in PhD student intake will have a far-
reaching impact on plans refocus and revitalize the Graduate Program in Music. The 
program is certain that within the next three years, it can regain its status as a leader in 
graduate education in Music . 
 
Dean’s Comments 
 
The pause on PhD admissions was made in response to several factors including time-
to-degree for PhD students and a lack of supervisory capacity, among others. The 
efforts described here to address these are very much appreciated, as are the 
Department’s efforts to increase undergraduate enrolments and ensure that there is a 
reasonable balance in faculty teaching across both undergraduate and graduate 
teaching and supervision. The efforts so far are encouraging but need to continue for at 
least another year before the program can reopen. Further, if the program proposes to 
reopen PhD admissions and to reestablish itself as a leader in graduate education in 
Music, there will need to be evidence of more robust faculty research funding and 
contribution to major initiatives at the University. Graduate students in Music will need 
both support and examples of collaborative research and to be included in funded 
research by faculty.  
 
Given the program’s desire to restart PhD admissions, the program should prepare an 
outline for the specific actions the program will undertake to achieve its goal to be a 
leader in graduate Music education in the next three years, including both those 
suggested by the Department and noted by the Dean.   
 



 

 
The chart below lays out the implementation plan approved by the Joint Sub-Committee at its meeting in December 2023. 
 

 Recommendation Action Responsible for Follow-up Timeline 
1. That the fields in the 

graduate music programs 
be consolidated to 
maximize York’s faculty 
and areas of excellence. 

The graduate programs will 
contribute to the articulation 
of a Departmental Strategic 
Vision and Plan, outlining the 
priorities and key areas of 
development, with a focus on 
the consolidation and 
streamlining of its graduate 
offerings, the distinctions of 
its graduate programs among 
other programs, and 
professional outcomes for 
graduate students. . 

Graduate Program 
Director 

Fall 2023/2024 and 
continuing as needed. 

2.  That learning outcomes for 
the identified options in the 
graduate program be 
established and courses 
reviewed and refined to 
serve the advancing of 
those outcomes. 

Once areas of focus have 
been clarified and learning 
outcomes refined as part of 
the Strategic Visioning 
process, the program will 
review and/or revisit course 
offerings to ensure alignment 
with the updated learning 
outcomes. Courses to be 
discontinued will be 
identified. The program will 
explore ways to capitalize on 
existing graduate offerings in 
the department and make 
more use of existing 
resources, including, for 

Associate Dean 
Research, AMPD 
Graduate Program 
Director 
Graduate Executive 

Immediate start in Fall 
2023/2024 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, MUSIC GRADUATE PROGRAM 
 

13 

example, the existing pan-
AMPD research course / 
colloquium.  . 

3.  That graduate 
requirements for the MRP, 
comprehensive exams and 
dissertation be 
consolidated, and language 
requirements be revised. 
Communications with 
students should be 
consolidated into a 
graduate student 
handbook. 

The program will, through its 
Strategic Visioning exercise, 
consolidate requirements for 
the MRP, comprehensive 
exams, and dissertation, and 
develop a mechanism (for 
example, a graduate 
handbook) for clearly 
communicating these and 
other program requirements, 
expectations, and timelines. 
to students. 
 
 

Graduate Program 
Director 

Immediate start in Fall 
2023/2024; completion by 
June 2024. 

4.  That a stronger emphasis 
on research, including 
grant applications, be 
fostered in the Music 
Department. 

The program will explore and 
report on efforts to enhance 
the research culture in the 
program, for example: 
 

• increasing research 
intensity to provide 
models for students 

• offering grant-writing 
workshops 

Graduate Program 
Director 
Associate Dean Research 

Immediate start and 
increasing through 
Fall/Winter 2023/2024 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, MUSIC GRADUATE PROGRAM 
 

14 

• providing support for 
students for academic 
conferences and 
publishing 

• including students in 
research and other 
scholarly activities 

• encouraging students 
to join associated 
ORUs 
 

5.  That additional strategic 
partnerships within the 
GTA and with international 
music programs be 
established. 

Partnerships will be 
considered as part of the 
Department’s strategic plan 
and vision exercise, after 
which a potential list can be 
developed. 

Graduate Program 
Director 
Music Department 
Executive 

List prepared to allow 
outreach to begin in the 
2024/2025 academic year. 

6.  Recommendations that relate to both graduate and undergraduate programs  
6a) That support for student 

concerts in an appropriate 
space be a priority. 

Refer to Undergraduate FAR n/a n/a 

6b) That The Tribute 
Communities Recital Hall 
be made accessible and 
the martin Family Lounge 
be retrofitted for 
performance. 

Refer to Undergraduate FAR n/a n/a 

7. That the Digital Music 
Initiative be appropriately 
supported.   

New areas of expertise (such 
as digital music and digital 
distribution) will be 
considered in the 
development of the 
Department’s vision and 

Graduate Program 
Director 
Associate Dean Research 
Director, Sensorium 

To begin in 2023/2024 and 
ongoing. 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, MUSIC GRADUATE PROGRAM 
 

15 

strategic plan and included in 
future complement planning.  
 
The program will determine 
available resources for Music 
graduate students in this 
area, consulting with the 
Associate Dean, Research 
and the Sensorium Director 
as appropriate.  

8. That an academic advisor 
with music expertise be 
relocated in the 
Department. 

Communications with 
graduate students will be 
enhanced.  (see 
Recommendation 3) 

See Recommendation 3 
above 

See Recommendation 3 
above 

9. That the program continues 
efforts to support PhD 
students with a goal to 
resuming admissions to the 
PhD program. 

In addition to the efforts 
described by the program, 
the Dean will provide 
guidance about additional 
action related to research 
and supervisory goals for 
new and continuing faculty. 

Dean, Graduate Program 
Director 

To begin in Fall 2023 and 
continue. 

 



1 
 

 
YORK UNIVERSITY  
Final Assessment Report 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Music, Undergraduate (BFA, BA)  
 
School of the Arts, Media, Performance and 
Design 
 
Cyclical Program Review – 2012 to 2022 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, MUSIC UNDERGRADUATE PROGRAM 
 

2 

This Final Assessment Report (FAR) provides a synthesis of the cyclical review of the 
programs listed below. 
 
Program(s) Reviewed: 
 
Bachelor of Fine Arts Honours (BFA Hon) 
Bachelor of Honours (BA Hon)  
Bachelor of Arts (BA) 
 
Reviewers appointed by the Vice-Provost Academic:  
 
Dr. Kevin Swinden, Associate Dean, Faculty of Music-Planning and Curriculum, 
Associate Professor, Music Theory, Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, Ontario  
Dr. Lori Burns, Full Professor, School of Music, Faculty of Arts, University of Ottawa, 
Ontario  
Dr. Molly Ladd-Taylor, Full Professor, Department of History, Faculty of Liberal Arts and 
Professional Studies, York University, Ontario 
  
Cyclical Program Review Key Milestones: 
Cyclical Program Review launch: September 15, 2021  
Self-study submitted to Vice-Provost Academic: January 17, 2023 
Date of the Site Visit: April 10-11, 2023  
Review Report received: May 17, 2023 
Program Response received: July 20, 2023  
Dean’s Response received: August 23, 2023  
 
 
Implementation Plan and FAR confirmed by Joint Sub-Committee on Quality Assurance, 
November 6, 2023. 
 
 
 
Submitted by Marcia Annisette, Vice-Provost Academic, York University 
 

 
 
This review was conducted under the York University Quality Assurance Protocol,  
August 2020.  
  



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, MUSIC UNDERGRADUATE PROGRAM 
 

3 

SITE VISIT: April 10-11, 2023 

The virtual visit was organized around a set of interviews with the following individuals:  
Vice-Provost Academic, Lyndon Martin, Dean, Faculty of Graduate Studies, Thomas 
Lobel, AMPD Dean, Sarah Bay-Cheng, AMPD Associate Dean Academic Michael 
Darroch and Associate Dean Research, Laura Levi, Music Chair, Karen Burke, 
Graduate Program Director, Stephanie Martin, and two University librarians. The 
reviewers met with full-time faculty in the undergraduate and graduate programs, a 
group of part-time (contract) faculty, undergraduate students and a group of MA and 
PhD students.  Discussions were also held with departmental administrative staff.   

The reviewers were not able to tour the physical spaces for ensemble rehearsals, 
teaching studios, labs or performance spaces.   
 
OUTCOME:  
 
The Joint Sub-Committee on Quality Assurance received the Program and Decanal 
responses to the recommendations and has approved an implementation plan.  
A report on the progress of the initiatives undertaken in response to recommendations 
in general and as specified in the implementation plan will be provided in the Follow-up 
Report which will be due 18 months (May, 2025) after the review of this report by the 
York University Joint Sub-Committee on Quality Assurance. 
The next Cyclical Program Review will begin in the Fall of 2029 with a site visit expected 
in the Fall of 2030 or Winter of 2031. 
 
 
PROGRAM DESCRIPTION AND STRENGTHS: 
 
The Department of Music is one of seven academic units within the School of Arts, 
Media, Performance and Design (Dance; Design; Digital Media; Film; Theatre; Visual 
Arts and Art History).  The Music Department was formed in 1969 and the 
undergraduate program operates interdependently with the Graduate Program in Music.   
 
The undergraduate program creatively weaves jazz, non-Western and Western 
classical music into a curriculum that balances performance with scholarship and 
composition, which leads to a Bachelor of Fine Arts Honours (BFA Hon), Bachelor of 
Arts Honours (BA Hon) and Bachelor of Arts (BA) degree. 
 
The Department self-study states that, “the undergraduate curriculum is based on 
performance, studies, and composition in the areas of jazz, Western art music, and 
world music, also including courses in contemporary improvisation, digital and film 
composition, music education and popular music. Rather than defining sets of 
prescribed paths for music majors (e.g., jazz performance), the program allows students 
to follow their own pathway following two years of core requirements in 
theory/musicianship and an overview of the cultural study of music.”  
 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, MUSIC UNDERGRADUATE PROGRAM 
 

4 

The reviewers note that the program honours principles of diversity and inclusion, 
introducing world music courses from the first year to decenter Western art music as the 
only pathway for academic study. The reviewers note, “The department’s institutional 
proposition to decenter western classical music within a broader study of global musics 
is laudable, and the infrastructure and exceptional resources of world music instruments 
and practitioners that the department has built over time is enviable.” The reviewers 
state, “York has a program that is uniquely poised in Ontario, and perhaps in the 
Canadian landscape, to deliver an exceptional and forward-looking music curriculum,” 
and recommend “that York intentionally…devote its energy and resources in a way that 
will position York as the model for what a diverse and decolonized music curriculum can 
be.” They further note, “one of York’s most distinguishing and differentiating 
opportunities is its enviable collection of world music instruments and the access to 
authentic instruction on these instruments that is available in the GTA. This is a critical 
differentiator for York and a resource that needs to be supported, even if there are costs 
associated with the delivery of the world music ensembles.” 
 
The reviewers note that greater clarity could be provided to students to ensure that 
student’s expectations are well-aligned with the program’s offerings. The efforts to 
sustain the nine to eleven distinct specializations described by the Department are not 
sustainable, even though some are only minimally differentiated from each other. The 
reviewers suggest creating clusters as a way to reduce the number of streams and 
creating foundational course requirements addressing common elements of several 
specializations. 
 
Regarding the three research chairs in community music, jazz, and music and 
computational arts, the reviewers note that these offer excellent opportunities for the 
Department and suggest that they be adequately mobilized and supported to attract 
research in these areas. New hires in the department should be supported to seek 
membership in the Faculty of Graduate studies and begin supervisory activities with 
graduate students. At the same time, the reviewers suggest that senior faculty members 
engage further with the undergraduate program.   
 
In their summary, the reviewers stated, “York is blessed with an exceptional faculty 
complement who are deeply committed to their students and to the stewardship of a 
long-standing and important music program in Ontario,” noting also that part-time faculty 
are just as highly engaged.   
 
RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
The reviewers note that additional context on each recommendation can be found in the 
body of their report.  
 
MAJOR CURRICULUM RECOMMENDATION 
 
Recommendation 1 
 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, MUSIC UNDERGRADUATE PROGRAM 
 

5 

The department should move toward a small set of clearly defined areas of study with 
additional and specific degree requirements. The areas should be broad enough in their 
conception to support the eclectic student body that the department values, but also 
with boundaries that will provide some intentionality and focus to the degree. The 24-
credit core curriculum should be examined along with other course offerings.  
 
Program Response 
 
The Department agrees that the undergraduate program should move toward more 
clearly defined areas of study, short of streaming, in order to maintain its distinctive 
nature. This work was begun in May 2023 and will continue while maintaining the 
unique, flexible nature of the degree programs. Pathways are currently visible on the 
website and the process of reorganizing the courses to clarify how to navigate the 
program will continue. The Department will examine the 24-credit core curriculum over 
the next two years. 
 
Dean’s Response 
 
The Dean supports the recommendation for a clearer focus and area of distinction, 
which was included in the previous Music CPR (2015). Given the rapid changes 
ongoing in the field, it will be important for the focus and future direction of the 
Department to align with the field more broadly and, perhaps even more importantly, 
with student interest and demand. This will include outlining clearer and more 
streamlined pathways not only through the program but also to clear career options 
after graduation. For example, the courses facilitated by the Music Technology hire are 
full in Fall/Winter 2023/24. These courses will also support other areas of the 
Department in terms of recording, content creation and skills needed to support a 
variety of potential career paths related to music.  
 
The Department first should articulate a Departmental Strategic Vision and Plan, 
outlining the priorities and key areas of focus and development, focusing on a small 
number of clearly defined areas of study. 
 
This process should take priority over all other actions and recommendations. With the 
support of the Associate Dean, Academic, it should be completed before further 
revisions are made to the core undergraduate curriculum or other substantial curricular 
revisions, including requirements regarding ensembles, future program offerings, etc.  
 
MINOR CURRICULUM RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Recommendation 2 
 
Ensure that all students are able to develop a portfolio of work, as outlined in Program 
Learning Outcome 7, perhaps by way of a required capstone experience.  

Program Response 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, MUSIC UNDERGRADUATE PROGRAM 
 

6 

 
Program Learning Outcome 7 is as follows: Demonstrate a portfolio that includes 
evidence of work related to 21st century career paths in music, including those in 
education, community engagement, and/or entrepreneurial opportunities.  
 
The department will re-examine Program Learning Outcome 7 to potentially include a 
range of capstone experiences from which students may choose. These opportunities 
could take the form of a recital, MRP, Practicum, volunteer project, recording project, 
etc. The recent reduction of the requirement for courses outside of Music may create 
room for a required capstone experience The Department will also consider broadening 
the current career development course to include relevant materials for non-jazz and 
non-performing-oriented students. 

Dean’s Response 
 
The Dean supports this recommendation. Colleagues in Music may wish to consider 
greater participation in existing capstone opportunities, such as the York-wide C4 
course, collaboration with the Helen Carswell Chair for Community-Engaged Research 
in the Arts, and collaboration with the Faculty of Health. The Department can also 
encourage students to take advantage of the new e-portfolio in development for all 
AMPD students. The Music Technology position may also be able to help support 
students in developing their portfolios as audio recordings. These opportunities would 
allow Music students to document their progress throughout the program and to 
showcase achievements and culminating performances.  
 
Recommendation 3a 
 
The reviewers support the department’s proposal to develop a large ensemble course 
fully. Consideration might be given to expanding the aspiration to require ensemble 
participation across the first two years of the program to fully realize this potential. 

Program Response 
 
The Department notes that the plan to add a three-credit ensemble requirement has 
been approved to begin in Fall 2023, along with the proposal to reduce the credits 
required from outside of the department. Over the coming year, the department will 
explore expanding the ensemble requirement across the first two years of the program. 
 
Dean’s Response 
 
The decision to reduce interdisciplinary studies in favour of requiring small ensembles 
will necessarily reduce the kind of interdisciplinarity that distinguishes Music at York and 
may also create curricular impediments that make it difficult for students to navigate the 
program requirements efficiently, a condition that has been identified as a persistent 
challenge for the Department, noted elsewhere in this report. This change is also at 
odds with the principles in the AMPD Strategic Plan, 2020-25, which was approved by 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, MUSIC UNDERGRADUATE PROGRAM 
 

7 

the Faculty in 2020 and serves as the guiding document for curriculum development. 
Enrolments should be carefully monitored and unintended effects, including graduation 
patterns reviewed.  
 
The Department should consider other interdisciplinary study options, including General 
Education courses in AMPD, to provide the kind of well-rounded education that the 
Department promises. 
 
Recommendation 3b 
 
With the addition of required ensemble courses in the core program requirements, the 
already minimal differentiation between the Specialized Honours BFA and the 
Specialized Honours BA will become even smaller. The department will realize 
structural efficiency and greater clarity in graduation requirements by eliminating the 
Specialized Honours BA and offering only the Specialized Honours BFA and the 90-
credit BA program. 

Program Response 
 
The department continues to lean in the direction of making greater differentiation 
between our BFA and BA programs and appreciates the need to make the difference 
between these programs more readily apparent to students. The Department’s goal is to 
strengthen the studies aspect of BA degree, in contrast to the BFA. The recent addition 
of a required ensemble course to the BFA, along with the corresponding reduction in 
course requirements outside of Music will, in fact, increase the difference between the 
two degrees.  
 
Dean’s Response 
 
The Dean supports the reviewers’ recommendation. It is not clear that there is sufficient 
demand for a separate BA music studies program, who would take this, or what the 
specific career outcomes would be. Reducing the program offerings to the BFA andthe 
90-credit exit degree option would support the streamlining and efficiency of the 
program recommended elsewhere. This issue should be carefully reviewed and plans 
for future action included in the Department’s vision and strategic plan, which are to be 
submitted by September 2024.  
Recommendation 4a 
 
Collaborate with AMPD departments to design and offer cross-coded inter-departmental 
courses that build on the synergies available in the larger Faculty, to satisfy 
requirements for courses outside of Music but within AMPD in a more meaningful way 
for students.  

 

 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, MUSIC UNDERGRADUATE PROGRAM 
 

8 

Program Response 
 
The Department recognizes the advantages of collaboration with other AMPD 
departments and is currently exploring potential collaborations and/or inter-departmental 
courses beginning with Dance, Theatre and Cinema Media Arts. Ideas for new 
collaborations will begin with smaller interactions as we work towards new cross-coded 
inter-departmental courses. 
 
Dean’s Response 
 
The Dean is supportive and encourages a proactive timeline in light of the need for 
learning outcomes to align with changing employment opportunities for Music students. 
How Music will contribute to such an initiative should form part of the Department’s 
strategic vision plan.   
 
Recommendation 4b 
 
Resolve the institutional barrier that prevents Music from offering Gen Ed courses and 
develop or identify existing courses suitable to satisfy a Gen Ed requirement. 

Program Response 
 
The Music Department offers several courses that are popular and open to non-Music 
majors, large service ‘1500’ series of courses taught primarily by full-time Music faculty. 
The Department believes that offering Gen Ed courses would offer financially stability.   

Dean’s Response 
 
In principle, the Dean of AMPD enthusiastically supports this recommendation. Music 
education is a proven benefit to university studies, in both immediately adjacent fields 
such as Music and Education, and Music for Health and Wellness, as well as supporting 
seemingly disparate areas.  
 
General education requirements at York are determined collegially through University 
Senate with specific requirements outlined in a University document, and program-
specific requirements set by full-time faculty members in other Faculties. The 
Department could work with other Departments to form a working group to develop 
courses and proposal for consultation with other Faculties and consult with other 
Faculties about potential interest.  
 
RECRUITMENT AND RETENTION 

Recommendation 5a 
 
In consideration of improved recruitment outcomes, the reviewers recommend clarifying 
the message and value proposition of a York education, and continuing efforts to 
connect York’s excellent faculty directly to potential students in the region through 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, MUSIC UNDERGRADUATE PROGRAM 
 

9 

outreach and inviting high-school students in for high-impact events—hearing the 
faculty perform live and making a personal connection is a powerful recruitment tool.  

Program Response 
 
Since returning to in-person instruction recruitment levels and conversion rates have 
improved greatly due to the program’s collective efforts which most recently have 
included inviting high-school students in for several high-impact events. The 
Department will lean into these practices and look to continue this successful trajectory 
in both recruitment and conversion. 

Dean’s Response 
 
These activities should be integrated into new departmental messaging, actions arising 
from the Department’s Strategic Plan, and AMPD recruitment strategies. 
 
Recommendation 5b 
 
In consideration of improved retention, the department leadership is encouraged to 
conduct exit-surveys of all students who do not return year-over-year to better 
understand the push-factors that drove individual students from the program and the 
pull-factors that enticed them elsewhere. Results of these surveys should be examined 
and changes made as required to improve retention. 

Program Response 
 
The faculty in the Music Department are stretched ‘very thin on the ground’ for 
administrative support and so while there is agreement in principle that conducting exit-
surveys of students could be helpful, resources would be required both to implement, 
examine and make the changes required. 

Dean’s Response 
 
Given the historic trends in Music, the Department should gather the relevant data on 
retention. Examples of feedback options include town halls and individual conversations 
between faculty and students, incorporating questions into short class surveys about 
current experience and future plans could provide insights. The Division of Students can 
provide assistance with retention data best practices and the development of a plan, 
which should be incorporated into the Strategic Vision document. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS WITH RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (Department-wide, 
relating to both graduate and undergraduate programs) 

Recommendations six through eight are common to both the undergraduate and 
graduate programs. 

Recommendation 6a 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, MUSIC UNDERGRADUATE PROGRAM 
 

10 

 
The review team recommends strongly that the funding shortfall impacting programming 
in the Tribute Communities Recital Hall shortfall be addressed as soon as possible, 
either from within university resources or a designated development campaign.  
Program Response 
 
The Music department could not agree more with this recommendation. Faculty 
performances constitute research; faculty performances for students constitute 
pedagogy; and student performances constitute a wholistic education. The Department 
wants to work with AMPD and Performance Facilities to find creative ways to bring 
down the tech personnel costs and create a protocol for faculty to use the Tribute 
Communities Recital Hall (TCRH) for teaching, with and without tech support.   
         
Dean’s Response 
 
Unlike other departments in AMDP, Music does not have its own dedicated 
performance space outside of the shared performance facilities supported by unionized 
staff. This results in relatively high use of the recital hall. In a typical year, the 
Department of Music is the largest user of the recital hall, presenting approximately 180 
performances and Music-related events. Each of these requires a certain number of 
unionized technical staff with compensation determined accordingly.  
 
The Dean’s Office is currently conducting a review of the budget model and funding for 
performance facilities, including how these are supported by the Faculty and how the 
spaces are used by the performing arts departments, including Music. The Office is 
collecting data from peer institutions regarding usage of facilities for comparably sized 
and structured departments of Music. These data can inform our future decision-making 
and any future proposal for how to allocate the resources for performance facilities in 
the University and for the respective departments’ use. These efforts may include 
dedicated fundraising to support facilities access or other strategies to ensure student 
access to facilities. The function of the Martin Family Lounge can also be reviewed in 
this context. 
 
Performing at York for faculty colleagues and students has significant value for the 
community, including not only pedagogically but also in facilitating community spirit. 
However, faculty recitals for the Department community should not substitute for 
expectations of work in venues outside the University which can be judged in the larger 
professional context.  
 
It does seem smart to create experiential education opportunities for students in music 
technology and audio engineering to support the highest priority uses of the recital hall, 
including not only Music events, but also the other uses of the facilities.  
 
Recommendation 6b 
 
The reviewers recommend that retrofitting the Martin Family Lounge for performance be 
a high priority, while the issue raised in Recommendation 6 a is being resolved. 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, MUSIC UNDERGRADUATE PROGRAM 
 

11 

 
Program Response 
 
The program agrees this should be a priority. However, while the Martin Family Lounge 
may be appropriate for amplified music, it is not a substitute for an acoustically designed 
space. Un-amplified music requires specific spaces for students to properly learn how to 
create and project sound and this must be learned in appropriate conditions.   
 
Dean’s Response 
 
It is not clear from the review report what activities reviewers recommend holding in the 
Tribute Communities Recital Hall, beyond the typical 180 events presented there 
currently. The recent Space Audit in AMPD highlighted the need for additional student 
space, a need that the Martin Family Lounge (MFL) currently serves. It would be helpful 
to consider any proposal for changes to the MFL along with the more comprehensive 
plan for the Department and the interconnected resource needs in all of the 
performance and studio spaces. This could be included in the Department’s vision and 
strategic plan document. 
 
Recommendation 7 
 
If the department is committed to moving in the direction of Digital Music, appropriate 
resources need to be found or reallocated from existing or underperforming programs to 
support this initiative. 

Program Response 
 
The Music Department agrees that area of Digital Music represents an opportunity for 
York in the Ontario landscape. It should not however be at the expense of existing 
programming but rather integrated and supportive to the entire program. Some 
additional equipment resources are immediately needed: acoustic treatment and 
baffles, larger microphone/stand/cable inventory. A refurbished and live sound set up for 
the Martin Family Lounge is noted as a priority and would also support opportunities for 
experiential education for those students enrolled in live sound production courses.   

One major gap noted by reviewers in the core administrative team was a Designated 
Technologist. The Music Department urges that appropriate and sufficient resources be 
directed to support this initiative. A professor of music production has been hired, but 
maintaining resources isn’t an appropriate use of that faculty member’s time. A staff 
technologist would be very useful since the only full-time studio resource coordinator 
available already supports three performing arts departments.  

Dean’s Response 
 
The Dean agrees that resources – faculty, staff, financial – need to be allocated to this 
strategic direction, especially noting the changes that AI is already having in the field. 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, MUSIC UNDERGRADUATE PROGRAM 
 

12 

Ideally areas of collaboration and opportunities for shared will be found with Theatre, 
Cinema & Media Arts, Computational Arts. Increased enrolment and investment in this 
area with strategic budget reallocation from under-performing areas of the Department 
could support sustainable growth. The Department should consider this in the Strategic 
Vision and Plan. 
 
In the Graduate Program Final Assessment Report, the Dean notes that Digital Music is 
the focus of a Canadian Research Chair, jointly appointed in Music and Computational 
Arts. Further, with the significant changes in virtually every area of Music, a greater 
focus on digital distribution (beyond digital creation) would be of benefit to students 
seeking to understand and gain competence in this changing landscape music. 
Potential areas of inquiry include both contemporary music production as well as 
historical analysis aligned with new research methodologies in the digital humanities. 
New areas of expertise as needed can be incorporated into the Department’s vision and 
strategic plan and included in future complement planning.  
 
Recommendation 8 
 
The reviewers recommend moving a position of academic advisor with music expertise 
into the department, to function alongside the music department staff, and to fully 
integrate this advisor into the fabric of the music department.  

Program Response 
 
The Music department wholeheartedly agrees with this recommendation. An academic 
advisor with music expertise and a thorough knowledge of the music courses working 
alongside the music department staff is essential.   

Dean’s Response 
 
The Dean notes that this recommendation is not possible within current resourcing, nor 
does it follow the model of best practices for integrated student services, particularly 
with regard to the diverse needs of students, including not only academic but also 
social, financial and mental health supports among others. Other recommendations 
here regarding the need to streamline curriculum, outline clearer pathways, and reduce 
areas should help with advising.  
 
 
 
 
 



 

IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 
The chart below lays out the implementation plan approved by the Joint Sub-Committee at its meeting in November 2023 
 

 Recommendation Action Responsible for Follow-up Timeline 
1. That the program move 

towards a set of clearly 
defined areas and review 
the core requirements as 
well as other courses that 
contribute to the program. 

The Department will 
articulate a Departmental 
Strategic Vision and Plan, 
outlining the priorities and 
key areas of focus and 
development, focusing on a 
small number of clearly 
defined areas of study.  

Department Chair, 
Executive Committee, 
Department faculty 
members (undergraduate 
and graduate) Associate 
Dean Academic 
 

Strategic Vision Document 
to be submitted to Dean’s 
Office by September 2024. 

2.  That all students be 
assured of the opportunity 
to develop a portfolio of 
work. 

The program will explore 
York-wide capstone 
opportunities and 
collaborations with other 
Faculties as well as the 
Carswell Chair for Engaged 
Research in the Arts.  
Students should be advised 
of the new e-portfolio being 
developed for all AMPD 
students, as well as the 
option for audio recording 
through the Music 
Technology position. 

Chair, Department of 
Music 
Area Coordinators, Music 
Associate Dean Academic 
Carswell Chair 

Information to be shared 
with students in Fall 2023, 
other developments 
through 2024/2025. 

3. a)  That the program proceed 
with the required ensemble 
course.   

The program will monitor 
enrolments and other student 
outcomes in light of the new 
required ensemble course.  
Interdisciplinary study options 
(other than the “in/out” 
credits) will be explored and 

Chair, Department of 
Music 
Dean’s Office. 

September 2024 for initial 
review of outcomes. Annual 
review over degree cycle 
(four years) ongoing. 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, MUSIC UNDERGRADUATE PROGRAM 
 

14 

reported on by September 
2024. 

3. b)  That the program consider 
streamlining degree 
options to offer only the 
Specialized Honours BFA 
and the 90-credit BA 
studies program. 

The program will consider 
streamlining the degree 
options as part of its strategic 
visioning process. . 

Chair, Department of 
Music 
Music Department 
Executive 
Associate Dean 
Academic, as needed 

Strategic Vision plan due 
by September 2024; 
implementation of potential 
changes to be effective Fall 
2026. 

4. a)  That AMPD design 
meaningful inter-
departmental courses.  

The Department will explore 
collaboration with other 
AMPD departments 
regarding the development of 
collaborative and/or 
interdepartmental courses. 
This will be included in the 
Strategic Vision and Plan 

Chair, Department of 
Music 
Music Executive 
Other AMPD Department 
Chairs 

Strategic Vision Plan due 
by September 2024; 
Implementation in Fall 2025 
or as soon as approval 
process permits. 

4. b)  That the barrier preventing 
Music from offering Gen Ed 
courses be removed. 

The program will explore the 
possibility of collaborating 
with other AMPD 
departments to develop 
proposals for General 
Education courses to be 
presented to other Faculties. 

Various AMPD 
Departments, department 
members 
Other Faculties 

Proposal within 2 to 3 
years, assuming there is 
interest from other 
Faculties. 

5. a) That recruitment efforts 
include high impact events 
for potential undergraduate 
students with a focus on 
personal connections. 

The Department will continue 
recruitment efforts that have 
demonstrated success and 
work to include key 
messages from the new 
Strategic Vision and Plan. 

Chair, Department of 
Music 
Chair, 
Audition/Recruitment 
Committee 
AMPD Communications 
team 

2023/24: continue 
recruitment efforts and 
incorporate new messaging 
from Strategic Vision and 
Plan into recruitment efforts 
for Fall 2025 (activities 
through 2024/2025) 

5. b) That relevant data on 
retention be gathered 
through exit surveys of 

The Department will explore 
methods for collecting 
retention data, including the 

Chair, Department of 
Music 
Dean’s Office, AMPD 

Plan for inclusion in 
Strategic Vision and Plan, 
September 2024; 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, MUSIC UNDERGRADUATE PROGRAM 
 

15 

student who leave the 
program. 

possibility of consultation with 
the Division of Students. A 
plan for collecting retention 
data will be included in the 
Strategic Vision and Plan. 

Division of Students implementation through to 
2025/2026. 

6. a) That funding for 
programming in the Tribute 
Communities Recital Hall 
be reviewed. 

The Dean’s Office will collect 
and share comparative 
funding models at other 
universities and review 
implementation options with 
Music and other performing 
arts departments. A plan will 
be created for the integration 
of music technology and 
audio engineering students 
to support performance 
facilities.  

Chair, Department of 
Music 
Faculty members 
Dean’s Office 
Head of Facilities 
Executive Officer 

Information gathering and 
sharing through 2023/2024. 
Integration of plans into the 
Strategic Vision Plan for 
implementation in 
2025/2026 

6. b) That the Martin Family 
Lounge be retrofitted for 
performances. 

The Department will include 
suggestions for the Martin 
Family Lounge in the 
Strategic Vision and Plan, 
after consulting with other 
performance programs and 
the Dean’s Office. 

Chair, Department of 
Music 
Dean’s Office 
Other performing arts 
programs 

Information gathering and 
sharing through 2023/2024. 
Incorporate suggestions for 
the MFL Strategic Vision 
plan for Fall 2024. 

7.  That resources to support 
Digital Music be reallocated 
from existing or 
underperforming programs. 

As part of the Strategic 
Vision and Plan, the 
Department will consider how 
Digital Music fits with the 
range of program areas 
offered. 

Chair, Department of 
Music 
Executive Committee, 
Music 
Others as determined by 
the plan 

Strategic Vision Plan for 
Fall 2024; implementation 
of initiatives identified 
through 2025/2026. 

8 That an academic advisor 
with music expertise be 
located in the Department. 

The streamlining of programs 
associated with the Strategic 
Visioning will reduce 

n/a n/a 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, MUSIC UNDERGRADUATE PROGRAM 
 

16 

confusion and facilitate clear 
communicationA dedicated 
advisor is not feasible and 
does not fit with recognized 
best practices for holistic 
advising. 

 



1 
 

 
YORK UNIVERSITY  
Final Assessment Report 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Chemistry, BSc, MSc, PhD  
Biochemistry, BSc 
 
 
Faculty of Science 
 
 
Cyclical Program Review – 2013 to 2021 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, CHEMISTRY & BIOCHEMISTRY UNDERGRADUATE AND 
GRADUATE PROGRAMS 

 

2 

This Final Assessment Report (FAR) provides a synthesis of the cyclical review of the 
programs listed below. 
 
Programs Reviewed: 
Chemistry, BSc, MSc, PhD  
Biochemistry, BSc 
 
Reviewers appointed by the Vice-Provost Academic:  
 
Dr. Kim Baines, Distinguished University Professor, Department of Chemistry 
Western University, Ontario 
Dr. Louise Dawe, Associate Professor, Department of Chemistry, Wilfrid Laurier 
University, Ontario 
Dr. Mark Hayward, Associate Professor, Department of Communications and Media 
Studies, York University 
  
 
Cyclical Program Review Key Milestones: 
Cyclical Program Review launch: September 15, 2021  
Self-study submitted to Vice-Provost Academic: December 1-12, 2022 
Date of the Site Visit: March13-14, 2023 
Review Report received: May 11, 2023 
Program Response received: July 14, 2023  
Dean’s Response received: August 14, 2023  
 
 
Implementation Plan and FAR confirmed by Joint Sub-Committee on Quality Assurance, 
December 4, 2023. 
 
 
Submitted by Marcia Annisette, Vice-Provost Academic, York University 

 
 
 
 

This review was conducted under the York University Quality Assurance Protocol,  
August 2020.  



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, CHEMISTRY & BIOCHEMISTRY UNDERGRADUATE AND 
GRADUATE PROGRAMS 

 

3 

SITE VISIT: March 13-14, 2023 

The virtual site visit was organized around a set of meetings with the following 
individuals and groups: The first meeting was with Vice-Provost Academic Lyndon 
Martin and the Dean of Graduate Studies, Thomas Loebel, followed by a meeting with 
the Chair of the Department, Jennifer van Wijngaarden, the Undergraduate Program 
Director, Derek Jackson, and the Graduate Program Director, Dr. Robert McLaren.  The 
reviewers also met with Rui Wang, Dean of Science and subsequently, the Associate 
Dean Curriculum and Pedagogy, Hovig Kouyoumadjian, and Associate Dean Students, 
Mike Scheid, and the Associate Dean, Research and Partnerships, Vivian Saridakis.  
Meetings were held with University Librarians, Departmental administrative staff and 
with a group of technical staff, including the Senior Laboratory Technician, the NMR 
Specialist, and 5 other laboratory technicians.  Faculty members focused on first year 
courses met with the reviewers, followed by those focused on the undergraduate 
program, and then those involved with the graduate program. An additional meeting slot 
for Faculty members was also held. Undergraduate students and graduate students met 
in separate groups with the reviewers. The reviewers note in their report that an in-
person visit would have been preferable and that in future, meetings should be arranged 
with faculty teaching mandatory undergraduate program components in the Biology 
Department, as well as staff members. At the request of the reviewers, a written 
statement from Robert Tsushima, Chair of the Biology Department was provided. 
 
 
OUTCOME:  
 
The Joint Sub-Committee on Quality Assurance received the Program and Decanal 
responses to the recommendations and has approved an implementation plan.  
A report on the progress of the initiatives undertaken in response to recommendations 
in general and as specified in the implementation plan will be provided in the Follow-up 
Report which will be due 18 months (July, 2025) after the review of this report by the 
York University Joint Sub-Committee on Quality Assurance. 
The next Cyclical Program Review will begin in the Fall of 2029 with a site visit expected 
in the Fall of 2030 or Winter of 2031. 
 
 
PROGRAM DESCRIPTION AND STRENGTHS: 
 
The Department of Chemistry offers a variety of BSc Degree options in Chemistry and in 
Biochemistry (with Biology). In addition to the Specialized Honours BSc options in 
Chemistry and Biochemistry, the Chemistry Department offers a Pharmaceutical and 
Biological Chemistry Stream which the reviewers describe as “unique, and as such, also 
highlights innovative programming”. The reviewers noted, “The Specialized Honours 
programs are accredited by the Canadian Society for Chemistry. The goal of these 
programs is the development of professional chemists with broad foundational 
knowledge and depth in their specialized area. The second goal of these programs is to 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, CHEMISTRY & BIOCHEMISTRY UNDERGRADUATE AND 
GRADUATE PROGRAMS 

 

4 

provide experiential research activities to prepare students for lab-based post-degree 
programs or careers.” The Honours major and 90-credit BSc degree options offer 
students greater flexibility and are suited to students who may wish to pursue 
professional degrees in dentistry or law. 
 
The reviewers state, “Creative and appropriate assessments are used at all levels. 
Special credit should be noted for the first-year teaching team, which is committed to 
providing students with opportunities to demonstrate problem-solving skills by including 
“long answer” problems on tests and final exams.” They note that the professional skills 
program accompanying the 4th year research course is innovative but needs further 
development. 
 
Challenges were acknowledged with the Honours and Specialized Honours 
Biochemistry options in terms of academic advising, the matching of supervisors for 
fourth year research course (CHEM/BHM 4000), the scheduling of volunteer lab work 
required prior to that course, and the opportunity to engage in co-op placements that are 
coordinated through the Faculty of Science rather than the Department.     
 
The Graduate Program in Chemistry offers MSc and PhD degrees that have been in 
existence since 1965. The master’s Program offers a full-time master's degree by 
Research Thesis and a part-time master's degree by course work. Generally, the 
master's by Research Thesis is the predominant stream chosen by >95% of entering 
master's students. The Doctoral degree in Chemistry is a full-time research program.  
 
The reviewers note that the graduate program requirements and learning outcomes are 
clear and that the major research requirements support the program learning outcomes 
well. They noted, “The primary method for assessing graduate student achievement is 
through annual research evaluations which are carried out in the spring in conference-
style presentations and subsequent evaluations. This style of evaluation is innovative 
and unique.” The preparation for these may be stressful for students, but the benefits of 
preparation for their defense, self-reflection on progress through the degree, enhanced 
presentations skills and the building of community benefit both MSc and PhD 
candidates. The reviewers indicate that a clear delimitation of graduate program 
expectations, including the time to completion, should be laid out clearly for students.  
 
The reviewers note that faculty members should emphasize the development of 
professional and leadership skills, a critical component of the program for graduate 
students. There is generous support from the Faculty of Science and the TA union and 
support from supervisors.  
 
The reviewers suggest the Department develop clearly articulated objectives for each 
undergraduate program. In addition, both the undergraduate and graduate program 
objectives related to equity, diversity and inclusivity should be developed.    
  



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, CHEMISTRY & BIOCHEMISTRY UNDERGRADUATE AND 
GRADUATE PROGRAMS 

 

5 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Throughout the review report, the external reviewers made thoughtful “considerations 
for development,” in addition to their formal recommendations. While the Department 
and the Dean have provided responses to these considerations, the Final Assessment 
Report includes only the formal recommendations and their departmental and decanal 
responses. The Department and the Faculty are encouraged to continue their careful 
evaluation of the reviewers’ considerations for development and plan for implementation 
where feasible. The Implementation Plan identifies this as Recommendation A. 
The formal recommendations and the responses from the program and the Dean are 
below.  
The reviewers state, “The development of the three recommendations below should 
help to address enrolment and retention problems. Students (and staff and faculty) will 
see themselves reflected and valued in York’s community and will be successful at York 
and beyond.” 

Internal action: 

Recommendation 1 

Building on the ideas described in the Self-Study reports for the Undergraduate and 
Graduate Programs, the department is encouraged to develop an academic plan in 
consultation with stakeholders complete with a vision, mission objectives and specific 
action items which will guide the department over the next five years. In addition to 
addressing how to accomplish the actions already identified by the department, the plan 
should also address the following: 

Recommendation 1a) 

In consultation with external sources, develop strategic actions which will enhance the 
diversity of the people in the department (from students to faculty). 

Program Response: 

The Program agrees that the development of a comprehensive academic plan is a 
central priority now that the new Chair is in place. While the Chair established an ad hoc 
EDI committee soon after arrival, the Department will now formally establish and 
expand this group as the departmental Decolonization, Equity, Diversity, and Inclusion 
(DEDI) committee with a mandate to develop and lead initiatives in the Department. 
Members of this committee will work closely with other groups including the student 
recruitment committee, seminar committee, teaching committee, search committees 
and the student-led Working for Inclusivity (WIC)group to expand the incorporation of 
DEDI principles into all activities.  

Dean’s Response: The Dean supports the steps taken to formally establish the new 
DEDI committee and suggests collaborating and coordinating with the Faculty EDI 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, CHEMISTRY & BIOCHEMISTRY UNDERGRADUATE AND 
GRADUATE PROGRAMS 

 

6 

committee. 

Recommendation 1b) 

Embed EDI and decolonization initiatives into program learning outcomes. 

Program Response: 

The program agrees that this is an area in which the Department could improve. While 
individual faculty members have pursued DEDI principles in their classes and/or 
research programs, department-wide strategies will now be developed. The 
Department’s newly struck DEDI committee will follow the published guidance on 
decolonizing a chemistry department (Dessent et al. 2019 J Chem Educ 99:5-9) and 
work to advance other aspects of equity, diversity, and inclusion within the department. 

Dean’s Response: 

The Dean welcomes the specific actions suggested by the department. In addition to 
the guidance noted above, the Department should draw from the York University DEDI 
Strategy 2023-2028 (Decolonizing, Equity, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy | York 
University). All instructors should be encouraged to adopt/use the EDI-enhanced 
“Introductory PPT slides” and the “EDI Syllabus” for all courses, which were developed 
by Faculty of Science in 2022-23. 

Recommendation 1c) 

i. Develop one or two capstone experiential activities over and above the lab 
experiences offered by the current undergraduate curriculum.  

Program Response: 

The Department agrees that stronger partnerships between the Department and the 
Faculty of Science are needed to develop meaningful experiences for students. The 
Department supports this recommendation and suggests that it should be implemented 
across the Faculty of Science with other departments doing the same. The Chair of 
Chemistry will recruit a faculty member to serve as liaison between industry contacts, 
alumni and the Faculty’s Experiential Learning Coordinator as part of their collegial 
service. 

Dean’s Response:  

The Dean strongly endorses this significant initiative of the Department of Chemistry. 
Regular meetings should be held, and clear targets and measurement metrics set, with 
ongoing monitoring. 

ii. Partner with York’s Cross-Campus Capstone Classroom (C4; 

https://www.yorku.ca/dedi-strategy/
https://www.yorku.ca/dedi-strategy/


FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, CHEMISTRY & BIOCHEMISTRY UNDERGRADUATE AND 
GRADUATE PROGRAMS 

 

7 

https://www.yorku.ca/c4/what-is-c4/) to provide students with additional 
opportunities to develop transferable skills and to work collaboratively with 
students in other programs. 

Program Response: 

The C4 capstone project is a relatively new offering at York, initiated in 2019. It is 
managed centrally by a team of faculty and staff from many different Faculties at 
York. With the disruptions caused by the pandemic now over, the UPD will work with the 
C4 team at York to promote the benefits of the program to our senior Honours major 
students. The Department does not expect demand to be high for this program  given 
that it will not satisfy fourth year degree requirements in any science major.  

Dean’s Response: 

The capstone program’s objectives are to facilitate the collaboration of students from 
diverse disciplines and to enhance students’ experiential learning experience. Faculty 
members should be encouraged to collaborate and oversee chemistry-related projects, 
while ensuring the provision of necessary space and resources to ensure the success of 
these endeavors.  

i. Develop a consistent schedule of professional development opportunities for 
CHEM/BCHM4000. 

Program Response: 

A new course director has been assigned to this course for the 2023-2024 year and has 
met with the Chair to discuss implementation of professional skills training for the 
coming academic year. Following an initial pilot year, a consistent schedule of both in-
class and additional training opportunities will be developed for subsequent offerings of 
CHEM/BCHM4000.  

Dean’s Response:  

The Dean endorses the suggested avenues for professional development and 
recommends coordinating efforts with the Head of Bethune College, the Associate Dean 
Research and the Associate Dean Curriculum and Pedagogy. The Department should 
explore opportunities to develop micro-credentials when a university policy has been 
finalized.  

Recommendation 1d) 

Develop a research experience at the 2nd or 3rd year level to attract more students into 
chemical research. 

https://www.yorku.ca/c4/what-is-c4/


FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, CHEMISTRY & BIOCHEMISTRY UNDERGRADUATE AND 
GRADUATE PROGRAMS 

 

8 

Program Response: 

The Department currently offers a series of one-semester research opportunities for 2nd 
and 3rd year students in any chemistry or biochemistry program whereby students can 
enroll up to six times in the practicum courses CHEM 220x and CHEM 320x (zero credit 
courses assessed as pass/fail) which requires commitment of five hours per week of lab 
time. There is very little uptake for these opportunities The Department assumes the 
recommendation is to develop additional ‘for credit’ options for students The 
Department leadership will consult with faculty and student stakeholders to explore the 
feasibility of this request but without additional resources it will be difficult to offer 
research experiences to more students without jeopardizing the high quality research 
experiences offered through CHEM/BCHM 4000 each year. The Department suggests  
the Dean and Provost prioritize funding to significantly expand the number of 
undergraduate summer research awards available each year Currently, the Department 
can support only about a dozen students (across all years of our programs) and these 
awards are highly competitive requiring near perfect GPAs. 

Dean’s Response:  

The Dean agrees that the Chemistry department should explore ways to raise 
awareness about the practicum options and to explore the possibility to develop 
additional for-credit research options for students.   

Internal and External Action: 

Recommendation 2 

Revitalize the equipment in the undergraduate laboratories. Rather than do this on a 
piecemeal basis, it is recommended that discussions with the Dean of Science and the 
Provost be held to formulate a plan for a complete overhaul of the undergraduate 
equipment. This should be guided by the faculty instructors of the appropriate courses. 

Program Response: 

The senior lab technician currently maintains an extensive, regularly updated list of all 
undergraduate equipment going back to 1970 with the purchase prices and expected 
maintenance costs for each piece. This list provides an excellent starting point for the 
suggested discussions with the Dean and Provost. Input from both technical staff and 
faculty is needed for these discussions as together, they have a broad, comprehensive 
understanding of the laboratory curriculum from both a practical and academic side.  

Dean’s Response: 

 A comprehensive understanding of the current functional status of all Chemistry 
teaching lab equipment is required, as well as the budget scope for such an overhaul of 
equipment upgrade.  The Department should submit a plan for comprehensive 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, CHEMISTRY & BIOCHEMISTRY UNDERGRADUATE AND 
GRADUATE PROGRAMS 

 

9 

improvements to the Dean’s Office. 

Recommendation 3 

Continue to develop space and opportunities to build community. 

Program Response: 

In early 2023, faculty members voted to provide open access to the former staff lounge 
to provide a bright, comfortable space within the Chemistry Building (CB) for students to 
gather. The Department will explore new initiatives with the Science Facilities and ITS 
teams in the coming year. Current plans include minor upgrades to brighten the 
entrance and main floor of CB and the installation of an information monitor to advertise 
news and opportunities within the Department. The Operations Manager will coordinate 
with the Science Facilities team to add more community spaces by including seating 
areas that encourage people to gather. The Chair will task the Department recruitment 
committee and student groups to maintain current information on the many bulletin 
boards.  

Dean’s Response: The Dean endorses these endeavors and feels that fostering a 
sense of community within the department would enhance the overall student 
experience. 

 



 

IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 
The chart below lays out the implementation plan approved by the Joint Sub-Committee at its meeting in December 2023. 
 

 Recommendation Action Responsible for Follow-
up 

Timeline 

A. That the Chemistry 
Department consider the 
thoughtful considerations for 
development provided by the 
reviewers in their report as part 
of their ongoing plans for 
enhancement of programs. 

The Department will 
consider these 
considerations, and act on 
them as feasible. The 
Follow-up Report should 
summarize actions taken on 
these items. 

Chair, Undergraduate 
Program Director, 
Graduate Program 
Director 
 
 

Summary of actions 
undertaken to be included 
in the Follow-up Report 
due May, 2025 

1. That the Department develop 
an academic plan in 
consultation with stakeholders 
complete with a vision, mission 
objectives and specific action 
items. In addition to actions 
already identified by the 
Department, the academic plan 
should include the following: 

   

1a)  That the Department develop 
strategic actions to enhance the 
diversity of people in the 
Department (from students to 
faculty) 

The Department will 
continue the implementation 
of the departmental 
Decolonization, Equity, 
Diversity and Inclusion 
(DEDI) committee and 
collaborate with the Faculty 
of Science committee. 

Chair, Chemistry 
Chemistry DEDI 
committee 

Fall 2023 and ongoing 

1b)  That the DEDI initiatives be 
embedded in Chemistry 
program learning outcomes. 

The department will explore 
the development of 
department-wide DEDI 
strategies, drawing on 

Chair, Chemistry 
Undergraduate Program 
Director, Graduate 
Program Director, 

Discussions to begin in 
Fall 2023 and continue. 
Review progress in Fall 
2024.  



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, CHEMISTRY & BIOCHEMISTRY UNDERGRADUATE AND GRADUATE PROGRAMS 
 

11 

York’s DEDI Strategy 2023-
28 and report on progress 
by Fall 2024. The 
department will encourage 
all instructors to use / adapt 
DEDI resources developed 
by the Faculty of Science.  

Chemistry DEDI 
committee 
 

1c)_i That capstone experiential 
activities, beyond lab 
experiences, be developed. 

The Department will explore 
the development of 
experiential experiences for 
students through stronger 
liaison and partnership with 
the Faculty’s Experiential 
Learning Coordinator, 
industry contacts and alumni 
and report on progress in 
this area by Fall 2024. The 
Department has indicated it 
will appoint a faculty 
member to focus on this 
initiative. 

Chair, Department of 
Chemistry 

Fall 2023 and ongoing 
Review of progress in Fall 
2024 

1c)_ii  That the Department partner 
with York’s Cross-Campus 
Capstone Classroom (C4) to 
provide students with 
opportunities to develop skills 
and work with students in other 
programs 

The program will ensure 
students are aware of this 
important opportunity, and 
faculty members will be 
encouraged to collaborate 
and oversee chemistry-
related projects. The 
question of satisfying fourth 
year requirements will be 
explored for Chemistry and 
other Science programs. 

Undergraduate Program 
Director 
Associate Dean of 
Curriculum and 
Pedagogy, Faculty of 
Science 

Ongoing 



FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT, CHEMISTRY & BIOCHEMISTRY UNDERGRADUATE AND GRADUATE PROGRAMS 
 

12 

1c)_iii  That a consistent schedule of 
professional development 
opportunities be developed for 
CHEM/BCHM4000. 

The course director will 
develop a consistent 
schedule, consulting with 
the Associate Deans of 
Research, and of Curriculum 
and Pedagogy. 

Undergraduate Program 
Director 
Course director, 
CHEM/BCHM 4000 
Associate Dean 
Curriculum and 
Pedagogy 

Fall 2023 for pilot and then 
ongoing 

1 d) That research experiences for 
2nd and 3rd year level students 
be established 

The Department will 
continue to promote the 
practicum options and 
explore additional for-credit 
options for student research 
courses. 

Chair, Chemistry 
Undergraduate Program 
Director 

Ongoing 

2. That the undergraduate 
laboratory equipment be 
revitalized with a complete 
overhaul. 

The Department will develop 
a comprehensive plan for 
revitalization of 
undergraduate lab 
equipment to the Science 
Dean’s Office. 

Chair, Chemistry 
Undergraduate Program 
Director 
Senior Lab Technician 

Fall 2024 

3. That opportunities and space 
for building community continue 
to be developed. 

The Department will 
continue enhancing existing 
space and explore additional 
gathering places. The Chair 
will consider tasking 
students and faculty 
members with ensuring that 
information posted for 
students is kept current. 

Department, faculty, and 
students 
Chemistry Operations 
Manager 

Winter 2024 and ongoing 

 



2024 Winter Term Course Drop Deadline: 
Date Will Be Extended 

Communication from the Executive Committee of Senate 

28 February 2024 

Pursuant to its declaration that the Senate Policy on the Academic Implications of Disruptions 
or Cessations of University Business Due to Labour Disputes or Other Causes is in force, the 
Senate Executive Committee met on 27 February 2024 in its role of overseeing the process of 
directing and implementing necessary remedial actions. 

Due to the labour disruption, the Executive Committee has determined that the 11 March 
2024 deadline1 for students to withdraw from an undergraduate Winter term course without 
receiving a grade or a “Withdrawn” (W) notification on transcripts will be extended to the 
last day of classes. Currently the last day of classes is 8 April 2024. If the length of the 
disruption results in a decision by Senate Executive to change term dates, the deadline to 
drop a course will remain the last of classes in any revised schedule.  

Note: 
• the extension applies to undergraduate courses only (i.e., it is not applicable to 

graduate courses or the JD program at Osgoode)
• the extension applies to Winter term courses only
• there is no adjustment of the deadline for Y (six-credit) courses for which the drop 

date fell before the disruption began on 26 February 2024

Poonam Puri 
Chair of Senate 
28 February 2024 

1 As stated in the FW 2023-2024 Sessional Dates 

file:///%5C%5Cvfadmin.yorku.yorku.ca%5Cousgc%5CSECRETARIAT%5CADG12%20Senate%20Executive%5CLabour%20Disruptions%5CDisruption%202024%20CUPE%5CExecutive%20Communications%5CMembers%20of%20CUPE%203903%20have%20begun%20a%20strike%20that%20has%20substantially%20disrupted%20academic%20activities%20at%20the%20University.%20In%20accordance%20with%20the%20Senate%E2%80%99s%20Policy%20on%20the%20Academic%20Implications%20of%20Disruptions%20or%20Cessations%20of%20University%20Business%20Due%20to%20Labour%20Disputes%20or%20Other%20Causes,%20the%20Executive%20Committee%20of%20Senate%20has%20decided%20that,%20at%20the%20outset,
file:///%5C%5Cvfadmin.yorku.yorku.ca%5Cousgc%5CSECRETARIAT%5CADG12%20Senate%20Executive%5CLabour%20Disruptions%5CDisruption%202024%20CUPE%5CExecutive%20Communications%5CMembers%20of%20CUPE%203903%20have%20begun%20a%20strike%20that%20has%20substantially%20disrupted%20academic%20activities%20at%20the%20University.%20In%20accordance%20with%20the%20Senate%E2%80%99s%20Policy%20on%20the%20Academic%20Implications%20of%20Disruptions%20or%20Cessations%20of%20University%20Business%20Due%20to%20Labour%20Disputes%20or%20Other%20Causes,%20the%20Executive%20Committee%20of%20Senate%20has%20decided%20that,%20at%20the%20outset,
https://registrar.yorku.ca/enrol/dates/2023-2024/fall-winter


Disruption of Academic Activities Exceeds One Week: 
Completion of Courses and Finalization of Grades: Preliminary Options 

Communication from the Executive Committee of Senate 
4 March 2024 

The academic disruption resulting from a strike by members of CUPE 3903 reached its 
seventh full day on 3 March 2024. The disruption is now “long” as defined by the Senate 
Policy on the Academic Implications of Disruptions or Cessations of University Business Due to 
Labour Disputes or Other Causes. 

A disruption of one full week or more means that some changes to class schedules will be 
necessary for courses that have not continued. There will also be modifications to normal 
academic regulations. 

Senate Executive continues to monitor the disruption to academic activities. A set of options 
for completing courses and finalizing grades is being developed. Several options have been 
authorized by the Executive Committee today, effective immediately. The options are 
designed to promote flexibility while adhering to the principles of academic integrity and 
fairness to students, which are at the core of Senate’s Disruption Policy. These options are to 
cover: 

i. courses that have continued since the disruption of academic activities began on 26
February 2024, either in-person or remotely

ii. courses that have been suspended

Fuller details about each of the options are set out below. 

Term Length for Courses that have Continued 

For courses that have continued during the disruption, there will be no alteration of the length 
of the term. Classes and activities for these courses will continue on the original schedule. 
The exception is courses with labs that are not continuing but the class components are 
proceeding; the labs will be rescheduled upon the conclusion of the labour disruption. 

Note, course directors may arrange for alternative scheduling if needed to adjust the delivery 
of some elements of the course, for example due to non-participation by some students. 
Alternative scheduling at a time that is convenient for students and instructors can be 
arranged through the Office of the University Registrar. 

  Summary of Options and Modifications Available as of 4 March 2024 

For courses that have continued For courses that are suspended 
• No change in length of the winter term
• Normal class schedule applies unless 

instructor arranges alternative 
scheduling

• Final day of exams is no later than 
April 26

• Extension of deadline to withdraw 
from course without receiving a grade

• Students who are either unable or 
have chosen not to participate during 
the strike are entitled to complete the 
course after the disruption is over; 
course directors have same options 
as for courses that were suspended.

• Revised class schedule to be
announced after the conclusion of the
strike

• Revised examination schedule to be
announced after the conclusion of the
strike

• Extension of deadline to withdraw
from a course without receiving a
grade

• Cushion period before assignments
are due and tests are held when
classes resume

https://www.yorku.ca/secretariat/policies/policies/academic-implications-of-disruptions-or-cessations-of-university-business-due-to-labour-disputes-or-other-causes-senate-policy-on-the/
https://www.yorku.ca/secretariat/policies/policies/academic-implications-of-disruptions-or-cessations-of-university-business-due-to-labour-disputes-or-other-causes-senate-policy-on-the/


Term Length for Courses that are Suspended 

In the case of courses that have been suspended, a modified schedule will be announced. 
There will be a reduction in the length of the term for these courses and there will be a 
compressed remediation and examination schedule as a result. Details on the revised term 
will be announced following the end of the strike. Exceptions will apply to programs that have 
strict accreditation requirements that define the length of term. 

When suspended courses resume, alternative scheduling of presentations, performances, 
labs, practica (that is, outside of regularly scheduled class meets) can be arranged through 
the Office of the University Registrar at a time that is convenient for instructors and students. 
   
Final Examination Schedules for Courses that have Continued  
 
The formal examination schedule for courses that have continued through the disruption - 
and students who are participating in those courses - will end no later than 26 April 2024. 
This does not apply to courses that are currently suspended.  

Even in courses that continued th6ough the disruption, it may not be possible for some 
examinations to proceed as scheduled. As a result, there may be some changes to 
examination dates prior to April 26. Additionally, students needing accommodation for 
extenuating circumstances related to the disruption have the option to seek deferred 
standing through their course instructor or the petitions process. The searchable final 
examination schedule for courses that are continuing is posted on the Office of the University 
Registrar website. 
 
Examination Schedules for Courses that are Suspended  

An examination schedule for courses that are suspended will be announced when the 
disruption ends and posted on the Office of the University Registrar website. A compressed 
examination schedule can be expected. This is also the examination schedule for students 
who were unable or chose not to participate in courses that continued. 

Cushion Period Before Assignments are Due and Tests Set in Revised Schedules 
 
Instructors in courses that will resume are urged to help re-orient students to their studies 
and discuss options and possible changes with them before and during the first class.  

There should be a cushion period before assignments are due and tests / mid-terms are held. 
Tests / mid-terms should not be held, and the submission of assignments should not be 
required, in any course (regardless of delivery mode) until at least one class “meet” has been 
held or one week has occurred, whichever is the longer of the two scenarios. This does not 
apply to assignments or work such as laboratory exercises which are typically assigned and 
submitted as a regular and integral part of the laboratory session). 

Withdraw from a course without receiving a grade  

As already announced by Senate Executive, the last day to withdraw from Winter term 
undergraduate courses without receiving a grade has been extended to the last day of 
classes. Currently the last day of classes is 8 April 2024. If the length of the disruption results 
in a decision by Senate Executive to change term dates, the deadline to drop a course will 
remain the last of classes in any revised schedule. See the Executive committee 
announcement for exceptions to this option. 

Courses Switched from In-person to Asynchronous Online Delivery: an Addendum 

Senate Executive announced previously that as a form of remedial action, instructors can 
switch an in-person course / academic activity to online delivery, either synchronous or 
asynchronous mode, for the duration of the disruption and reported to Deans’ / Principal 
Offices. Executive is confirming that course instructors’ decision to use an asynchronous 
mode of delivery is subject to specific program accreditation requirements. 

  

https://w2prod.sis.yorku.ca/Apps/WebObjects/cdm.woa/wa/curexam
https://www.yorku.ca/secretariat/wp-content/uploads/sites/107/2024/02/February-28-Winter-Term-Drop-Date-Announcement.pdf


Record Lectures as a Form of Remedial Action  

In accordance with the Senate Disruptions Policy, students who cannot or chose not to 
participate in academic activities during a disruption are entitled to reasonable alternative 
access to materials covered in their absence. Senate Executive confirms that posting 
recorded lectures will be included as a form of remedial action that meets the requirement to 
provide reasonable alternative access to materials covered in their absence. This 
confirmation is provided as a suggestion to assist course instructors with planning ahead. 

The Senate Executive Committee is continuing to develop a full suite of course completion 
options; the above list of will be supplemented by additional forms of accommodation in the 
coming days. 

As a reminder to students: When a disruption of any length occurs, no dilution of standards 
normally expected of students should be permitted and there should be as little diminution 
as possible in the instructional or supervisory support given to students. Students who do not 
participate in academic activities because (a) they are unable to do so owing to a Disruption, 
or (b) they choose not to participate in academic activities owing to a strike or lock-out on 
campus, are entitled to:  

• immunity from penalty  
• reasonable alternative access to course materials covered in their absence  
• reasonable extensions of deadlines, and  
• such other forms of academic accommodation as Senate deems necessary and 

consistent with the principle of academic integrity.  

Note that the options made available to students to complete their courses are not to alter 
academic standards and do not guarantee students will have the same learning experience 
they would have received in the absence of a disruption. Students who need assistance 
understanding these provisions in the Senate Disruption policy can speak to their course 
instructor, Undergraduate / Graduate Program Director or Associate Dean in their home 
Faculty. The Frequently Asked Questions site is another University resource for information 
related to the labour disruption. 

 
Poonam Puri 
Chair of Senate 

https://www.yorku.ca/disruption-operations/faqs/


The Senate of York University 

Meeting Synopsis 

The 702nd Meeting of Senate
 Held on Thursday, 25 January 2024, via Zoom 

Remarks 

The Chair, Poonam Puri, thanked members for attending the January 18 special Senate 
meeting. The Chair also shared that Amanda Wassermuhl, Assistant Secretary of the 
University, is leaving the University Secretariat to take on a new opportunity at Osgoode 
Hall.  She joined her Secretariat colleagues in thanking Amanda for her valuable 
contributions supporting governance and her warm collegiality, and wished her success 
at Osgoode. 

The President spoke to the financial pressures facing the University, including 
uncertainties and deficits projected by many institutions, and the anticipation of the 
government’s response to the Blue Panel Report regarding funding. She highlighted 
missed international enrollment targets and the imposition of federal caps contributing to 
substantial deficits. The University's response to these financial challenges involved 
beginning to prioritize for the 2025-2030 University Academic Plan (UAP), expanding 
research in alignment with Strategic Research Plan, increasing external revenue, and 
engaging with COU to advocate for government funding in the upcoming provincial 
budget. 

Approvals 

Senate approved the recommendations of the Academic Standards, Curriculum and 
Pedagogy Committee to: 

• Add two new fields to the MA and PhD degree programs in Humanities, Faculty of
Liberal Arts and Professional Studies, effective Fall 2024

• Add a new field in Indigenous History, rename the East Asian History field to Asian
History, and merge the British History field with the European History field in the MA
and PhD degree programs in History, Faculty of Liberal Arts and Professional Studies,
effective Fall 2024

• Establish 90-credit BA and BSc degree programs in Movement and Health, School of
Kinesiology and Health Science, Faculty of Health, effective May 2024

• Revise the Policy and Procedure on Academic Accommodation for Students’ Religious
Observances

• Revise the definition of Professional Masters in the University Academic Nomenclature



York University Senate 

 
 

• Addition of a part-time entry option for the Master in Environmental Studies, Faculty 
of Environmental and Urban Change, effective Fall 2024   

Reports 

Senate received the December 2023 written report from the Academic Colleague, 
Senator William van Wijngaarden.  

Under the auspices of the Academic Policy, Planning and Research Committee, Vice-
President Research & Innovation presented the 2022 Annual Report on Research.  

Notice of Statutory Motions  

The Executive Committee provided Notice of Statutory Motion for revisions to the Senate 
Rules.  

APPRC provided Notice of Statutory Motion for the establishment and disestablishment 
of academic units at Glendon and engaged Senators in a preliminary discussion about the 
proposed changes. 

Committee Information Items 

Executive  

The Executive Committee’s information items included the following: 

• Senate ASCP Committee’s priorities for 2023-2024 

• Status of its review of the Senate Policy on Academic Implications of Disruptions 
of Cessations of University Business Due to Labour Disputes or Other Causes 

Academic Policy, Planning and Research (APPRC) 

APPRC reported on the following items: 

• The Committee’s discussion of the Value-for-Money Audit: York University 
Operations and Capital report and actions in resonse to the audit 
recommendations  

• Progress report on the implementation of plans for the delivery of academic 
programming at the new Markham Campus, launching FW 2024-2025 

Academic Standards, Curriculum and Pedagogy (ASCP) 

ASCP reported on the following items: 



York University Senate 

 
 

• Minor modifications to degree requirements at the Glendon, Health, Lassonde and 
Schulich Faculties 

• The Committee’s review of the Senate policy on Sessional Dates and the 
Scheduling of Examinations 

• The implementation of the digital YU identification card 

• The Committee’s ongoing review of other Policy items, including the Senate Policy 
on Academic Conduct, the Attending Physician Statement and Grading Schemes 

A Synopsis of the November 27, 2023 meeting of the Board of Governors was received 
for information. 

Additional Information about this Meeting 

Please refer to the full Senate agenda and supplementary material posted online with the 
25 January 2024 meeting for details about the items reported.  

Senate’s next meeting will be held at 3:00 pm on Thursday, 15 February 2024.  

 

https://www.yorku.ca/secretariat/senate/meeting-agendas-and-synopses/

	The 703rd Meeting of Senate
	Remarks
	The Chair, Poonam Puri, welcomed Senators to the 703rd meeting of Senate, and noted that Senator Alison Macpherson would act as Vice-Chair for the meeting.
	Approvals
	Committee Information Items
	Executive

	Additional Information about this Meeting
	At its meeting of 15 February 2024
	Item 8a Appendix A JSQA reports.pdf
	Legislative and Administrative Matters
	Completed Cyclical Program Reviews (CPRs)

	2024 Winter Term Course Drop Deadline:
	28 February 2024
	A disruption of one full week or more means that some changes to class schedules will be necessary for courses that have not continued. There will also be modifications to normal academic regulations.
	The 702nd Meeting of Senate, via Zoom
	Remarks
	The Chair, Poonam Puri, thanked members for attending the January 18 special Senate meeting. The Chair also shared that Amanda Wassermuhl, Assistant Secretary of the University, is leaving the University Secretariat to take on a new opportunity at Osg...
	Approvals
	Reports
	Notice of Statutory Motions
	Committee Information Items
	Executive

	FC General Election Slide (V1)
	Mar. 2024 FC GC Consent Agenda V2

